

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Competitive Strategies to Improve Small and Medium Enterprise Sales

Adeola Oluwakemi Ogunyemi Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Entrepreneurial and Small Business Operations Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Adeola Ogunyemi

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gene Fusch, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Jean Perlman, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Patsy Kasen, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Competitive Strategies to Improve Small and Medium Enterprise Sales

by

Adeola Ogunyemi

MS, University of Liverpool, 2013 BS/Ed, Lagos State University, 1995

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

November 2020

Abstract

Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) are the mainstay of both developed and developing countries by contributing to employment, revenue, and value added. SMEs, however, are not often able to grow because of a lack of appropriate growth strategies. Grounded in Porter's dynamic theory of strategy, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies retail SME owners in Lagos, Nigeria, used to grow sales. The participants were a census of five retail SME business owners who successfully implemented strategies to grow sales. The data collection sources included semistructured interviews, direct observation, company documents, and reflective journals. Based on methodological triangulation and the use of thematic data analysis technique, six key themes emerged: (a) enhancing competitive advantage through the business structure; (b) distribution channels, product range, and leveraging networks; (c) human capital development; (d) turning challenges into innovation opportunities and enhancing business performance; (e) creating product awareness; and (f) using data analysis to improve decision making. A recommendation is for SME owners to exploit opportunities to be innovative by continuously offering creative and value-adding products to their customers to enhance their financial performance. The implications for positive social change include the potential to provide both existing and emerging SMEs with the strategies to increase patronage to grow their businesses, thereby contributing to the economic growth of their business, employees, local communities, and the national economy.

Competitive Strategies to Improve Small and Medium Enterprise Sales

by

Adeola Ogunyemi

MS, University of Liverpool, 2013 BS/Ed, Lagos State University, 1995

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

November 2020

Dedication

I dedicate this study to "The king eternal, immortal, the invincible, and only wise God," for it has pleased him to bless me and to bring me to a successful completion of this study.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my beloved husband, Deji Ayodele Ogunyemi, for his support all through this journey; his patience and understanding helped me to focus while knowing that our family would not in any way lack attention and care. My children, Ayomikun, Fikunayomi, and Bukunmi, have been a part of this journey; you have been very understanding of the time that I have had to spend to earn this degree. I love you all. My mother, Mrs. Adetoun Solebo, is probably more excited than I am; she has been a source of encouragement all through and insists that we must attend my graduation together. As for my sisters, Bola Kalejaiye and Adenrele Edwards, I give you back your sister; I can now be more relaxed and talk about other interesting topics.

Words fail me to adequately capture how thankful I am to my supervisor, Dr. Gene Fusch; you have been beyond patient and provided guidance all through the journey. Your encouragement and approach to breaking down complex issues helped me to believe I could actually finish this study – God bless you indeed. I also thank Dr. Susan Fan and Dr. Jean Perlman who served as my second committee members at different times during my study and Dr. Patsy Kasen, my URR, for your guidance and support during my journey. The entire Walden community has indeed worked as one to make my journey smooth from the library to the writing center and all other support functions.

Perhaps one of my greatest advocates has been my sisterly friend, Sunmbo Ayo-Adebanjo. To Gboyega Lesi, Femi Oduntan, Debola Gaffar, Dupe Dalmeida, Tola Omotola, Yinka Egube, Mary Ahukanna, thank you all for your love and support.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	9
	Significance of the Study	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	10
	Implications for Social Change	10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	Title Searches, Articles, Research Documents, and Journals	11
	Dynamic Theory of Strategy	13
	Supporting and Contrasting Theories	15
	Small and Medium Enterprises: Background/ Current Status Assessment	27

	Small and Medium Enterprises and Innovation	39
	SMEs and Entrepreneurial Finance	54
	Branding and SMEs	59
	SMEs, Leadership, and Ownership	64
	Opportunities and Challenges	67
	Transition	71
Se	ection 2: The Project	73
	Purpose Statement	73
	Role of the Researcher	73
	Participants	75
	Research Method and Design	77
	Research Method	77
	Research Design	80
	Population and Sampling	82
	Ethical Research	85
	Data Collection Instruments	86
	Data Collection Technique	90
	Data Organization Technique	95
	Data Analysis	97
	Reliability and Validity	102
	Reliability	102
	Validity	104

Transition and Summary	108
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	109
Introduction	109
Presentation of the Findings.	110
Theme 1: Enhancing Competitive Advantage Through the Business	
Structure	112
Theme 2: Distribution Channels, Product Range, and Leveraging	
Networks	115
Theme 3: Human Capital Development	123
Theme 4: Turning Challenges Into Innovation Opportunities and	
Enhancing Business Performance	129
Theme 5: Creating Product Awareness.	135
Theme 6: Using Data Analysis to Improve Decision Making	141
Dynamic Theory of Strategy in Relation to the Study Findings	143
Applications to Professional Practice	147
Implications for Social Change	147
Recommendations for Action	148
Recommendations for Further Research	150
Reflections	150
Conclusion	151
References	153
Annendix A: Observation Protocol	

Appendix B: Interview Protoco	ol21	(

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) are critical to the economic growth and development of most countries. SMEs are the mainstay of Nigeria and other African economies; however, resource and institutional constraints have resulted in poor financial performance, affecting their ability to grow sales (Ndiaye et al., 2018; Osakwe et al., 2016). In a joint survey by the Small and Medium Enterprises Agency of Nigeria (SMEDAN) and National Bureau of Statistics (NBS), SMEs accounted for 86.3% of the national workforce while the retail/wholesale sector accounted for 42.3% of this figure (NBS, 2017). Despite the proliferation of SMEs, the resulting financial performance has not been commensurate to their contribution to size of the workforce as average monthly Naira sales was equivalent to \$263 only (NBS, 2017). Ipinnaiye et al. (2017) noted that SMEs performance is driven by (a) strategy, (b) internal resources, and (c) the external environment. An understanding of the right strategies that SMEs can deploy to improve performance will likely result in increase in sales. Given the size of the retail sector, the impact of a growth in sales might be more significant and extend to the overall economy. Growth in SMEs has the potential to increase employment, productivity, and overall economic development of the Nigerian economy.

Background of the Problem

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that some retail SME owners deploy to improve sales. Additional research into strategies that SMEs deploy to improve sales became necessary because a significant number of SMEs in Nigeria lack strategies to improve sales. SMEs make significant contributions to

economic growth, employment, innovations, and technology development of both developed and developing countries (Ipinnaiye et al., 2017). In order to compete with larger businesses, SMEs must develop competitive advantage and harness organizational resources to improve performance (McDowell et al., 2018). SMEs that implement the findings from this research may likely improve their sales and grow to larger businesses. Tuinstra et al. (2012) observed that there is a positive correlation between firm size and sales growth. Prior research has highlighted the important role of SMEs in economic growth and development of a country like Nigeria (SMEDAN, 2015). Consequently, SMEs that read and implement the findings from this research are likely to improve sales, resulting in an increase in employment, creation of new businesses, improvement in the general economic environment, and expansion in productivity.

Problem Statement

Owners of SMEs are seeking to develop competitive capability and innovation strategies to increase sales (Bature et al., 2018). In 2017, 24.7% of the SMEs in Nigeria experienced an average of less than 10 daily sales (NBS, 2017). The general business problem is that retail SME owners who do not implement strategies to improve sales may experience lower profits and lack of business growth. The specific business problem is that some retail SME owners lack strategies to improve sales.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that some retail SME owners implement to improve their sales. The target population comprised of the owners of five successful retail SME companies in Lagos State,

Southwest Nigeria, who were the focus of this case study and have deployed competitive strategies to improve sales. The implication for positive social change is the potential for SME business owners to improve business practices. Improved business practices might lead to better performance and quality of life for business owners and their employees and also to improved employment; this might result in better contributions to the communities in which they live and work.

Nature of the Study

Research methods are qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods (Hewlett & Brown, 2018); the specific method that a researcher adopts is dependent on the research question (Chu & Ke, 2017). Quantitative researchers ask close-ended questions and test hypotheses (Du Plessis & Krüger, 2018; Haddadi et al., 2017); on the other hand, qualitative researchers employ open-ended questions to uncover hidden insights that enrich the research (Holguín-Veras et al., 2017). Mixed methods research combines quantitative and qualitative research methods and is best suited to answer complex questions when either a qualitative or quantitative method alone is insufficient (Hewlett & Brown, 2018). My objective in conducting this research was to explore the competitive strategies that some retail SME owners implemented to improve their sales.

Consequently, a qualitative method was more appropriate than either a quantitative or mixed method because I asked open-ended questions to explore insights that the research participants shared about their strategies for improving sales.

I considered three qualitative research designs that could be used for exploring strategies that SMEs use to improve sales: (a) phenomenological research, (b)

ethnography, and (c) case study. Phenomenology focuses on the lived experiences of research participants (Adams & Van Manen, 2017; Moustakas, 2011); however, the focus of my study was not to explore the lived experiences of the research participants.

Researchers use ethnography to study the cultural and interpersonal interactions of a group (Fusch et al., 2017). Ethnography was not suitable because my study was not focused on group or cultural interactions. In a case study, researchers ask how, why, or what questions to explore contemporary issues and are able to explore the phenomenon being studied and also engage the persons involved (El-Akruti et al., 2018; Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) noted the importance of bounding the case study within a unit of analysis in order to establish the context of the phenomenon being studied. Consequently, adopting a case study as I have chosen enabled me to observe the owners of five successful retail SME companies as the units of analysis to explore the strategies they implemented to improve sales.

Research Question

What strategies do retail SME owners implement to improve sales?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies did you implement to improve sales?
- 2. What strategies for improving sales worked best for you?
- 3. What did your top performing sales staff do differently from other staff?
- 4. How have you responded to opportunities in your market segment to improve sales?
- 5. What process did you employ to analyze opportunities to improve sales?

- 6. What were the challenges you faced when implementing your strategies to improve sales?
- 7. How did you measure improvement in sales?
- 8. What other strategies not covered by this interview have you employed to improve sales?

Conceptual Framework

Porter introduced the dynamic theory of strategy in 1991. A successful strategy results when a firm harnesses and harmonizes its organizational resources to take advantage of opportunities in the operating environment to achieve a better financial performance when compared to its peers (Porter, 1991). Additionally, Porter (1991) attributed firm success to a combination of industry attractiveness and the firm's position within that industry. Porter observed that because both the external environment and the firm's own internal resources are constantly changing, a successful growth strategy requires a firm to be dynamic in order to take advantage of the dynamic environment. Gaining competitive advantage results from either a cost leadership or product differentiation strategy; with product differentiation, a firm charges a premium price that exceeds the cost of producing the products or service (Porter, 1991). Beyond choosing a good strategy, firms must also remain nimble and maintain a learning culture in order to improve their financial performance in the long term (Porter, 1991). The importance of being able to respond to changes as reflected in the agility of the firm is because neither the strategy nor the environment is static.

Porter's (1991) dynamic theory of strategy is useful to help businesses evaluate their performance and how to position themselves for effective growth on a continuous basis. Porter observed that what makes one firm succeed while others fail are the choices its leaders make and positions the company takes in response to changes in its environment. Furthermore, making a choice in one area can either open opportunities in other areas or make it difficult to compete because the company may have neglected to evaluate how other players either react to its decisions or make decisions that may negate its own decision. Beyond the positioning of a company, Porter also cited activity drivers as key influencers of performance. These include scale, capacity utilization, human resource integration, and other organizational resources that together shape business outcomes. Porter's dynamic theory of strategy aligned with this study, in which I explored the strategies that retail SME owners deploy to improve sales.

Operational Definitions

The definitions stated below provide context to some of the terms used in the study but that are not usually present in a basic academic dictionary.

Entrepreneurship: Entrepreneurship is the process of engaging in risk taking behavior while in periods of uncertainty (Kwak & Lee, 2017).

Entrepreneurial orientation: Entrepreneurial orientation is innovative, risk-taking, and proactive organizational behavior (Wasowska et al., 2018).

Naira: Naira is the official currency of the Federal Republic of Nigeria (Central Bank of Nigeria, n.d.)

Small and medium enterprises: Small and medium enterprises in Nigeria are defined as those enterprises that employ between 10 and 199 people and have assets (excluding land and buildings) of between N10million and N1billion (SMEDAN, 2015).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are perspectives that may be implied or stated; they may also be valid or invalid, the underlying assumptions regarding a study usually influence the decisions taken in the course of exploring the phenomenon (Nkwake & Morrow, 2016). The first assumption was that my choice of qualitative methodology was appropriate to explore the strategies that retail SME owners deploy to improve sales. Qualitative methods are best suited when the researcher's intention is to explore the individual interpretations that participants give to their experience of a phenomenon (Crane et al., 2018). The second assumption was that using a case study research design would be the best way to elicit information about the research question. A case study helps the researcher to gain deep insight about a phenomenon and thus to be able to draw inferences; this makes it possible to achieve reliability and transferability (Morgan, 2018). The third assumption was that the chosen sample size of five successful business owners of SME companies was sufficient to achieve data saturation. This assumption was premised on the belief that sufficiently rich data would be elicited from the chosen number of participants (see Sim et al., 2018). The fourth assumption was that the study participants would provide honest feedback and not intentionally introduce bias into the study. Getting honest feedback depends on how well the researcher and participants get

along and how sensitive the researcher is to both verbal and nonverbal cues (Dennis, 2014). The fifth assumption was that I would find five successful retail SME business owners who would be willing to participate in the study. The sixth assumption was that by adopting interviews, I would capture the subjective narratives of the research participants. Arsel (2017) posited that interviews help the researcher to engage the participants and gain valuable insights into their individual perspectives about the research phenomenon. The seventh assumption was that this study would result in new insights and contribute to the knowledge regarding how SME owners might improve sales. A case study research design helps the researcher to gain deeper insights about a phenomenon (Morgan, 2018). Lastly, I assumed that the knowledge garnered from the research participants would be sufficient to understand strategies that successful business owners of retail SME companies deploy to improve sales.

Limitations

Limitations to a study refer to factors or elements in the research that are outside the control of the researcher but may impact the outcome of the research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The limitations in a research study represent weaknesses in the research that may potentially affect the study findings. For example, participant bias may occur if participants do not provide truthful responses to interview questions. The primary limitation associated with this study was the restriction of the number of participants to five successful retail SME business owners who have successfully implemented strategies to improve sales. Boddy (2016) noted that the right sample size is the number of participants required for the researcher to achieve data saturation. The sample should

also be representative enough to be able to apply the findings to a wider population.

Limiting research participants to only five might have affected the ability to be able to apply the study findings to other similar situations. According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), qualitative researchers leave the transferability of the findings to readers and future researchers to determine. Researchers must choose an appropriate sample size, especially when faced with time and funding constraints as was the case in this research.

Delimitations

Delimitations refer to the bounds or scope of the study. Delimitations are the boundaries that define an area; delimitations describe what was included and excluded within the scope of this study (Acikgonul, 2016). Yin (2018) noted that bounding a study means specifying who is included in the study and the specific geographic area of the study. Defining the delimitations of the study helped to provide structure for the research as it is impossible to include the entire population within a particular geographical area in a research study. The delimitations of this study included only successful retail SME owners within Lagos State in Southwest Nigeria. This study excluded all SME owners who are not part of the five successful retail SME business owners who were the focus of this study.

Significance of the Study

The findings from this study concerning the strategies that SME owners use to improve sales have the potential to generate a positive socioeconomic multiplier effect in the local economy and improved sales for SME owners who might implement the findings. SMEs are major contributors to economic development of countries and create

more jobs for every unit of capital employed than larger businesses (Awasthi & Mathur, 2017). Consequently, an understanding of the strategies that SMEs use to improve sales may have a positive impact not only on the performance of the SMEs but also on the local economy by creating employment that may result in improvement in the standards of living of the various communities in which the SMEs operate.

Contribution to Business Practice

SME owners strive to build their businesses by engaging in entrepreneurial activities. Using the knowledge gained from this study, SME owners may be better positioned to understand their business environment and how to recognize and take advantage of business opportunities as they arise. In addition, by implementing the insights garnered from this study, micro enterprises, which account for the highest number of businesses, may grow to become small businesses and small businesses may grow to become medium businesses. Tuinstra et al. (2012) observed that there is a positive correlation between firm size and sales growth: as such, the various SME business owners who implement the findings of this study are likely to grow and increase sales. SME owners who read this study's findings might use the strategies included in the study to improve their business practices, which may result in improved sales as well as shared strategies with other intending SME owners, resulting in additional businesses being set up to take advantage of improved business opportunities.

Implications for Social Change

Implementing the findings of this research as well as recommendations may positively affect the financial performance of the SMEs by improving their sales. In

addition, if the SMEs improve sales, it might expand job creation, leading to overall improvement in the local economy because of the contribution of SMEs to growth and development and by extension lead to positive social change. Positive social change is the result of actions taken to improve the lives of the members of the community in which a business operates (Lumpkin et al., 2018). Additional benefits that may arise from this research include better living standards and quality of life for SME employees as SME owners might create more jobs as they improve sales. Employees and SME owners could spend their increased income within the local community, resulting in other businesses also benefiting from their services and creating a positive multiplier effect.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

I focused on various sources of information within the professional and academic literature that explored strategies that some retail SME owners used to improve sales. The articles that I reviewed provided an extensive analysis of the study's conceptual framework (Porter's 1991, dynamic theory of strategy). I explored existing literature relating to the research topic and compared and contrasted various sources of information to provide a background for extending knowledge about the strategies that some retail SME owners deployed to improve sales. Hean et al. (2016) emphasized the importance of theory to good quality research as it serves as a basis for understanding the methodological choice and research strategy.

Title Searches, Articles, Research Documents, and Journals

The articles that I included in the literature review comprised of 212 peerreviewed sources of information regarding the business practices and structures that

SMEs deployed to increase sales and thereby grow their businesses. The information sources comprised of dissertations, peer-reviewed journal articles, books, and government publications. Article searches included searching multidisciplinary, management, and businesses databases. I relied on Walden University's business and management databases, journal websites, and online libraries. The databases that I used included, (a) Business Source Complete, (b) Emerald Insight, (c) SAGE Journal, (d) Science Direct, (e) ProQuest Central, (f) Tailor & Francis, and (g) ABI/INFORM Collection. In some instances, I used the articles referenced in a journal article to find related material about the same subject. The government databases that I used include the National Bureau of Statistics, SMEDAN, and CBN. I used key word searches that included variations and combinations of (a) SME or small business, (b) small business owner, (c) entrepreneurship, (d) sales, (e) growth, (f) innovation, (g) business strategy, (h) performance, (i) marketing, (j) branding, (k) technology, and (l) success, failure, and survival. The main source of information for the literature review was peer-reviewed journal articles. The literature review included 230 references; publication dates within the past 5 years accounted for 80% of the articles while peer-reviewed articles accounted for 92% of the references.

My approach to the literature review consisted of a review of the conceptual framework that underpinned this study, including reviewing the various contrasting and supporting theories. I also organized my literature review section along the lines of the evolution of SMEs, sources and use of finance, business innovation, entrepreneurship and

entrepreneurial development, branding, and leadership strategies as well as the opportunities and challenges for growing SMEs.

Dynamic Theory of Strategy

I conducted an extensive review of various theories in recognition of the role theory plays in understanding a research problem and the likely ways to extend knowledge about the subject of a study. Researchers should analyze as many theories as possible before deciding on the most appropriate theoretical or conceptual framework (Hean et al., 2016). Theory is the assumptions that link various concepts that are explored through a system of rational arguments that can either be supported by evidence or discarded as a result of evidence (Hean et al., 2016). I adopted Porter's (1991) dynamic theory of strategy as my conceptual framework. I chose Porter's dynamic theory of strategy because it was the theory that captured and reflected the various factors and contexts that SMEs would consider and implement to improve their business operations in order to grow sales. The researcher should be able to defend the chosen theory and demonstrate its adequacy as well as how the subsequent data collection aligns with the theory (Hean et al., 2016). An understanding of why some firms grow while others fail is linked to understanding the theory of the firm and by extension the theory of strategy (Porter, 1991). Porter's dynamic theory of strategy provided a linkage between environmental factors, firm behaviour, and eventual market outcomes. A firm's ability to grow is dependent on the combination of the industry attractiveness, the firm's relative position within the industry, as well as the choices the firm makes in response to or to preempt attacks from its competitors.

Porter (1991) provided four key determinants of competitive advantage that are linked and interconnected in the shape of a diamond. These include: (a) firm strategy, structure, and rivalry; (b) demand conditions; (c) related and supporting industries; and (d) factor conditions. Cheng and Liu (2017) conducted a qualitative study of technology SMEs that adopted Porter's diamond model and concluded that technology SMEs can gain market share by achieving resource optimization, delivering innovative products, and using innovative marketing strategies. Williamson (1999) provided the two perspectives of governance and competence when studying firm strategy. The governance view revolves around choosing the best among competing alternatives while competence focuses on how the firm harnesses its resources to achieve the best results (Williamson, 1999). Clegg et al. (2013) noted that the global context when looking at the operation of firms and financial systems implies that scholars and practitioners should be able to study the different evolutionary stages of economic development and learn lessons from when things have gone wrong. The lessons from how firms have fared at different stages of economic development should be documented to serve as resources for future use. Formalizing strategy impacts innovation; this involves documenting and analyzing the processes that a company has chosen to achieve its objectives (Fréchet & Goy, 2017). They added that the process of formalizing does not impede spontaneity as such SMEs are able to leverage opportunities that become available even after the strategy has been formalized. The ability to be responsive to change and adapt strategy as a result of the dynamic nature of the internal and external environment drives sustainable financial performance and supports Porter's dynamic theory of strategy.

Supporting and Contrasting Theories

Competitive strategy, positioning, and competitive advantage are popular areas of research in business management. A successful competitive strategy is dependent on the external environment and the industry in which a firm operates, including the nature of rivalry (Porter, 1980). Urde and Koch (2014) described positioning as a firm's decisions about its business in response to its opportunities, challenges, and likely outcomes based on its choices. A firm demonstrates competitive advantage when its strategy creates value that both existing and potential competitors cannot replicate. Maintaining this advantage involves being able to sustain the accruing benefits from its strategy (Barney, 1991). For a firm to remain competitive, different strategies will be required at different stages of development while also recognizing the role of the evolution of its industry (Chang & Ha-Brookshire, 2011). In order to situate my study within the most appropriate lens, I considered the dynamic capabilities view (see Teece & Pisano, 1994), the five forces model (see Porter, 1980), and the resource-based view (see Penrose, 1959) as likely alternative approaches to shaping the appropriate strategies that retail SME owners might deploy to improve sales.

Five Forces Model (FFM)

One of the theories that I considered was another of Porter's (1980) theories of strategy. The five forces model has been cited by many researchers when conducting research on strategy. Its seeming popularity suggested that it would be a good theory to use with sufficient empirical outcome. In a study conducted by Bacanu (2016) on competitive advantage, Porter's (1980) study on the five forces model ranked first. Porter

developed the five competitive forces that shape strategy; they include (a) threat of new entrants, (b) bargaining power of suppliers, (c) bargaining power of buyers, (d) threat of substitute products or services, and (e) rivalry among existing competitors. Not being able to understand the competitive landscape as well as the nature of competition often results in poor market positioning: this might ultimately lead to the company going out of business or not being able to dominate its market.

Urde and Koch (2014) emphasized that positioning is one of the imperatives for strategy in addition to marketing and branding. Ansoff (1965) opined that ultimately all organizations seek to deal with strategic decisions around products and markets by answering the question of what to produce and in which markets to sell their products. An understanding of how companies gain and maintain competitive advantage is central to understanding why some firms fail while others succeed (Teece & Pisano, 1994). Porter's (1980) five competitive forces focused specifically on the nature of competition between a firm and its rivals as well as the nature of relationships in the supply chain. However, strategy must consider the nature of the external environment and how the firm deploys internal capabilities to gain competitive advantage as emphasized in the dynamic theory of strategy and the resource-based view respectively. Urde and Koch (2014) emphasized that external factors are pivotal to shaping business strategy. Company competitiveness is derived from the interplay of external and internal factors because the company's current position and future direction depend on its ability to take the right decisions at the right time by critically reviewing the best course of action given the environmental factors in play at each point in time (Predic & Stosic, 2014). The ability to consistently employ

business strategies that recognize the changing nature of the competitive landscape requires dynamic capabilities.

Dynamism is the ability to recognize and take advantage of emerging opportunities while capabilities involves management skills and resource optimization (Day, 2014; Teece & Pisano, 1994). An organization demonstrates dynamic capabilities when key decision makers make decisions in response to or preemptive of changes in its operating environment that result in superior market positioning because of a differentiated offering. A firm's unique selling proposition should offer a compelling reason why its products and or services are better than its peers (Urde & Koch, 2014). Given the large number of SMEs in every country, a business owner should be able to demonstrate why their products and/or services are different from those of competitors. The message should be clear to customers who ultimately decide whether they agree with the company's position by buying its products or not. Competitive intensity drives the effectiveness of a firm's decision when making strategic decisions (Srivastava et al., 2017). Where the degree of rivalry is very intense, a firm has to consider how its competitors might respond to a market opportunity and choose a course of action that gives it a better positioning relative to its peers. Understanding the five forces helps business owners know what drives competition within their industry and to develop a competitive position ahead of peers and to achieve dominance on a continuous basis.

SMEs in particular have to be both flexible and nimble in order to overcome size constraints and to compete favourable especially when the external environment is volatile. Moreover, Penrose (1959) argued that the ability of a firm to grow depends on

the ability of the entrepreneur first to recognize opportunities, then to exploit the opportunities to create distinct value. For a firm to achieve competitive advantage, it must choose either a cost leadership or product differentiation strategy (Porter, 1980). Hales and Mclarney (2017) disputed Porter's view about achieving competitive advantage by either cost leadership or product differentiation; instead, they argued that an either-or approach can result in missed opportunities. Hales and Mclarney emphasized that hybrid strategies that combine cost leadership, focus, and/or product differentiation deliver better value to customers, they cited the case of Uber technologies that pursued low cost and differentiation concurrently as an example of how to achieve superior financial performance from a hybrid strategy. Similarly, Gould and Designations (2015) noted that technology offers better ways of doing things, and challenges the existing frames of reference of either cost leadership or product differentiation to achieving competitive advantage. Technology offers significant advantages to SMEs as they can deploy technology to achieve cost savings and economies of scale and to deliver innovative products. As a result, SMEs can compete in new markets and increase market penetration because technology also enables access to markets even beyond local and national boundaries.

Porter's five forces did not include an analysis of internal factors such as human resources and other organizational assets in shaping competitive strategy; as such, its value is limited as a lens to explore the strategies that SME owners employ to increase sales. For an organization, the decision to explore opportunities comes before the action to exploit the opportunities and occurs when management demonstrates entrepreneurial

intuition and imagination (Penrose, 1959). Porter's five forces also limits strategy considerations to how to compete within a given industry despite industry concept becoming more fluid. Of note is the opportunity for creation of entirely new markets by disrupting existing industries (Kim & Mauborgne, 2005). In addition, opportunities exist to redefine an industry or to create new lines of business and or products to achieve superior value. Van Alstyne et al. (2016) cited the case of Apple Inc. and how it used the iPhone to exploit the power of platforms thereby creating new rules of strategy and new lines of business from music to different applications: its strategy resulted in it competing in several industries concurrently and enhancing its value proposition to customers as a result of its business model. At any point in time, choosing which or combination of the five forces to analyze depends on the role of the company. As a new entrant for example, a business owner would seek to understand how existing businesses might respond to its entry and existing rivalry as these shape how to position its products and or service. Where rivalry is intense, margins are likely to be thin: a likely entry strategy might then be to choose a product differentiation strategy. A differentiation strategy means that the value of its product should be unique such that customers are willing to pay a premium (Porter, 1991). Gould and Desjardins (2015) opined that Porter's FFM does not work well for small businesses, in fragmented markets, and in retail settings. As this study is focused on small retail business owners, I considered that Porter's FFM might have limited application.

Resource Based View

I considered the resource-based view (RBV) as a likely conceptual framework for my study. The resource-based theory is focused on the nexus between a firm's internal capabilities and gaining competitive advantage and is a relevant theory to study firm performance (Cruz & Haugan, 2019; Wright et al., 1994). A firm's strategic resources are varied and distributed across the organization (Barney, 1991). Barney added that a firm gains sustainable competitive advantage when it deploys strategies that create value in a way that neither current nor potential competitors can replicate. Firm resources can be either physical, human, or organizational capital resources: sustaining competitive advantage occurs when these resources are differentiated and not easily transferred (Barney, 1991). When resources are not differentiated, it means competitors can easily acquire them or produce products that are similar resulting in commoditization and loss of competitive advantage (Teece & Pisano, 1994). What makes internal resources central to gaining competitive advantage is that they are assumed to be rare, have value, are inimitable, and non-substitutable (Barney, 1991; Busby, 2019). The source of competitive advantage comes from the way the resources are deployed, Sheehan and Foss (2017) emphasized that activity drivers determine the company's ability to deliver distinctive value. Sheehan and Foss added that sustainable value is created from the inimitability of firm resources, for this to occur, the firm must have proprietary rights which prevent imitation, learning and development costs which make it difficult to derive the same output, and causal ambiguity. Causal ambiguity means that whereas both the firm and competitors recognize its superior position, neither can specifically explain its performance by any single resource or combination of resources (Barney, 1991).

Organizations should deploy limited and valuable resources in such a manner that yields the best outcome, and results in an advantage over its peers (Day, 2014; Ko & Liu, 2017). SMEs should therefore develop strategies that position them to offer products and or services that cannot be easily duplicated: they should also remain flexible and be able to change strategy to take advantage of opportunities or mitigate threats as they occur in the operating environment. Teece and Pisano (1994) emphasized that the changing nature of the external environment means that only those that are able to modify and align internal resources in a timely manner will be and remain market leaders.

Proponents of the resource-based view (Barney, 1991; Busby, 2019) explored the importance of history in understanding firm performance. Barney (1991) opined that firms evolve and only develop the capabilities that they deploy from experience. This explains why it is not so much the resources in themselves but rather the way the resources are combined that make the organization unique. In the course of utilizing these resources, they will obviously deplete and will need to be replaced and or enhanced. The resource-based view does not address the process for retaining the same level of internal resources that resulted in the initial competitive advantage. Busby (2019) emphasized that while resources might not be copied, the output of the firm can, this arises from parasitic and counterfeiting activities of competitors. Where such activities occur, it can affect reputation and brand of the company and also relative competitive position in its industry. However, Barney (1991) countered that imitation means that the firm's resources are either no longer being deployed strategically or the firm has not responded to changes in its environment appropriately. Wright et al. (1994) discussed the role of human resources

as a means of attaining superior performance, this involves the human capital as well as human capital practices deployed to achieve organizational objectives. The available human capital not only limits the ability of the firm to expand but also new management that can be hired and their capability (Penrose, 1959). Consequently, firm growth is dependent on management breadth and depth as it is the human resources that determine how resources are deployed. In considering the role of internal resources and specifically human capital as a critical asset, it is important to note that companies can headhunt a key member of staff that is felt to be critical to the business strategy. Despite instances of head-hunting a key human asset, this has not always guaranteed the expected shift in gaining competitive advantage. Not being able achieve the same level of performance despite acquiring a key resource buttresses the conclusion that the way the resources are combined involving routines, processes, and organizational behavior determines competitive advantage (Barney, 1991; Bellner & MacLean, 2015). In some instances, business owners might not possess the organizational assets required to gain and sustain a competitive advantage. A strategic response to resource limitations would be to purchase, develop, or seek relevant partners or strategic relationships to gain access to the needed resource or capability. SMEs often lack adequate resources because of their size and might need to seek strategic partnerships to deliver value. The new rules of strategy include a move to shared economy and seeking relevant partnerships and collaborations (Hales & Mclarney, 2017). Value co-creation and the co-production of value propositions within a firm's ecosystem affect its competitiveness, strategy deployment, and innovation ability (Kohtamäki & Rajala, 2016). The exchange of value therefore includes both

economic and social exchanges and requires that the beneficiary is both willing and able to participate in this exchange process (Kohtamäki & Rajala, 2016). The foundation of firm positioning is hinged on the resource-based view as a conceptual framework for profit maximization as a firm seeks to create a differentiated value proposition (Cortez & Johnston, 2019). The resource-based view is an inside-out approach that first considers organizational resources before customers and competitors (Saeed et al., 2015).

Organizational resources include intangible knowledge-based resources such as system-specific knowhow and brand name (Gorovaia & Windsperger, 2018).

Day (2014) cited the limitation in an inside-out perspective such as the resource-based view and instead advocated for an outside-in approach that begins with environmental scanning involving a proper understanding of customers, what they want, gaps, and opportunities that exist: only after that should a company configure or adapt its internal structures to address the identified market opportunities. Ko & Liu (2017) drew attention to a paradox that occurs as SMEs seek to implement the appropriate environmental strategy to shape business performance, on the one hand, SMEs are unable to implement environmental strategy as a result of the perceived cost of implementation, on the other hand, implementation triggers responses from customers and other stakeholders that forces them to develop new products and new markets resulting in improved financial performance. Aksoy (2017) emphasized that both product and process innovation are required for SME competitiveness and further observed that SMEs need to scale up on their product innovation capabilities to improve their competitiveness. The resource-based theory did not address the changing nature of businesses and industries

which requires changes to the responses required to remain competitive. Porter (1991) emphasized the complexity and dynamism of firm strategy and the need for firms to apply changes that address their changing environment.

Dynamic Capabilities View

There are varied views (Barney, 1991; Teece & Pisano, 1994) about how to create and sustain competitive advantage, a point of convergence is the identification of what is strategic. To be strategic, a capability must address a need in a unique way, this provides the basis for a price premium and implies that competitors cannot easily copy it (Teece & Pisano, 1994). The five forces framework explores the strategic problem from the perspective of market positioning between rivals on the basis of how they behave in response to entry and deterrence while the resource-based view emphasizes how to maximize firm specific assets. The dynamic capabilities view extends both RBV and FFM by its recognition of the role of the external environment and its unpredictability in shaping firm performance. While deploying internal capabilities and understanding relative positioning are certainly necessary in gaining sustainable competitive advantage, those who become leaders are unique in their ability to respond to changes in the operating environment and to bring novel products and services to the market on a continuous basis (Teece & Pisano, 1994). The differentiator is the ability to combine internal resources with external opportunities in an environment that gives premium to those that deliver unique products and or services constantly.

SMEs work with limited resources and cannot compete on size, they should look to innovation to create a niche for themselves. The current economic environment is

characterized by volatility and disruptive innovations driven by technology, making it more difficult to maintain a position of market leadership (Wójcik, 2015). Strachan (2019) drew a distinction between strategy in theory and practice. The practice of strategy is shaped by the responses to the external environmental factors which create opportunities and threats. From the responses, the structure of the environment also changes, this means that initial responses cannot be repeated with the same outcomes because the conditions under which the firm competes change continuously from the activities of all the members of the market both present and potential. Advocates of the dynamic capabilities view such as (Wójcik, 2015) proposed that a sustainable competitive advantage is dependent on a firm's ability to create value by adjusting to changes in its environment

Timeliness and adaptable capacity of the firm result from adopting an outside-in approach to developing dynamic capabilities (Day, 2014). Day cited Amazon as an example of an outside-in approach: this is based on first recognizing what customers want and using a needs resolution approach to product development, business model, as well as deploying internal resources. Teece (2009) emphasized that dynamic capabilities are resources developed by: (a) conducting environmental scanning to identify opportunities and threats based on sensing ability; (b) combining existing resources in new ways or deploying new resource through partnerships, acquisitions, or collaborations; and, (c) choosing the best business model that maximizes value to customers and results in the best profit to the firm. Maintaining dynamic capability also means that learning and development must be integrated into the business model of the

firm (Bature et al., 2018). While recognizing the importance of dynamic capabilities, Koryak et al. (2015) emphasized that a company also needs substantive growth capabilities to be able to compete effectively on a continuous basis. They described growth capabilities as being able to take the right decision that results in gaining market share such as developing a new product while being able to adapt based on evolving opportunities represents dynamic capabilities. As decision making is a management responsibility, Helfat and Martin (2015) presented a distinction between dynamic management capability and dynamic capability.

Dynamic management capability assesses change from management's impact on decision making which must continue to evolve as the environment changes. The dynamic capabilities view did not explore the role of leadership in shaping decision making nor the distinction between different management styles and how this might affect performance. Management's role can also be explored from a governance and competence perspectives. Governance involves the administrative routines, legal framework, and incentive systems that shape organizational behaviour, while competence refers to building knowledge from experience (Williamson, 1999). Experience need not be personal to be meaningful or applicable, business owners can learn from others' experiences in similar situations. This is where research such as the current study can be useful tools for shaping decision making as business owners have the opportunity to explore how other business owners have responded when faced with strategic decisions. Another area to consider in bridging experience gaps is to look to more developed economies and the experiences of similar businesses operating there. However, SMEs

should also be mindful of the role of culture in shaping decision making as not all practices would result in the same outcomes across different cultures. Fusch, G. E. et al. (2016) emphasized that culture plays an important role in the way members of a society interact, it also shapes behaviour and workplace productivity. By understanding how the internal culture of the organization works, leaders can shape processes around the cultural practices that would yield the desired outcomes.

Small and Medium Enterprises: Background/ Current Status Assessment

SMEs are the single largest contributors to the development of most economies in terms of employment and share of value-added services (Awasthi & Mathur, 2017; Niazi, 2017). SME contribution to total number of businesses can range from 90% to 99% between developed and emerging economies respectively (Okundaye et al., 2019). SME contribution is largely fueled by developing new products which offer the opportunity to innovate quickly and, in a cost, effective manner (Del Giudice et al., 2019). Using digital technology can reduce the disparity between SMEs and larger firms as it helps to reduce cost and reach larger markets. However, despite the opportunities digital technology offers, SMEs, particularly in developing economies do not enjoy the likely benefits because they are overwhelmed by challenges in the operating environment such as high technology costs, shorter product lifecycles, and other environmental factors (Cheng & Liu, 2017; Del Giudice et al., 2019).

Though the nature of competition is industry specific, SMEs face some limitations based on size that larger firms do not, one of this is demand side benefits of scale and the resulting network effects (Porter, 2008). By adopting a niche strategy, SMEs can

overcome some of the challenges that they might face. Porter (1979) identified focused niching based on either low cost or differentiation as a competitive strategy. In a niche strategy, a firm focuses on a specific customer segment and seeks to provide products that are different from what competitors offer. SMEs can benefit from adopting a niche strategy so that resources are better deployed to yield the best returns. Once they identify a customer segment that is underserved, they can tailor products and build capabilities so that others find it difficult to replicate their source of competitive advantage. Gould and Designations (2015) added the notion of complexity as a relevant factor in shaping competitive strategy when using Porter's (1979) strategic options of cost leadership, product differentiation, or focused/niche strategy. They emphasized that in consumer markets especially and with technology driving innovation, consumers are concerned that the user experience should be pleasurable and easy. Hales and Mclarney (2017) extended the discussion about achieving competitive strategy by including the possibility of a hybrid strategy instead of an either or between the options of cost, differentiation, and focus. SMEs can enhance their value proposition when they position their offerings to meet emerging customer expectations of simplicity and use the best combination of strategic options that gives the best outcome at the least cost but with a distinct approach.

A key differentiator in performance of different SMEs is their orientation to making decisions that will improve business performance. Entrepreneurial orientation is a key determinant of SME growth with those that express a desire to grow more likely to succeed than those that do not have a growth objective (Tuinstra et al., 2012). Entrepreneurs play a key role in both developed and developing countries by their

contribution to gross domestic product (GDP), employment, innovation, and technological development (Ipinnaiye et al., 2017). SMEs by their activities develop creative products and services which add value to customers and for which customers are willing to pay (Hsieh & Wu, 2019; Niazi, 2017). The value outcome of entrepreneurial activities is what results in profit for the business and owner whether the firm is a new or existing business. For entrepreneurs to remain in business, they must both grow and be profitable. Hsieh and Wu (2019) described entrepreneurship as the process of evolving a new business which includes positioning for competitive advantage by differentiating new products and or services. The challenges that SMEs face include ability to achieve scale, adopt managerial practices, over reliance on key promoter and other family relationships (Nouicer et al., 2017). Nouicer at al. grounded their study in two conceptual frameworks, the balanced score card (BSC) and the relational marketing theory through the use of the CUSTOR scale model. The balanced scorecard (BSC) is a combination of financial and non-financial tools for measuring performance, it uses four key metrics of: (a) financial, (b) customer, (c) internal processes, and (d) learning and growth to determine performance and future prospects of a firm (Malagueño et al., 2018). They observed that SMEs that adopted BSC showed higher financial performance and higher exploitative innovation outcomes. The CUSTOR model is a customer-oriented strategy with four dimensions: (a) customer retention, (b) customer intimacy, (c) continuous improvement, and (d) company transparency, adopting it resulted in increased sales volume, profits, and market share (Nouicer et al., 2017). SMEs should have structures in place for measuring performance and achieving the key objectives of the business,

additionally, without happy customers, it would be difficult to achieve profitability in the long term. Arend et al. (2015) discussed how effectuation as a theory of entrepreneurship can help to explain the behaviour of entrepreneurs and the processes they go through in bringing a new business or new products and services to the market. Effectuation encapsulates the decision-making process of the entrepreneur while seeking to leverage both personal and organizational processes to bring about the best outcome (Arend et al., 2015). Bhuiyan and Ivlevs (2019) emphasized the role of entrepreneurship in wealth creation and poverty reduction particularly as the process of evolving a new business includes positioning for a competitive advantage by differentiating the new products and or services. Implicit in the entrepreneurial process is a focus on value creation and innovation activity. When bringing a new product to the market, it is important to do prior research to understand what customers want and also gaps in existing products. This information will help the business owner to develop products that customers want and will pay for.

Entrepreneurs are more likely to be innovative because the process of setting up and managing a new business requires that the entrepreneur seek a competitive advantage by outperforming its peers to gain market share. Gielnik et al. (2015) found a positive correlation between entrepreneurial effort and passion. Consequently, actions reflect the underlying frame of mind of the entrepreneur, this includes the process for ensuring that the business is organized in a manner that should yield value and the level of time and engagement of the business owner. Fina et al. (2017) conducted a quantitative research covering 40 respondents which consisted of owners and or managers of furniture

processing industry in Timor Tengah Utara located in Indonesia. Fina et al. highlighted the importance of building an entrepreneurial spirit to the success of micro, small, and medium enterprises (MSME). Entrepreneur's traits that reflect entrepreneurial spirit include risk-taking, innovation, and being proactive. Haselip et al. (2015) conducted a review of energy sector SMEs operating in the four African countries of Senegal, Ghana, Zambia, and Tanzania and concluded that the skills, technical knowhow as well as socio cultural factors such as attitude and cultural orientation are key determinants of growth.

Ncube and Zondo (2018) linked small business success to how intrinsically motivated the owner is, motivation affects the small business owner's drive, risk taking behaviour, and willingness to go the extra mile especially in the face of challenges. In addition, creativity thrives when the owner wants to succeed and reflects in the quality of decision-making that ultimately leads to business growth and profitability (Ncube & Zondo, 2018). Turner and Endres (2017) agreed with previous research that personal characteristics such as strong negotiation skills, creativity, hard work, and self-discipline have a positive impact on small business profitability. In addition, they noted the importance of a conducive work environment as well as leadership style in shaping performance, transformational leaders can deliver better performance. Furthermore, networking skills help the owner to create needed connections that positively impact business sustainability. SME owners should focus more on developing themselves through training and mentoring programs as a way to enhance their capacity to lead their organizations as business growth is linked to the skills and passion of the owner.

Behling and Lenzi (2019) conducted a survey of 211 individual micro enterprises operating in Brazil to examine the relationship between entrepreneurial competencies and the behaviour patterns of entrepreneurs within the social and economic environment in which they operate. Entrepreneurial competencies are the characteristics that successful entrepreneurs exhibit which give them competitive advantage (Behling & Lenzi, 2019). By training, SMEs can improve their competencies and likely result in better performance. Nonetheless, to benefit from developing entrepreneurial competencies, it would be necessary to conduct research to define which competencies result in better performance and how to develop them. Other factors that impact firm survival are age and educational level (Cabrer-Borrás & Rico Belda, 2018). As a result of globalization and technological advancements, SMEs have increased opportunities to reach wider markets and benefit from partnerships and collaborations. The role of entrepreneurs in local and global business development is based on their contribution to new ideas and business processes (Hsieh & Wu, 2019). However, speed of response is very relevant in order to exploit market opportunities because of the rapidity of change in the market place. SME decision making is quick because there are no cumbersome administrative structures, as a result, they respond to opportunities in the market quicker than large firms (Niazi, 2017). Individual attitudes such as education, motivation, and personality impact entrepreneur's ability to identify and take advantage of opportunities in the economy (Nuvolari et al., 2018). While research is clear about the various factors that might influence performance including the personality and degree of competence of the owner, there is a need to frame the various factors within the context of relevance and also to

distinguish between correlation and causation. In this way, focus would be on the relevant factors with the potential for achieving likely positive outcomes. Where correlation does not exist, it is impossible to establish causality (Goldberg, 2003) but, it is possible to have a correlation without necessarily having a causal relationship (Coogan, 2015). Bleske-Rechek et al. (2015) posited that all alternative explanations for a relationship must be reviewed and discarded to establish causality.

Various researchers have sought to determine any likely relationships between gender and business development. De Melo et al. (2019) examined the role of gender in entrepreneurship from the perspectives of causation and effectuation. Causation links alternative strategies required to achieving a desired action while effectuation processes start with examining alternative courses of action that would result in the same outcome (De Melo et al., 2019). From the study, there was a positive correlation between female gender and the causation perspective while there were no correlations for effectuation. Moreno (2016) observed that women do not often receive the same level of financial support as men on the basis that women view entrepreneurial activity more from a social entrepreneurship perspective. Once female entrepreneurs go into business; however, they are more likely to survive than male entrepreneurs. One of the ways to grow SMEs contribution and success rate would be to encourage more women to become entrepreneurs since they are more likely to succeed. Nevertheless, there is a disproportionate ratio of male entrepreneurs to female entrepreneurs. In a qualitative study conducted in India, Ambrish (2014) cited a United Nations report which tied economic development to growth in women empowerment and noted further that

economies where women have advanced have thrived more than those where women have not. Female entrepreneurs are still in the minority as a proportion of all enterprises, issues which affect female entrepreneurs include discriminatory laws and cultural practices especially in emerging economies. Governments in particular can address issues of gender imbalance by reviewing any discriminatory laws and sensitizing citizens about cultural practices which impede growth of female entrepreneurs. Policies should also address access to finance through the introduction of interventions and incentives that seek to empower female entrepreneurs. One of the new areas of research which is perhaps not extensively captured in traditional literature on entrepreneurship is the area of incubators. Albort-Morant and Oghazi (2016) discussed the role of incubators in the knowledge management and knowledge transfer system of entrepreneurs. By leveraging the support that incubators provide, entrepreneurs can avoid some of the costly mistakes that often lead to business failure in addition to having access to resources which help them to improve their competitive capabilities.

Kaptein (2019) discussed the role of ethics in business and noted that an ethical leader must go beyond demonstrating compliance with what a particular society has defined as acceptable conduct. SMEs should be aware of what constitutes ethical standards and that there might be measurable benefits from adopting the highest standards. Being a moral entrepreneur is not only a source of competitive advantage, but also provides sustainability of the business (Kaptein, 2019). Consequently, ethical leadership leads to creation of new norms of ethical behavior which have positive impact on business and society. However, it is also important to evaluate cultural practices and

their influence on business practices. Moosmayer et al. (2016), explored the ethical reasoning that underscores price negotiations using evidence from 15 in-depth interviews conducted with sales and purchasing representatives in the chemical industry in Germany. Moosmayer et al. posited that since the prices at which goods and services are exchanged determine business performance, an understanding of how buyers and sellers arrive at their pricing decisions within the B2B sector would help to shape the narrative about the ethical basis for negotiations. The need to be mindful of maintaining an ethical stance is more relevant when it involves exchange of assets within an uncertain business environment especially when the assets add significant value to business fortunes.

Consequently, negotiators should think long term and focus on demonstrating ethical behaviour which leads to long term profitable relationships rather than seeking to maximize profit in the short term. Customers will be more trusting and make repeat purchases when they believe that the business practices are built around ethics.

In order to gain competitive advantage in a market, a firm must take certain action to create value by implementing entrepreneurial strategies, strategic entrepreneurship (SE) is correlated to shifts in market commonality (Withers et al., 2018). Market commonality is the relative presence of a competitor firm in a market it shares with a focal firm (Withers et al., 2018). SE is comprised of four dimensions, these include; (a) growth-oriented perspectives, (b) entrepreneurial culture and leadership practices, (c) being able to harness organizational resources to maintain current competitive advantage and to exploit new opportunities, and (d) integration of organizational resources to achieve innovation (Withers et al., 2018). Whereas many businesses start up, many are

not able to sustain the business and as a result go out of business, this affects employment and growth of the economy (Filho et al., 2017). SMEs go through four life cycle stages: (a) genesis, (b) existence, (c) survival, and (d) growth; the genesis and existence stages are where the challenges to ensure survivability occur (Filho et al., 2017). Filho et al stated that at the genesis stage, the entrepreneur works on starting the business and has to address resource availability while at the existence stage, the business owner seeks to gain market share and define the business value proposition. A combination of personal and external factors must work together if the organization is to survive in the long term. These factors include individual characteristics, industry sector experience, managerial knowledge, attitudes, abilities, and social ties (Filho et al., 2017). The transition (existence) stage is the most critical stage in the life of the business and is typically a period of between 18 and 36 months from commencement of the business (Picken, 2017). During the transition phase, the business owner must seek to establish both legitimacy and credibility of the business and also deal with setting direction and market positioning including putting in place the right systems, people, and structures (Picken, 2017). As a result of varied requirements at different stages of a firm's existence, business owners should develop strategies that address the opportunities and threats at each stage.

The role of the owner in ensuring growth cannot be overemphasized especially as SMEs are more likely to be both owners and managers unlike larger firms where there is usually a distinction between ownership and management. The degree of entrepreneurial orientation (EO) as demonstrated by risk-taking, innovative, and technological positioning is directly and positively correlated with firm survival and achieving

competitive advantage (Wasowska et al., 2018). SMEs should have structures in place that define and document their business processes and decision making. In this way, there will be uniformity and standardization, all members of the organization will also better understand how their roles fit into the organizational strategy. Formalization is the use of systems and structures to manage the activities of the business in order to ensure synergy and effective allocation of resources to maximize market opportunities (Wasowska et al., 2018). Abatecola and Uli (2016) stated that the degree of EO and formalization of routines are key determinants of firm survival. However, it is pertinent to note that organizations are constantly evolving, as such they will learn lessons from both successes and failures. There are also external variables such as the economic, political, and regulatory environment that impact firm performance. Social exchange theory seeks to explain entrepreneurial behavior and its impact on business growth. Moreover, from the social exchange theory, those entrepreneurs that maintain good relationships with the providers of finance and social resources are more likely to succeed (Huang & Knight, 2017). A better understanding of the factors that impact firm survival and growth is relevant to entrepreneurs, scholars, policy makers, investors, and other providers of capital.

The decision about where to set up is one of the key decisions that business owners make, property cost whether rental or purchase can also be a significant cost and thus affect profitability. Phillipson et al. (2019) conducted a longitudinal study of small businesses and employed a survey to establish if there was a relationship between location and business performance. From the study, Phillipson et al. found no difference

between rural and urban firms in terms of turnover but rural firms were more likely to report a profit. The profit came from lower salary and business premises and other overhead costs as well as less competition. Similarly, rural firms were also more likely to be innovative because of lower purchasing power of customers in these areas. Huggins et al. (2017) noted that various studies have linked firm survival to the success or otherwise of the location of the firm. Porter (1991) identified location linkage to financial performance and observed the proliferation of certain industries within certain clusters. Porter also observed that related and supporting industries emerged within observed clusters making the integration and supply chain synergies more fluid. While location does not necessarily result in higher turnover, it might affect cost and consequently profits. Given their size, SMEs should consider if there are any location-based advantages such as nearness to source of resources or supply chain synergies before choosing where to set up their business. Additionally, with the increasing uptake of internet purchases, the emphasis is shifting from physical locations. Abumalloh et al. (2020) emphasized that ecommerce sales are growing at a higher rate than physical sales.

Uyar (2019) established a direct link between SME performance and the management accounting function. The management accounting function measures performance and defines competitive strategy, those firms that utilize a management accounting function consequently show better performance (Uyar, 2019). Verdolini et al. (2018) discussed the role of embracing eco-friendly initiatives in increasing competitiveness of SMEs particularly in emerging economies. Eco-efficiency helps the SMEs to deliver competitively priced products while also reducing environmental impact

and resource cost (Verdolini et al., 2018). However, opacity in the market for ecofriendly solutions makes it difficult for financial markets to either identify or move
resources to serve such markets (Verdolini et al., 2018). There is a business case for using
eco-friendly SMEs and opportunity for business differentiation and competitive
advantage. In addition, there should be a focus on how to incentivize the private sector to
support SMEs as the current structures revolve around government initiatives largely.
Government policies should target improving infrastructural services especially in less
developed economies to provide the much-needed support to SMEs (Ndiaye et al., 2018).
SMEs can overcome size and scale constraints by developing differentiated products that
deliver value such that customers pay a premium, the right strategy requires creativity
and continuous innovation.

Small and Medium Enterprises and Innovation

By differentiating their product and service offering, SMEs can compete effectively and against larger companies. Innovation is the means by which differentiation can be achieved. Innovation involves deploying novel products, markets, and services, exploiting and establishing new management systems and taking advantage of opportunities in a manner that creates additional value to customers (Murthy, 2017; Saeed et al., 2015). Innovation is the means through which organizations develop new or improved products that position them ahead of their peers (Narcizo et al., 2017). Soto-Acosta et al. (2018) conducted a quantitative study of 3,000 manufacturing SMEs in Spain. They noted that the most successful firms are the ones that are able to balance explorative and exploitative innovation and described this balance as ambidexterity.

While explorative innovation focuses on achieving radical new innovation, exploitative innovation focuses on incremental innovation with firms focusing on making small changes or improvements to existing products and or services. Fixson and Marion (2016) shared a case study of a company called Quirky that adopted crowd sourcing as its business model in its attempts to foster innovation. However, the company, Quirky did not achieve radical innovation as a lot of its products were simply enhancements of existing ones, furthermore, its structure resulted in increasing delivery time and costs (Fixson & Marion, 2016). It is therefore important for SMEs to examine the nature of their relationships as well as business structure to ensure that it supports their overall business objectives. In a study of 238 manufacturing companies from eight countries, Abdallah et al. (2019), listed lean management (LM) and Innovation as two popular strategies that companies that wish to remain competitive should employ. They defined innovation within the context of innovation orientation (IO) and innovation performance. Whereas, an innovation orientation is an organizational culture that encourages learning and risk taking as well as being open to new ideas, innovation performance on the other hand focuses on the organizational ability to execute successfully any new ideas generated in the innovation process. How firm strategy, factor conditions, and structure support growth is consistent with Porter's (1991) dynamic theory of strategy. As radical innovation is not something that is achievable every day, SMEs should learn to maximize their resources and capabilities to make existing products better and thus extract additional value from them while also working to bring new products to the market that will place them ahead of competitors. Lean management is very relevant to SMEs given

that their cost structure is usually higher relative to larger firms, technology focus and or shared services and outsourcing can bring about cost savings. When organizational learning is emphasized and documented, the execution ability of the firm should be greatly enhanced, this is needed to exploit new opportunities in a timely manner.

Innovation can only thrive when a company has in place a framework for initiating and managing the process otherwise there will be a lack of structure and no significant value will accrue on a continuous basis (Murthy, 2017; O'Dwyer & Gilmore, 2019). Innovation can thus be described as a process rather than an event, it requires that there be a concerted plan in place to achieve a revolutionary outcome and that a firm puts in place the right combination of organizational resources to ensure that the firm continues to innovate. Those engaged in the innovation process must be ready for failure and also be able to take a long-term view of success (Chemmanur & Tian (2018). Innovation is usually in response to changes in a firm's external environment either by way of market saturation or in response to a threat to market share (Pavlov, 2017). Eggers and Kaul (2016) observed that firms that are doing well seem less likely to innovate while loss of market share is a trigger to consider making changes that might lead to innovation. From a research that drew on data from 37 industrial enterprises, Pavlov (2017) concluded that small and micro enterprises are less likely to develop innovation strategies when compared to larger or medium sized firms but more likely to do better when strong research units are not required for innovation. Innovation thus thrives as a result of volatility, SMEs should evolve strategies looking at the demand conditions, the nature of competition, and how to exploit their internal resources to achieve the best

result. By recognizing that change is constant, the business owner can be better poised to keep seeking how to remain different by bringing new products to the market.

As innovation is driven by changes in the company's external environment, it is important to understand the factors that bring about the changes and know how to respond appropriately. VUCA (volatility, uncertainty, complexity, and ambiguity) perform the dual role of driving disruptive innovation and a consequence of disruptive innovation (Frynas et al., 2018; Millar et al., 2018). Millar et al. noted the need for both product and management innovation in response to technological changes in the operating environment. Consequently, business leaders and managers should focus on radical departures from traditional ways of doing business while change adaptation should become a key requirement of business leaders (Millar et al., 2018). SMEs should pay particular attention to their performance management and reward structures to engender creativity and risk taking behaviour. Inspiring the people that make innovation happen involves appealing to emotional connections by demonstrating the social impact of key innovation activities and creating positive social impact (Brown & Anthony, 2011). Rose et al., (2016) conducted a study in the Silicon Fen area in Cambridge, England of SME technology companies and concluded that the key innovation drivers were knowledge, innovation management, and team process. Tuomos et al., (2016) reviewed literature on the role of service and organizational design games (SDGs) on innovation and concluded that SDGs offer flexibility for participants to present their views and share knowledge in a comfortable atmosphere. SMEs can simulate games for their staff and customers to enhance creativity and innovation thinking.

Digitalization

Digital technology provides opportunity for SMEs to compete effectively through overcoming seeming disadvantages and broadening market scope and product innovation. Digitalization enables companies to reach global markets; however, these companies must be able to build long term customer relationships as global customers have better access to information and seek to optimize cost (Koehn, 2018). Digital technology is positively correlated to both information quality and service convenience (Foroudi et al., 2017). In seeking to gain competitive advantage through technology adoption, firms that are proactive should self-disrupt by challenging their own value offerings and business proposition before rivals or new entrants attack (Koehn, 2018). B2B firms are able to engage with their customers better than B2C firms because they offer more individualized and personalized services (Johnson et al., 2018). While it may seem difficult for B2C firms to offer personalized services given the number of customers that they might have, with technology tools, firms can customize their services at relatively lower cost. Electronic commerce facilitates the buying and selling process as well as information exchange (Alsaad et al., 2017). Knowing which platforms to use is important and enhances the co-creation process with customers and might result in production of more innovative products and or services (Hardwick & Anderson, 2019; Iršič, 2017). By using ecommerce platforms, both buyers and sellers benefit in terms of cost reduction, transparent pricing, as well as being able to compare product offerings (Djelassi & Decoopman, 2016; Wang & Benaroch, 2004). The benefits of deploying digital technology are varied, each business should however evaluate its objectives and use

technology to enhance product development, communication, information, and other business benefits. Technology should be integrated into the business structure and not as a stand-alone so that every part of the business can maximize its functionality.

A firms' innovation ability using digital technologies is positively correlated with its competitiveness, as both customers and users bring knowledge to the innovation process (Abrell et al., 2016; Foroudi et al., 2017). Digital technology influences SME growth as those SMEs that utilize digital technology gain deeper insights about consumer behaviour which they can leverage to develop differentiated products and value offerings (Foroudi et al., 2017). Value co-creation within a firm's ecosystem affects its competitiveness, strategy deployment, and innovation ability (Kohtamäki & Rajala, 2016; Tchuta & Xie, 2007). Value exchange includes both economic and social exchange and requires that the beneficiary is both willing and able to participate in the exchange process (Kohtamäki & Rajala, 2016). Social exchange theory is grounded in the principle of reciprocity, that individuals respond to actions of an economic and social nature based on how they perceive the initial actions of the other party (Harden et al., 2018). Consequently, those SMEs that seek to engage with their customers in co-creating value must build a reputation of being trustworthy as the level of customer involvement will depend on their perception of the firm. To demonstrate trustworthiness, business owners should be consistent in ensuring that products meet the intended use. Relationship building strategies such as loyalty and reward programs can also deepen buyer commitment. In a mixed methods study of 208 users of sharing economy platforms, Akhmedova et al. (2020) proposed three strategies to achieve loyalty, (a) website

organization, (b) platform responsiveness and reliability, and (c) customer interaction with the peer service provider. They also noted that specific customer segments, millenials versus baby boomers, and male versus female respond in different ways to the various strategies. As part of measures to build loyalty, ecommerce platforms often build recommender systems which enable their customers make recommendation about products, implicit in recommending a product is loyalty and trust (Abumalloh et al., 2020). Abumalloh et al. established a direct relationship between website quality and customer satisfaction and between satisfaction and customer loyalty. The relationship between buyer and seller should be mutually beneficial and built on trust (Brito & Miguel, 2017; Millar et al., 2018). The implications of how to build customer loyalty to business owners is that they should focus on customer experience all through the customer journey starting from pre- purchase to after sales service.

Some of the most important considerations to buyers are price, quality, reliability of delivery times, and innovation capability (Gummesson, 2014). As a result, a seller must seek to ensure that product performance is consistent with brand promise, consistency between experience and expectation allows the seller to charge a premium and gain competitive advantage over its peers (Chang et al., 2018). In defining a brand's value proposition, a firm must address product availability, customer service, product customization, and relationship building activities (Bhattacharya & Datta, 2010). The focus should be for sellers to shorten product delivery, turnaround time, and a differentiated customer experience (Tan et al., 2012). Moosmayer et al. (2016) opined that since the price at which goods and services are exchanged determines business

performance, sellers must be able to demonstrate that their pricing decisions have factored in a long-term view of customer relationship. Understanding what customers seek to achieve when buying a product is important to developing the right value offering (Christensen et al., 2016). Using tools such as ethnography can help businesses understand customers better and thus to segment customers based on shared values with product offerings capturing what customers are willing and able to buy (Meyer et al., 2018). While exploring digital technologies, there is a need to consider and address ethical considerations arising from its use such as boundaries, privacy, transparency, and consent (Paulus et al., 2017). This implies that customers must feel that their information is protected from unauthorized access and that information about products are fully disclosed including any potential risks from using a product.

Innovation Structure

Different innovation systems exit, product, service, and business model (BM) innovation, while each can yield competitive advantage, there has not been as much focus on business model innovation until recently. In order to achieve business model innovation, companies should ask certain critical questions and use responses to craft an alternative innovative business model to what currently exists in the company. While there is agreement about the relevance of business model to firm performance, there has been a lack of clarity regarding how to achieve it (Wahyono, 2018). Wahyono reviewed 219 peer-reviewed articles that discussed the subject and concluded that the questions that companies should ask include: (a) the 'why' question regarding the unique value proposition that the company wishes to offer, (b) the 'what' question regarding the

operational value of the business and how to derive competitive advantage from it, (c) the 'who' question representing human capital and how to harness the skills and capabilities of the members of the organization to deliver superior returns, and (d) the 'how' question which revolves around capturing value by being able to derive financial benefits from the proposed changes to the company's business model. Bouwman et al. (2019) conducted a cross sectional mixed study research involving 321 European SMEs from 12 countries to determine if those SMEs that adopted digital transformation performed better if they deployed more resources for BM and strategy implementation. Bouwman et al focused on those SMEs that had implemented a change to their business model within twentyfour months of the study date and that had used social media and big data to transform how they created value for the firm and the customer. From the findings, those SMEs that had deployed resources to change their business model performed better than those that did not. Brink (2017a) conducted a qualitative in-depth case study of four B2B SMEs in the plastic production industry in Denmark to explore how SMEs adoption of social media can enhance innovation and growth. Brink concluded that the SME managers in the B2B context that effectively utilized social media and web 2.0 enhanced business performance by enabling open business model innovation and integrated central and distributed leadership. Rispal and Servantie (2017) discussed how business models served as a basis for creating and delivering value and as a result became the company's source of competitive value. A successful business model thus answers the 'how' question in terms of being able to derive superior financial performance from the operating structure of the business. By integrating business model into product and or

service innovation, SMEs might become large companies very quickly and increase their market share.

Using a Platform Strategy for Growth

A platform allows external parties to connect with a company to co-create, evolution of internet-based services therefore offers increased opportunities to expand reach and share ideas beyond national boundaries. The increasing number of internet and mobile phone users has resulted in opportunities to leverage groups to expand market reach, reduce transaction costs and to receive and send information and increased transparency (Akhmedova et al., 2020). Von Hoffen et al. (2018) emphasized co-innovation through platforms enabled by social media to include sharing economy platforms such as Airbnb. Unlike the traditional innovation platforms which include two parties- businesses and customers, sharing economy platforms include three parties, the platform provider, the peer consumer, and the peer provider (Von Hoffen et al., 2018). To build trust, both peer consumer and peer provider are encouraged to share their experiences, this information is then made available to intending consumers and providers in the form of reviews, comments, and ratings and help foster quality service and trust (Von Hoffen et al., 2018).

By adopting a platform strategy, mobile payments and online financial services are some of the areas that are being affected as enterprises collaborate with external actors to share ideas and deliver compelling value-added services (Hsieh & Wu, 2019). Adopting an open innovation (OI) approach is a way for SMEs to leverage their networks to deliver superior value. The benefits of OI include cost reduction, time to market, as

well as increased sales and business performance as SMEs can benefit from strategic partnerships (Brink, 2017b; Verbano et al., 2015). Uhlaner et al. (2013) affirmed that external sourcing results in sales growth from opportunities in leveraging relationships to achieve a competitive advantage. Lichtenthaler (2016) also concurred that OI enables business growth when deployed as a process but added that finding the right partner is important to achieving the potential gains. Lichtenthaler concluded that more firms succeed when they pursue internal innovation activities instead of when they collaborate. OI involves innovation derived from collaboration with external parties, in contrast, closed innovation results from internal research and development efforts of the firm (Greco et al., 2016). Piva et al. (2012) conducted a study on open source software (OSS) and its impact on innovation in entrepreneurship ventures in the software industry. Piva et al. listed three limitations that software entrepreneurship companies face when starting out, these include: (a) financial capabilities, (b) internal competencies, and (c) complementary assets. Collaborating with OSS companies will reduce time to market and cost of production thus making it easier for smaller firms to compete (Piva et al., 2012). Potential partners whether businesses or individuals should have a history of succeeding as this demonstrates that a likely partnership would yield the expected results. Serial innovators are those unique individuals that have brought multiple breakthrough ideas to the market (Vojak et al., 2012). When looking to share resources, businesses should focus on alignment and complementarity so that the combined resources translate into additional value both to the business and to the customers hence the focus on strategic partnerships. When a business focuses on only its own internal capabilities, it limits its

opportunities for knowledge and resource utilization to its ability to deploy capital and knowledge creation which might not necessarily be readily available.

Social Media

Social media plays the dual role of serving as a service platform and to aid expanding products and service offering (Sarmah et al., 2018). Social media attitude and use affects sales peoples' social skills and selling performance (Gáti et al., 2018). Lashgari et al. (2018) noted that social media strategy must be multilayered and that businesses should make their intended approach the foundation for whatever strategy they employ. Mobile social media can be utilized as a business tool, its benefits include flexible communication, employee mobility, improved financial performance, and cost reduction (Bolat et al., 2016). Social media can be a source of competitive advantage when properly utilized. In the case of SMEs, the cost reduction that social media offers for marketing communication is an opportunity not only to expand market reach but also to be able to compete with larger firms. The use of corporate brands, functional and emotional appeal as well as information search cues makes messages more popular within B2B versus B2C markets. Businesses should consider their target market when deciding on which social media platform as well as the communication approach to employ in view of customer responses based on the customer type. When used as a support tool for engaging customers, social media tools can result in more positive customer experiences and also provide deeper insights into consumer behaviour (Gáti et al., 2018; Itani et al., 2017). The sales person's learning orientation and perception about

the usefulness of social media impacts adoption of social media to improve sales (Itani et al., 2017).

Those SMEs that seek a better performance by taking advantage of social media to grow sales should invest in staff education and also integrate social media use into their daily operations. Social media platforms such as Facebook, Instagram, and twitter provide opportunities to understand how technology can aid co-creative service innovation (Sarmah et al., 2018). New technologies like social media can provide businesses the opportunity to sustain growth and to deliver superior value (Barlatier & Josserand, 2018). Barlatier and Josserand also pointed out that social media has not only changed the ways people and organizations communicate but by properly harnessing its use, a business can integrate social media into its corporate strategy. Roblek et al. (2019) explored the role of smart technologies (ST) in identifying and delivering new products and services that improve quality of life and lead to the creation of new jobs, processes, competencies, and forms of collaboration. However, if not properly utilized, ST can be an impediment while its use also raises new ethical concerns around privacy and intellectual property use (Roblek et al., 2019). Innovation diffuses through social networks with those involved in the process adapting to the changes along the way especially in professional settings (Currie & Spyridonidis, 2018). The attitudes and capacity of a firm's leadership in relation to how innovation reflects in the culture and processes of the organization is therefore very critical to fostering innovative behaviour. However, it is important to reflect on how to resolve conflict within the leadership and how to achieve cohesion

between different departments within the organization about the right social media strategy so that there is consistency in what it communicates to customers.

Roberts and Piller (2016) suggested that by integrating social media into every stage of the innovation process, a business can achieve the synergy between innovation and social media. Unlike traditional media, social media offers two-way communication as both businesses and customers can interact and engage with each other (Xiong et al., 2018). Information and communications technologies thus enable businesses to partner with both customers and none customers in the ideation, communication, and execution of new products and services (Abhari et al., 2017). The framework for successful social media strategy in the innovation process incudes three stages; exploring, co-creating, and communicating (Abhari et al., 2017; Roberts & Piller, 2016). Exploring involves incorporating data analytics, machine learning, and using special user forums to generate innovative ideas (Abhari et al., 2017). Secondly, engaging with both users and non-users of a company's products improves product quality. Finally, knowing which platforms to use and how to communicate enhances brand awareness and social media acceptance. SMEs that exploit social media can bridge funding and resource constraints by leveraging partnerships, access, and information availability (Bocconcelli et al., 2017). SMEs should use social media as a support resource in addition to traditional channels such as email and telephone in the sales process. Rather than adopt a one size fits all, the approach to maximizing social media is to properly understand the distinctions in customer segment and tailor messages and communication to what customers want. The opportunity to transform data to intuitive decision making also presents the opportunity to tailor

products to address customer needs. Social media provides a means of measuring customer experience and to gain insights into consumer behaviour, this helps to tailor products and service offerings to meet customer needs (Bernard, 2016).

Marketers seek to promote brand awareness because of its impact on sales and share of customer wallet (Swani et al., 2017). Creating brand awareness using social media relies on a proper understanding of each social medium and its appropriateness to the company's business objectives. Businesses that choose to use Facebook for example should focus on promoting brand engagement and sharing rather than on promotional based content, this is because users on this platform relate at the functional and emotional level (Swani et al., 2017). Zolkiewski et al. (2017) emphasized the need for businesses to provide excellent customer experiences as customers are more likely to repeat purchase based on their purchase experience rather than the product features. The implication of user experience as a key influencer of repeat purchases is that companies that are able to refine and improve future experiences can expect to build customer loyalty and retention (Zolkiewski et al., 2017).

Businesses that focus on building long term relationships rather than transactional relationships can use social media to monitor customers and to provide feedback, the internal organizational structure should also support an integrated approach to customer engagement (Cawsey & Rowley, 2016). For SMEs in particular, the right social media strategy can help to improve the ability to compete against larger firms and to scale up without incurring higher cost of operations. Consequently, business owners can establish sustainability practices to improve stakeholder perceptions (Johnson et al., 2018).

SMEs and Entrepreneurial Finance

Various researchers have linked access to finance to SME growth. Abdul Balogun et al. (2017) acknowledged the role of SMEs as vehicles to drive economic growth and observed that lack of access to credit continued to stifle growth opportunities. Financing options include the more traditional debt and equity options and emerging alternatives such as equity crowdfunding, accelerators, venture capital (VC), corporate venture capital (CVC), and angel finance. There are both demand and supply-side considerations that determine how SMEs make financing decisions. Demand side considerations include cultural values that discourage borrowing as well as poor financial knowledge, while supply side considerations have examined ability to access debt from the traditional financial institutions rather than the more sophisticated equity and securitized debt markets (Xiang & Worthington, 2015). Demand side considerations for SME financing decision is linked to the theory of delegated monitoring and rational choice theory while supply side is linked to transaction cost theory and information asymmetry theory (Awunyo-Vitor, 2018). Xiang and Worthington (2015) presented pecking order, tradeoff, and agency cost theories to support demand side considerations. Pecking order theory states that SMEs would rather explore internal financing first in order to maintain control and minimize cost, for trade-off theory, a profitable firm would be more willing to explore external financing and also appreciate the likely tax benefits that accrue from a debt choice over equity while agency cost theory is premised that ownership structure determines external funding decisions with owner controlled businesses more likely to choose internal funding first, then external debt ahead of external equity as a result of the

desire to retain control (Xiang & Worthington, 2015). However, Mutoko and Kapunda (2017) provided a rebuttal to the pecking order theory, they observed that as a firm grows, its financing needs also change and it might still choose debt over equity even where it has enough retained earnings to meet its needs. Survanto and Nasution (2015) looked at financial access based on sharia banking and found lack of adequate collateral as the most significant factor impeding access to finance by SMEs. On the other hand, Mutoko and Kapunda (2017), found that banks unwillingness to lend to SMEs was based on their perception that the sector was riskier based on insufficient information to analyze them. Both demand and supply side considerations can be addressed to improved SMEs access to bank credit. On the demand side, financial training will help to address knowledge gap as well as how to properly evaluate funding decisions so that choices are based on the alternative that fits with the business objective. Cohen (2017) observed that SMEs choose internal financing over debt because of low risk appetite, costs associated with debt, and insufficient knowledge about external financing options. On the supply side, banks should set up SME desks so that they develop frameworks for lending and analyzing financial information related to SMEs. When risk is properly understood, collateral requirements might become less stringent and improve access to bank lending.

Newer sources of equity have emerged beyond internal funding; these sources of equity provide funding for entrepreneurs while allowing them to retain control to varying degrees. Drover et al. (2017) examined various equity financing options including equity crowdfunding, accelerators, venture capital (VC), corporate venture capital (CVC), and angel finance. VC and CVC are usually more suited to medium and larger companies,

and in addition ask for inclusion on the board as well as involvement in the strategic decision making (Drover et al., 2017). In the case of equity crowdfunding, the entrepreneur retains more control because the number of investors is more than in VC, CVC and angel financing; however, the dispersal in ownership poses a risk to corporate governance and the development of innovation capability (Drover et al., 2017). Brown et al. (2018) supported the view that equity crowdfunding is a disruptive new way for raising capital and included other forms of crowdfunding such as rewards, donations, and lending. Conversely, Langley and Leyshon (2017) opined that crowdfunding is not a disruption to traditional banking but rather complementary as investors seek higher returns and also leverage the digital space to connect and share resources in a more efficient manner than was available in the pre-digital economy. Langley and Leyshon (2017) discussed five principal types of crowdfunding; donations, rewards, equity, fixed income, and peer to peer lending.

The inability to meet approval requirements of traditional sources given that startups lack proven financial track record, collateral, and other assets are the key reasons for choosing crowdfunding, banks also seem to prefer to lend to consumers rather than small businesses (Brown et al., 2018; Langley & Leyshon., 2017; Li et al., 2016). The benefits that startups enjoy when choosing equity crowdfunding include the opportunity to validate their business idea and to gain valuable feedback about refining their value proposition (Brown et al., 2018; Li et al., 2016). However, the dispersal of investors often results in cumbersome administrative processes and in reputational risk if the company is unable to raise the total funding requirement (Brown et al., 2018). Brown et al. concluded

that the choice of equity crowdfunding aligned with the pecking order theory as entrepreneurs were able to retain ownership and control of their business as a result of choosing this source of funding. Understanding the advantages and disadvantages of equity crowdfunding helps emerging entrepreneurs to make informed decisions when considering this source of finance.

In an auto-ethnographic study, Scott (2015) described crowdfunding as fan-ancing because the crowds provide both financial backing and emotional support to the project owner. Backers have expectations which include more involvement and exchange of ideas while project owners seek to retain as much control over the outcome while also being conscious that the backers might withdraw from future projects if not satisfied with the current outcome (Scott, 2015). The likely conflict in roles and expectations of both backers and project owners might result in tension and compromise which will not necessarily engender the best outcome for a project. The fact that single contributions are usually small compared to those from traditional funding sources means that the risk impact to the providers of capital is relatively low (Lehner et al., 2015). For entrepreneurs to remain in business, they must both grow and be profitable. Entrepreneurs that have failed and launched new businesses that are then successful are referred to as serial entrepreneurs (Hsu et al., 2017). The lessons learned from failing are just as important to ensuring subsequent success as lessons learned from being successful (Atsan, 2016). Hsu et al. (2017) stated that self-efficacy theory and prospect theory are the two most important theories that underpin the study of success and failure of entrepreneurs.

Self-efficacy theory is centered on the belief that being successful in one venture is a motivator to establish new ventures while failure is a de-motivator especially when the entrepreneur believes that the failure was self-induced (Hsu et al., 2017). Proponents of prospect theory believe that business failure actually increases risk taking behavior of the entrepreneur in the hope of recouping earlier losses (Hsu et al., 2017). Behling and Lenzi (2019) concluded that being strategic distinguishes between successful and unsuccessful entrepreneurs as successful entrepreneurs exhibit certain competencies that are the source of their competitive advantage. The ability to recognize and exploit market opportunities is critical to the entrepreneur's ability to gain and sustain a competitive advantage relative to other players in a business segment (Nuvolari et al., 2018). Both personal and organizational competencies must be deployed in an integrated manner for the business to succeed. SME owners should develop the right competencies that support innovation in order to be able to compete especially as competition has moved beyond physical boundaries (Mohsin et al., 2017). The inability of novice entrepreneurs to gain legitimacy because of their newness is a key limiting factor in gaining access to much needed resources that they need to grow and sustain their business (Fisher et al., 2016). As a result, business owners should remain adaptable and flexible to address the legitimacy requirements in the evolution of the business life cycle in order to access the resources required for growth (Fisher et al., 2016).

One of the future trends that might affect entrepreneurship involves a technology driven by crypto currencies, this has the potential to change the nature of exchanges and financial intermediation. For example, a consortium of companies including Facebook,

PayPal, Spotify, as well as MasterCard came together to form a company called 'Calibra' and created a digital currency called 'Libra', the currency is built on blockchain technology and has the potential to bring 1.7 billion people into formal financial services (Roberts, 2019). Such initiatives as Calibra may likely result in an expansion in the number of entrepreneurs and the ability to carry out financial transactions beyond national borders thus expanding market opportunities. Knowledge transfer and mentoring are some of the important resources that entrepreneurs need to succeed, incubators provide these resources and thus the critical support for new businesses, this increases their chances of survival (Albort-Morant & Oghazi, 2016). Beyond looking at the role of entrepreneurs and innovation in creating positive growth, Galindo and Mendez-Picazo (2013) included the role of monetary institutions and the social climate. Monetary institutions are able to provide financial resources while society supports the efforts of the entrepreneur by responding positively to introduction of new products (Galindo & Mendez-Picazo, 2013). Koudal and Coleman (2005) emphasized that companies must continue to make investments in innovation in order to ensure continuous growth. Koudal and Coleman (2005) noted that 70% of current sales will be obsolete in three years with larger companies taking on a higher market share. Smaller companies must therefore shorten time to market and seek to drive profitability from new products if they are to compete with larger businesses.

Branding and SMEs

As SMEs seek to grow, customer perception can either accelerate or inhibit their growth objectives, this reinforces the importance of creating favourable impressions with

customers. Brands are valuable intangible assets for both small and large organizations because they yield benefits that drive relationships between a firm, its owners, customers, and other stakeholders (Centeno et al., 2019; Osakwe et al., 2016; Törmälä & Saraniemi, 2018). Odoom et al. (2017) acknowledged the positive role that branding plays in SME performance but also pointed out that insufficient financing, lack of technical competence, and knowledge of branding limit SMEs from deploying branding to drive business performance. In a study of SMEs in the Nigerian financial services sector, Osakwe et al. (2016) found that the combination of brand orientation (BO) and market sensing capability have a positive impact on creating a strong brand and overall profitability. Osakwe et al. described BO as organizational frame of mind that recognizes the role of the brand in business performance, and market sensing capability as the firm's ability to properly situate its actions within the context of the external environment by deploying resources to maximize market opportunities. The complementarity of BO and market sensing capability supports Porter's dynamic theory of strategy within the context of firm strategy, demand conditions, and factor conditions. To benefit from branding, SMEs should create a positive impression with customers about their products and or services, involve their staff and situate branding within the context of the local environment (Osakwe et al., 2016). It is important that the brand promise be consistent with actual customer experience as otherwise customers might feel that the firm has broken their trust. Once there are trust issues, it would be difficult to grow profitability as customers will likely reduce purchase or stop purchasing the firm's products. The principal objective of creating a brand is to build and reinforce mutual trust (Shieh et al.,

2016). Similarly, Mohammad (2012) noted that not only does a brand influence purchase decision, it is also a key construct in arriving at the value of the organization in the competitive environment.

Centeno et al. (2019) emphasized that SMEs often develop brand strategies using their intuition rather than rational metrics, as a result, branding may reflect the attributes of the owner manager instead of aligning with consumer preferences, in such instances, the SME does not achieve differentiation, positioning and reputation in the market place. In a qualitative study involving technology SMEs, Neuvonen (2016) noted the importance of an effective brand strategy to achieving profitable performance and competitive advantage, brand strategy includes both brand equity and strategy. However, for branding to result in a competitive advantage, it must have four attributes; rarity, value, be inimitable, and difficult to substitute (Neuvonen, 2016), this corroborates Barney (1991) on the requirements for achieving competitive advantage from internal resources as the brand is an intangible internal resource. To build and manage brand equity, managers must engage in a marketing process involving: (a) identifying and establishing brand positioning, (b) planning and implementing marketing programs, (c) measuring and interpreting brand performance, and (d) growing and sustaining brand equity (Neuvonen, 2016). SME owner-managers should use their knowledge about their consumers to develop a brand identity that resonates with consumers. Given their limited technical knowledge about branding, SME owners should consult brand specialists or engage in collaborations and seek coaching as strategies to enhance their knowledge about branding and how to position their brands. SMEs should also have a documented

and dynamic process for defining and possibly redefining their brand as the business evolves and consumer tastes and preferences also develop.

In a qualitative study of SMEs in Taiwan, Shieh et al. (2016) explored the role of brand name, brand logo, brand image, and brand communication in shaping brand development; these four elements must reinforce and complement one another for the business to develop and sustain a successful brand. Brand name should distinguish and evoke positive emotions from customers and is a pointer to how a brand is perceived in the competitive environment (Ailawadi & Keller, 2004; Pappu & Quester, 2008). A logo is the visual image that aids recognition of a firm, its product or service and helps to differentiate a brand, it should thus be unique and memorable (Sakici & Ayan, 2012). From a business standpoint, the right brand image helps to shape market positioning and serves as a distinction from other brands (Hall, 2002). Communication is enhanced when it is consistent and integrated with the brand name, image, and logo thus projecting a message that supports value creation. The objective of the right brand communication is to influence purchase behaviour of both new and existing customers. SMEs can enhance their brand equity by recognizing that their brand is an asset albeit an intangible one but with tangible outcomes when used strategically to create the right impression so that customers become attached to the brand and the promise it represents. There should be a deliberate branding strategy and needed resources must be committed to branding. This comes from recognizing that branding is not a luxury but part of organizational strategy for differentiating from competitors and thus achieving competitive advantage.

As a way to reduce resource limitations, achieve scale and grow their business, SMEs in emerging markets often look to internationalization. SMEs from emerging countries already operate under economic and political uncertainties, this fuels dynamic capabilities as they must become adept at strategies that will result in successful performance outcome (Tiwari et al., 2016). Internationalization is a way for SMEs to gain legitimacy and market opportunities as they have to compete at a global level, the right branding can help them in achieving acceptance and overcoming liability of newness (Tiwari et al., 2016). In seeking to position their brands, SMEs should engage with their customers as both can derive better value when they work together to co-create their brand identity (Millspaugh & Kent, 2016). Within the international markets, cocreating with customers is even more relevant as the SMEs will gain deeper and quicker insights into what customers want, this ameliorates their newness and consequent gap in understanding the specific consumer tastes and preferences in the various international markets that they seek to play in. Additionally, SMEs can then map their strategies to maximize opportunities given factor conditions, demand, and the nature of competition within each specific market. Millspaugh and Kent (2016) affirmed that cocreating with customers in the branding process helps SMEs to connect with consumers and also to become entrenched in their chosen industry. Cocreation is in recognition of the role of customers as partners in the process of building brand equity (Boyle, 2007; Choo et al., 2012).

SMEs, Leadership, and Ownership

The leadership of an organization is responsible for decision making including strategy formulation and resource utilization, for SMEs, ownership and leadership are often combined. The growth capabilities of SMEs are shaped by the behaviour of leadership and management activities combined (Koryak et al., 2015). Leadership is the capacity to motivate others to do that which is ordinarily beyond that person's capacity (Vroom & Jago, 2007). McCleskey (2014) reviewed the evolution of leadership theory from 1869 to 2014 and concluded that focus has shifted from the person of the leader to examining the behaviors that a good leader demonstrates. In order to motivate therefore, leaders apply various forms of incentives, ranging from threats, rewards, inspiration, and reasoning (Vroom & Jago, 2007). Various leadership styles have been brought forward such as situational, transactional, and transformational leadership (McCleskey, 2014; Sahoo & Dash, 2017; Vroom & Jago, 2007). A leader must first understand followers to be able to tailor incentives to the objective as well as the specific personality of each follower. Furthermore, the leader cannot get a follower to do better without having a trusting relationship. Transformational leaders work with people to build trust, they also serve as role models and appeal to the emotions of their team in order to get their buy in (Northouse, 2016). Leadership styles evolve and are context driven as the same leader might behave in different ways depending on various factors. McCleskey (2014) opined that situational leadership theory depends on the situation at hand and the leader's reading of what is required to get the desired outcome. As leaders are not infallible, a wrong reading of the situation can affect the behaviour of the leader as well as the actual

outcome. In addition, there is need to consider that followers could also read a situation incorrectly or might be affected by external factors with the result that there is a variance between planned action and actual outcome. Transactional leaders focus on tasks rather than relationships, this results in building resentment and distrust (McCleskey, 2014). Leaders have a testing period during which they create the opportunity for their subordinates to take on challenges and show competence, the outcome is that they then build closer relationships with those subordinates that prove themselves (Hsiung & Bolino, 2018). A testing period assumes that people do not evolve as they grow in their respective roles, it also suggests that performance should be consistent and cannot be impacted either negatively or positively by external factors.

The leader controls organizational assets and utilization of resources, where distribution is based on how close a person is to the leaders, the organization will not achieve the best outcomes (Rus et al., 2012). The result is likely low employee morale which can lead to reduced productivity and negatively impact the performance of the organization. Hsiung and Bolino (2018) counselled against this perceived favoritism of one group or persons over another but added that a good manager should not treat all employees the same way but rather on the basis of their productivity. When a reward system is merit driven, the organization would have the best opportunity to achieve its objectives as members of the organization can see clearly the desired behaviour. Reward power has a weak positive impact on changing subordinates' outcomes (Schriesheim et al., 1991). Northouse (2016) noted that whereas a leader might accomplish more working with an in-group rather than an out-group, a leader should instead focus on getting

everyone to be in the in-group. Leaders should rise above the level of playing favourites and build an all-inclusive team, in this way, more will be achieved as more people are productive. Just as countries have their culture, organizations do too, leaders that understand how culture shapes behaviour and by extension work productivity will deliver better performance (G. E. Fusch et al., 2016). Since culture is learned, it can also be shaped and unlearned, leaders should seek to understand the underlying cultural beliefs and values that team members show so that they can redirect where needed to achieve the desired behaviour

Jenkins and Delbridge (2013) conducted a qualitative study of two extreme cases to highlight how contextual variables either enable or impede management efforts at employee engagement. From the study, there were two firms with one representing a hard approach and the other a soft approach to employee engagement. Jenkins and Delbridge concluded that when managers adopt a soft approach, employees are more engaged, they listed drivers of engagement as: (a) organizational values, (b) job features, (c) organizational support, (d) social relations, (e) employee voice, and (f) organizational integrity. Rather than an either-or approach, leaders should consider the context when choosing the appropriate leadership style. As organizations evolve, the members build history and develop a culture based on their experiences, the right leadership style should reflect the organization cultural. Runyan and Covin (2019) described small business orientation (SBO) as a set of values that managers of a business have that results in positive attitudes towards the business and its success beyond financial benefits that the manager might enjoy. The outcome of managers demonstrating SBO is positive firm

reputation, stakeholder loyalty, organizational robustness, and firm self-identity (Runyan & Covin, 2019). SME owners should work to foster a sense of ownership among the members of the organization as this can create sustainable value from employees going beyond what is expected to contribute to the success of the organization.

Opportunities and Challenges

The nature of competition is changing in response to changes in the environment, this presents both opportunities and challenges depending on how a business responds. Simply recognizing an opportunity will not lead to superior performance without SMEs taking the required action to exploit the recognized opportunity (Guo et al., 2017). Action involves organizing the structure of the business and leveraging organizational resources, unfortunately because SMEs are often resource constrained, they do not always benefit from opportunities. Business model innovation (BMI) addresses the gap that SMEs may have in exploiting opportunities as it represents how SMEs can implement an organizational structure to capture and deliver value in a unique manner (Guo et al., 2017). Hales and Mclarney (2017) described how Uber's strategic choices including its business model created a competitive advantage for it despite operating in the mature established taxi segment of the transportation industry. Uber deployed a hybrid strategy of both cost leadership and product differentiation and was thus able to create and sustain a competitive advantage over the well establish players that had dominated this market segment (Hales & Mclarney, 2017; Pertusa-Ortega et al., 2009).

Whereas Porter (1985) described two approaches to achieving competitive advantage and presented an either-or option, by adopting a combination, business owners

can achieve even better outcomes resulting in being able to sustain their advantage (Pertusa-Ortega et al., 2009). There is agreement that a firm that engages in each strategy of cost leadership and product differentiation but fails to succeed in either is stuck in the middle (Hales & Mclarney, 2017; Pertusa-Ortega et al., 2009; Porter, 1985). Such companies will not attain market leadership. SMEs should be very deliberate about what strategy they wish to pursue especially given often limited resources, by deploying technology, they can enhance their ability to achieve scale and increase market share. Digitalization has transformed the way the world works by addressing three key areas: (a) transforming data into information that can be used to make better decisions from big data, (b) the way people interact, these interactions include between businesses and individuals in different combination resulting in speed, ease, and depth of communication, through systems such as email, chats and social media, and (c) digitalization resulting in changes in organizational systems, processes, and business models (North et al., 2020). Big data provides business intelligence and analytics resulting in better insights into customer needs and preferences as well as opportunities (Del Vecchio et al., 2017).

SMEs need the right partners to be able to optimize their resources and capabilities given their limited resources, these partners would bring not only opportunities to reach further and deeper but also reduce risk from shared resources (Klimczak et al., 2017). Examples abound in various literature about the impact of technology, digitalization, and partnerships and collaboration on business performance, deploying the right strategy through using these tools results in better performance. Van

Alstyne et al. (2016) emphasized that while platforms and technology have been in existence for years, they are; nevertheless, being deployed newly as a strategic tool to position businesses for better performance. Koehn (2018) noted that despite the need to adopt digital strategies in the marketing and sales process, only 30% of German companies had moved towards adoption of digital transformation. Within Nigeria and other developing countries, technology adoption has remained low despite its recognition as a business enabler (Okundaye et al., 2019). Rahayu and Day (2015) identified a combination of internal and external inhibitors to SME adoption of technology in emerging countries. Internal inhibitors include lack of knowledge and strategy as well as inadequate financial capability while external inhibitors include infrastructural limitations such as access to power and reliable internet connection (Rahayu & Day, 2015). In order to benefit from the advantages that technology use offers, SMEs can address internal limitations by training and integrating technology use into their business processes to harness opportunity for product innovation. External limitations might have to be addressed at the policy level with the respective governments investing in infrastructure or by encouraging private sector initiatives that support growth in the access to technology.

Those that have successfully deployed technology and operated a shared and collaborative structure as their underlying strategy to deliver unique value include companies like Alibaba, Airbnb, and Uber (Van Alstyne et al., 2016). Their success stories validate Porter's (1991) dynamic theory of strategy as a framework for developing and sustaining business growth. The dynamic environment has shifted from ownership to

access, assets that meet the characteristics are not those owned but the network of shared assets, competition is also more dynamic in a platform world exemplified by such companies as Uber. New factors also come into play within the new shared economy such as network effects (Van Alstyne et al., 2016). The result of network effects is that more customers congregate to a particular business because of the presence of other customers that share similar characteristics. A company's pool of customers then becomes a source of competitive advantage as it might be difficult for other competitors to achieve scale. Nevertheless, this only happens when the company recognizes the importance of its customers and takes concrete steps to ensure good customer experience. Consequently, the new ways of competing present better opportunities to integrate both internal and external capabilities to maximize market opportunities and deliver sustainable value to customers.

New ways of competing include disrupting the market and creating new markets. Kim and Mauborgne (2005) advocated a shift from competing based on existing industry conditions (red oceans) to creating new and therefore uncontested markets (blue ocean). In this way, a business owner creates new ways of competing and is not limited by existing boundaries. Koudal and Coleman (2005) observed that 70% of sales would be obsolete in three years with larger businesses taking on increased share of the market. SMEs would therefore need to be at the fore front of creating new products and services to remain competitive. When developing new markets, Teixeira and Brown (2016) shared four key imperatives to developing the right strategy when adopting a blue ocean strategy: (a) think like a customer, (b) create a better experience, (c) sequencing,

(choosing the right place and time) is critical, and, (d) scaling early adopters. Thinking like a customer means understanding what the customer wants and what gaps exits in the market. From an understanding of what the customer wants, the business should then provide a superior experience, this means both doing things better and doing better things. Timing can make the difference and so it is important to position for achieving the maximum outcome, doing background research will help to understand the environment better. Finally, growth can only result from achieving scale from being able to build the business to reach more people and thus sell more. Salavou (2015) concluded that competitive strategy resulting from achieving a cost and product differentiation while focusing on bespoke proposition to various market segments will yield better performance relative to peers. SMEs should invest in research to understand the market and how to effectively integrate both internal resources and external environmental opportunities to achieve increased sales.

Transition

Section 1 included the research question which was, the strategies that some retail SME owners deploy to improve sales. I provided a brief discussion of the conceptual framework which served as the basis for my approach to completing the literature review. I also provided a thorough review of existing literature about my chosen study, this is critical to ensuring that I achieved alignment between the research question, specific business problem, and my eventual findings.

Section 2 contains information about my role as the researcher as this impacts the way that I approached the study. In addition, I discussed how I ensured that research

participants did not come to any harm from participating in the study by addressing ethical requirements. I also included a discussion about how I selected the participants as well as the data collection process. I concluded this section with a discussion about reliability and validity as it is important to maintain the highest standards so that users of the study understand the entire research process.

Section 3 includes a presentation of the findings, how it contributes to professional practice and the implications for social change. I also shared recommendations for additional research, my recommendations, my insights and reflections from undertaking the study as well as my concluding statements.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I provide an explanation of the research purpose and the research process. This section includes information about my chosen methodology as well as the explanation for choosing a multiple case study. I discuss the role of the researcher as well as the population and participants who are the focus of this study. I also discuss my data collection instruments and techniques, how the chosen research method and design helped to answer the research question as well as how I analyzed the data. I conclude Section 2 with a discussion on the reliability and validity of the data.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that some retail SME owners implement to improve their sales. The targeted population was the owners of five successful retail SME companies in Lagos State, Southwest Nigeria, who were the focus of this case study and who have deployed competitive strategies to improve sales. The implication for positive social change is the potential for small business owners to improve business practices. Improved business practices might lead to better performance and quality of life for business owners and their employees and to improved employment. This might result in better contributions to the communities in which they live and work.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher in the data collection process was to ensure that the data collected contains minimal bias and are relevant to address the research question.

Langley and Klag (2019) noted that there is a need to put the presence of the researcher

within context by addressing the conflict between the researcher maintaining distance to demonstrate objectivity, and being involved to demonstrate presence and understanding of the phenomenon being studied. I became interested in the research topic as a result of my interaction with small business owners in the course of my work as a banker. I have not had any interaction with the specific participants who were the subjects of my research, but I am aware of their existence within the research area, which is where I live and work.

Ngozwana (2018) noted that researchers need to address ethical issues involving gaining access, withdrawal from the study, confidentiality, and informed consent. The Belmont Report provided three ethical principles that researchers are required to adopt when conducting research. These principles are respect of persons, beneficence, and justice to ensure that research involving human subjects is conducted in an ethical manner so that participants are not subjected to harm as a result of the research (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects in Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I demonstrated that I did not try to influence the participants by documenting their consent to participate in the study by having them complete an informed consent form prior to commencing data gathering, I also recorded the interviews and conducted member checking so that participants corrected any contextual errors and thus mitigated unintended bias. Ngozwana emphasized the importance of nonverbal communication in the interview process. Consequently, I was attentive to such cues to ensure that I noticed if participants were uncomfortable about any part of the interview. I maintained confidentiality of the research participants by assigning each

participant a pseudonym and ensuring that I did not disclose any information that might lead others to identify who the participants were.

I remained objective throughout the research process to mitigate researcher bias. Langley and Klag (2019) noted that it is impossible for the researcher to be separated from the research process because the researcher is the primary instrument for collecting data. I used reflexivity to maintain objectivity throughout the research process. When conducting interviews, the researcher needs proper planning and the use of an interview protocol; these serve as a guide to engaging in meaningful dialogue between the researcher and the participants (Dempsey et al., 2016). By using a comprehensive interview protocol, the researcher obtains responses from the participants that serve to answer the research question, and to maintain credibility, consistency, and objectivity in the interview process (Arsel, 2017).

Participants

The choice of which participants to choose from is relevant to the research question, and impacts the eventual conclusions that the researcher arrives at.

Consequently, researchers need to be able to explain why the specific participants are the right ones (Kristensen & Ravn, 2015; Reybold et al., 2012). The eligibility criteria for the selection of participants for this study was that the participant owns one of the five successful retail SME companies that have successfully implemented strategies to improve their sales.

Once I selected the participants, I focused on how I might gain access to them not only in terms of physical access but also to establish rapport, as I would not otherwise be

able to get the participants to share their knowledge about the subject of the research. Access occurs at two levels, physical and relational (Cunliffe & Alcadipani, 2016). Consequently, it was important that as the researcher, I gained the confidence of the participants by making them feel comfortable and sharing how they might benefit from the study findings. Kristensen and Ravn (2015) found that it is important to identify where potential participants are likely to be and how to approach them. My strategies for gaining access to the participants included contacting members of my business network and conducting online searches to identify potential participants. In order to gain access, I emphasized my role as a researcher and how the study findings might be of benefit to the members of the organizations in general and to the research participants specifically. Ngozwana (2018) emphasized the role of culture in shaping interactions within the African context as people in positions of authority are often given more attention. My role as a doctoral student, and respected member of the society had a positive impact on gaining access.

Dennis (2014) observed that the quality of interaction between researcher and participant defines the quality of data; as such, researchers must pay attention to both verbal and nonverbal cues from the participants. I shared with participants how they might benefit from the study findings. This made them more willing to share their insights. I established rapport by starting each interview with a general discussion so that the participants became comfortable before I went into the specifics of the research topic. Cunliffe and Alcadipani (2016) reiterated the importance of demonstrating to participants that they would not suffer any harm as a result of the research. I showed care for the

participants and ensured that the environment as well as my voice and demeanor were nonthreatening.

Research Method and Design

The research method and design that a researcher adopts to answer the research question are instrumental to the findings and conclusions reached. Research methods are qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods (Hewlett & Brown, 2018). The research method that a researcher chooses depends on how it aligns with the research topic, data collection methods, and epistemological and ontological beliefs (Bansal, 2018).

Researchers who use case study as their research design explore a phenomenon through the different perspectives that research participants bring to the process of gaining new knowledge about the phenomenon (Rashid et al., 2019).

Research Method

Research methods are qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods (Hewlett & Brown, 2018), and the specific method that a researcher adopts is dependent on the research question (Chu & Ke, 2017). Quantitative researchers ask close-ended questions and test hypotheses (Du Plessis & Krüger, 2018; Haddadi et al., 2017); on the other hand, qualitative researchers employ open-ended questions to uncover hidden insights that enrich the research (Holguín-Veras et al., 2017). Mixed methods research combines quantitative and qualitative research methods and is best suited to answer complex questions when either the qualitative or quantitative method alone is insufficient (Hewlett & Brown, 2018). My objective in conducting this research was to explore the competitive strategies that some retail SME owners implement to improve sales. A qualitative method

was more appropriate than either quantitative or mixed method because I asked openended questions to explore insights that the research participants shared about their strategies for improving sales.

I considered quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research but chose qualitative research method because it was the best method to answer my research question about the strategies that retail SME owners employ to improve sales. In choosing a qualitative research method in this study, I considered that this method would help me to extend knowledge about the research topic and to discover new insights. In qualitative research, participants bring diverse perspectives to the study of a phenomenon, resulting in new findings that enrich the knowledge about a phenomenon (Bansal, 2018; Honan, 2014). Quantitative research involves the use of objective methods based on statistical and numerical data analysis and incorporates variables that the researcher has preselected (Taguchi, 2018). Researchers who use quantitative methods rely on logical reasoning and seek to expand knowledge based on existing and adjacent paths (Bansal, 2018). The quantitative method was not appropriate as I neither tested hypotheses nor employed close ended questions. Mixed method combines quantitative and qualitative methods and is best used when seeking answers to complex research questions that neither the qualitative nor quantitative method alone can address (Hewlett & Brown, 2018). Mixed method researchers use quantitative and qualitative data either concurrently or one after the other (Razali et al., 2016). The benefits of using mixed methods include researcher's ability to gain multiple perspectives and to ask both

confirmatory and exploratory questions at once (Razali et al., 2016). However, mixed method includes the quantitative method, which was not appropriate for my study.

Oualitative researchers use noncomparable observation and ask open-ended questions to elicit deep insights about participants perspectives of the research topic (Gerring, 2017; Holguín-Veras et al., 2017). Participant selection is specific because the focus is on the identified participants' perspectives of the phenomenon that are the subject of the research (Gerring, 2017). Analyzing qualitative data involves exploring context to determine patterns and insights (Bansal, 2018). Qualitative researchers seek to provide understanding about a phenomenon by employing various data collection methods such as interviews, observations, and field notes (Taguchi, 2018). Arsel (2017) opined that interviews enable researchers to capture the experiences and subjective narratives of research participants. Adopting qualitative research offers researchers the opportunity to understand the reasons for the occurrence of a phenomenon through observing the natural context and listening to the perspectives of the various research participants. My research objective was to explore the strategies that some retail SME business owners deploy to improve sales. By adopting a qualitative method in this study, I gathered information from the participants about their perceptions of the strategies that they employed that resulted in their sales growth. The different participants brought varied knowledge to the understanding of the research study. Consequently, qualitative research provided the most appropriate method to the research topic because I asked open-ended questions to explore insights that the research participants shared about their strategies for improving sales.

Research Design

Morse and McEvoy (2014) opined that the choice of research design should be based on the appropriateness of the design to answering the research question. I considered phenomenological, ethnographic, and case study research as likely designs for this study. I chose case study because it was best suited to exploring a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context; the researcher gains rich insights into the phenomenon because the participants bring varied meaning to the phenomenon (Morse & McEvoy, 2014).

Phenomenological researchers focus on the study of lived human experiences for the purpose of understanding how people interpret these experiences (Hailemariam et al., 2017; Van Manen, 2017). Phenomenology offers rich insights into the interpretation of daily living issues (Adams & Van Manen, 2017). Adams and Van Manen noted further that what distinguishes phenomenology research questions is the emphasis on interpreting the occurrence and how the participants responded at the point of occurrence.

Researchers use ethnography to study the cultural and interpersonal interactions of a group (Fusch et al., 2017). Morse (2016) observed that ethnography involves learning about communities and the role of culture in shaping interpersonal interactions over a period of time. This study was neither about cultural or group dynamics nor was it about interpreting the daily lived experiences of people, therefore, neither ethnography nor phenomenology were suitable. Case study design aligned most with the research question of the strategies that some retail SME owners deploy to improve sales.

Researchers use case study when seeking to explore complex phenomenon within a defined context, and by using multiple data sources (Aczel, 2015; Rashid et al., 2019). Ultimately, a research design should serve as the linkage between the data and the research question and thus determines the conclusions reached (Yin, 2018). Morse and McEvoy (2014) justified the use of case study as the most appropriate research design when the study is about a contemporary issue and the researcher has no control over the outcome. Morgan (2018) distinguished between a case and a case study and noted that the ability to derive value from a case or case study is its use value, the use value is what makes it possible for other researchers to be able to transfer the insights gained to similar situations.

In order to ensure that I considered enough sources of data to enrich the quality of the research and to achieve credibility, I used multiple sources of data including semistructured interviews, company documents, direct observation, and my reflective journal. Yin (2018) pointed out that using multiple sources of evidence in case study research aligns with the objective of using case study to elicit rich data. The researcher achieves data saturation at the point when no new information is available from analysis of the multiple data collection methods (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

To achieve data saturation, I asked probing questions and followed up on any new ideas until I had explored all the insights that come up in the course of the interviews, follow- up member checking interviews, direct observation, reflective journal, and review of company documents and records. I used methodological triangulation by comparing the key concepts from the interviews to see how they aligned with the documents I

reviewed as well as how the direct observations supported or contradicted either the interviews or the documents. By continuously cross referencing observed themes within and between the various data collection methods until I reached the point of redundancy, I achieved data saturation. The quality of the research is negatively affected where the researcher does not achieve data saturation, this impacts the dependability and credibility of the research (Bowen, 2008).

Population and Sampling

The targeted population comprised of the owners of successful retail SME companies in Lagos State, Southwest Nigeria who are the focus of this case study and have deployed competitive strategies to improve sales. The basis for choosing Lagos state was its strategic position as the largest contributor to number of SME businesses (11.5%) out of the 36 states in Nigeria (NBS, 2017). The participants that I included in the study are the owners of successful retail SME businesses. Each participant must have successfully implemented strategies to improve sales. Yin (2018) emphasized the importance of ensuring that the data from the participants chosen from the target population will be able to help the researcher address the research question. I included participants on the basis that they are responsible for successfully achieving their respective organization's sales strategy. The participants were able to share useful insights about how to improve sales as they are successful business owners.

Sampling in qualitative research is selecting the specific participants that would result in achieving the research objectives (Gentles et al., 2016). I selected participants that are the owners of five successful retail SME companies and have successfully

implemented strategies to improve sales. The selected participants were thus appropriate choices for this research study. Sampling methods may be either probability or nonprobability (Field et al., 2006). Probability sampling is based on random selection while nonprobability sampling is specific as participants are selected based on their knowledge about the research topic (Field et al., 2006). Qualitative samples are specific rather than random as the participants bring their varied experiences to knowledge of the research topic and the data the researcher gathers and analyzes (Boddy, 2016; Reybold et al., 2012; Vasileiou et al., 2018). A case study research design involves in depth analysis of a particular phenomenon from the experiences of participants and is useful to gain deeper understanding about a subject (Pacho, 2015).

I considered convenience sampling, purposeful sampling, and using a census: and reviewed which method would be best suited to meet my research objectives.

Convenience sampling involves choosing participants on the basis of their accessibility and availability; however, the participants might not be representative and introduce bias into the study (Singh, 2016). The strength of purposive sampling lies in the researcher's knowledge of the research topic and ability to establish rapport with the participants (Barratt et al., 2015). As all five owners of the retail SME companies are the focus of this study, their participation is a census. I used a census comprised of the owners of five successful retail SME companies that have successfully implemented strategies to improve sales. A census involves all the individuals that meet the defined criteria to be a part of the study (Rahimi et al., 2015; Žaliūnienė et al., 2015). Adopting a census thus resulted in getting relevant depth of information about the research study.

The research choices that a researcher make may lead to either opening up opportunities or precluding other choices being made (Reybold et al., 2012). Sample size in qualitative research is central to the evaluation of the quality and trustworthiness of the research findings (Fletcher et al., 2018; Vasileiou et al., 2018). Sample size decisions should be based on quality of information as well as the need to achieve data saturation (Sim et al., 2018). Small sample sizes are appropriate for research using qualitative interviews (McQuarrie & McIntyre, 2014), thus five participants were sufficient for me to probe and conduct an in-depth analysis. Saunders and Townsend (2016) emphasized the importance for qualitative researchers to demonstrate that data collected has sufficient depth to answer the research question and breadth for sufficient coverage within the responses.

I used interviews as my primary data collection method, I also collect data from direct observation, my reflective journal, and from company records and documents. Using multiple data collection methods help the researcher to achieve data saturation; but, the focus should be on quality of information (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation occurs when there is no new data, no new themes, no new coding, and other researchers can replicate the study findings given similar circumstances as the study (Gentles et al., 2016; Guest et al., 2006). I focused on getting rich information from the interviews, follow up member checking, direct observation, and review of company documents and records and thus achieved data saturation.

Ethical Research

A researcher's respect for human rights should be reflected in the research process from the process of participant selection, to data collection and analysis. Researchers must comply with ethical guidelines as contained in the Belmont report (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979) on the need to protect human subjects from harm when they participate in a research study. Before conducting my research, I got approval from Walden University IRB, approval number 08-04-20-0514852 with expiry date of August 3rd, 2021. I explained the research objectives as well as their role in the study to the participants, then sought their written consent to participate in the study. Voluntarily signed informed consent forms are a critical part of ensuring the protection of human research subjects (Sanchini et al., 2014). A researcher should practice critical consciousness when engaging with research participants in the course of carrying out research (Aluwihare-Samaranayake, 2012). Critical consciousness involves reflexivity and introspection in order to ensure that participants enjoy respect, justice, and no maleficence in the course of sharing their experiences in the research process (Aluwihare-Samaranayake, 2012). By adopting critical consciousness, the researcher constantly evaluates the research participants and makes any required changes to ensure that participants feel comfortable.

Haines (2017) noted that researchers should observe each participant's body language and verbal communication to confirm that participants do not feel coerced at any stage of the research process. Ethical considerations required that I addressed any

potential risks that the participants might be exposed to. Ahern (2012) noted that some of the ways to mitigate potential harm to participants include the researcher providing a safe environment for the interviews, engendering trust and empathy, and informing the participants of their right to withdraw from the study. I informed participants that they could withdraw from the study at any time and without providing a reason; by communicating their withdrawal by any means that they choose, such as by a call, email or text message. If a participant withdrew, any information that the participant provided will not be included in the studyh, however, none of the participants withdrew from the study. Ahern (2012) recommended that the procedure for member checking should be included in the informed consent form. Protecting the identity of the research participants is important in the research participants by assigning a pseudonym to each participant and the companies in which they work. Participants did not receive any form of compensation for participating in the study.

In order to safeguard the confidentiality of the participants, I will store data from the research in a fire-proof cabinet, I will maintain a digital copy of recorded interviews which will be stored on my computer and password protected to ensure that there is no unauthorized access. I will destroy all physical and electronic documents at the end of 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary data collection instrument for this study. As the primary research instrument, the researcher should maintain objectivity by ensuring that the data

reflects the participants views rather than those of the researcher (Carlson, 2010; Kawulich, 2005). I collected data via semistructured interview, direct observation, company documents comprising of balance sheets, profit and loss statements, emails, and company archival documents such as business reports and press releases and my reflective journal. Blakely and Moles (2017) observed that properly conducted interviews enable the researcher to understand the participants' perspectives regarding the subject phenomenon. Rosenthal (2016) concluded that the quality of the interview questions determines the quality of the likely responses that the interviewer will get. Semistructured interviews are the most common type of interviews used in qualitative research (Holloway & Wheeler, 2010). Semistructured interviews involve using pre-determined questions, the researcher can ask probing questions to expand on new ideas that the participants share (Doody & Noonan, 2013; Rosenthal, 2016; Wilson, 2016). Semistructured interviews are as a result of the identified benefits better suited to the nature of my research study. As the researcher, I paraphrased to clarify participant's understanding of the questions. The open-ended nature of semistructured interview questions encourages depth, new ideas may then also emerge, improving the validity of the data collected (Doody & Noonan, 2013). Structured interviews contain fixed questions and do not permit deviations, they are more suitable for surveys, while unstructured interviews are flexible and may result in disparate information making it difficult to establish patterns or themes (Doody & Noonan, 2013; Rosenthal, 2016; Wilson, 2016).

I observed the participants carrying out their daily business activities on their premises, this allowed me to observe them directly to determine whether their actions were consistent with what they shared during the interviews about their strategies to improve sales and what their company records and documents revealed about the effectiveness of their strategies. Direct observation is an objective method of capturing data and provides the researcher with unique insight as well as the situational context of a research topic and helps to validate research findings (Heiens et al., 2016). I took notes during my observations, I used an observation protocol (Appendix A) to guide me during my observation. The benefits of direct observation include its ability to reveal insights that even the participants might not be aware of, and to probe deeper about a subject based on the insights revealed (Slack & Rowley, 2000). As the participants are not aware of what the researcher is seeking to capture during a direct observation, the data is likely to be unbiased. Kawulich (2005) noted that observation methods help to highlight nonverbal expressions. Observation provides better validation when combined with other data collection methods such as interviewing, document analysis, and other qualitative methods (Kawulich, 2005). Participant observation as a data collection method in case study research helps the researcher to elicit information that even the participant might not be aware of (Morgan et al., 2017). However, the limitation of participant observation when compared with direct observation is that the researcher is also a participant. Being a participant might create a conflict and limit objectivity as the researcher is a part of the subject under observation (Kawulich, 2005).

I conducted in-person interviews using semistructured interview format. Doody and Noonan (2013) emphasized the benefits of adopting a semistructured interview format as the researcher might discover new themes that have not been included in the interview questions and also to seek clarification where needed. In-person interviews help to establish rapport, intimacy, and quality of data (Jenner & Myers, 2018). The researcher's knowledgeability and positioning are instrumental to the quality of information that the researcher gets from participants (Mikecz, 2012). Mikecz further noted that researchers can build rapport with participants by understanding their verbal and non-verbal cues, etiquette as well as their cultural orientation. I established credibility with the participants by sharing my objectives for carrying out the research and also sought to gain rapport by making them comfortable and observing both verbal and nonverbal communication. Arsel (2017) emphasized the importance of a well-developed interview protocol. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) asserted that an interview protocol is particularly useful for novice researchers as it serves as a guide not only to the questions to ask but includes the script of what to ask before and after the interview. I used the interview protocol (Appendix B) to guide me during the interviews. Subsequent to the interviews, I analyzed and interpreted the data and shared my interpretation with the participants. Participants confirmed the accuracy of my interpretations and in some instances included additional insights to further deepen the quality of information and validation. The process of ensuring trustworthiness of the data requires that the researcher, participants, and external readers can all confirm the accuracy of the interpretation of the data because of member checking (Carlson, 2010). I used a reflective

journal to capture my experiences during the data collection and to record my observations about the various interactions with the participants. A reflective journal captures important data relevant to the research, reference to this data is useful to validate the data gathered (Lamb, 2013).

In addition to the interviews, reflective journal, and direct observation, I collected data through review of company records. In order to ensure that I got all the information I needed from the respective companies, I provided an information pack ahead of the interviews detailing what I required. I explained how I intended to store the documents to protect them from unauthorized access as well as measures that I intended to take to destroy the documents after 5 years. I compared the information from the interviews, direct observation, company records, and reflective journal for alignment and consistency with each other. By achieving data validation, those that read my research can depend on the findings and apply it to similar situations.

Data Collection Technique

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study research was to explore the strategies that some retail SME owners deploy to improve sale. The data collection techniques for this study included semistructured interviews, direct observation and company documents (sales reports, performance indicators, press mentions) and my reflective journal. Marshall and Rossman (2016) noted that direct observation, participant observation, in-depth interviews, and analyzing documents and audio-visual materials are the most popular data collection methods in qualitative research. I conducted in person in-depth interviews and ensured that they were in a comfortable environment that was

acceptable to the participant. As part of my efforts to establish rapport with the participants, I informed each participant that the interview will last between 45 minutes to an hour and that I will ask eight specific questions. Before asking the interview questions, I started with an introductory discussion and built up to the specific questions also graduating from simple questions to more difficult ones to ensure flow. By arranging questions in the order of easy to more complex, a researcher builds trust and makes the participants more comfortable (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Rosenthal, 2016)).

I used the interview protocol (Appendix B) to guide me in the interview process to ensure that I asked all the right questions. In order to elicit good quality responses, researchers should ignore what they might already know about the interviewees but instead focus on how the participants' frame their responses and probe further where required (Blakely & Moles, 2017). Doody and Noonan (2013) emphasized that the researcher can ask more probing question during the interviews to elicit further insights based on the initial responses of participants while participants also have the opportunity to seek clarity. By asking questions which are as broad as possible, the researcher provides an opportunity to the participants to explore different perspectives thus enriching the quality of the data (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012; Rosenthal, 2016). The quality of data received from an in-depth interview is a function of how well thought out the research questions are rather than the skill of the interviewer (Rosenthal, 2016). I recorded the interview sessions using an audio recording app on my phone for the in-

also took notes. Interviews as a data collection method help the researcher gain insight as participants share information that is relevant to them (Doody & Noonan, 2013). Interviews may result in bias if participants give responses that they feel are in line with what the researcher wants to hear (Doody & Noonan, 2013). Interviews may also be expensive when compared to other data collection methods and may result in emotional responses from the participants when sensitive subjects are discussed (Jenner & Myers, 2018). As all but one of the five interviews took place virtually, there was minimal cost of only the subscription fee for the Zoom service, my research topic is of a none sensitive nature and thus did not elicit any emotional responses from the participants. Honan (2014) opined that researchers must be careful not to exert undue influence on the participants and address any bias which might occur because the participants views the researcher as being in a superior academic position. I used prompts when I observed the participants not moving forward in the interview and also redirected when I noticed a participant going beyond a question for an extended period of time. I also prodded participants to expand on a particular point where needed and I varied my questions in response to each participant's responses. Jacob and Furgerson (2012) pointed out that using prompts can help the researcher probe for additional and more insightful responses from participants and further that the researcher should adapt the interview protocol based on participant's responses. However, the researcher should be careful not to stray from the research focus and also adhere to the time limits agreed with the participants (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Once I completed the interviews, I transcribed each interview and synthesized the data to ensure that it was in line with what the participants said. I

then conducted follow up member checking interviews, this enabled participants to confirm or disconfirm my interpretation of what they shared during the initial interviews, share additional insights, or ask to remove information that they were not comfortable sharing. Conducting member checking interview ensures validation of the interview data and might yield additional insights from the researcher asking probing questions, while also affording participants the opportunity to clarify any contextual issues (Birt et al., 2016; Rosenthal, 2016). In qualitative research, the researcher is both the data collector and analyst, by conducting member checking, the researcher addresses any bias that may result from this dual role (Birt et al., 2016). Member checking involved getting the participants to review my summary interpretation of their individual data for accuracy, and completeness, and aided validation of the data (Birt et al., 2016; Carlson, 2010; Christie et al., 2014; Kawulich, 2005).

I conducted direct observation of participant as they carried out their business activities. Direct observation involves recording observed behavior patterns of the participants including the actions they perform without the researcher communicating with the participants during the observation event (Teecâu, 2018). Consequently, I was able to observe and record the behaviors and events that the participants demonstrated that are in line with my research objective. As the purpose of my research was to explore strategies that retail SME owners use to improve sales, I discussed with the participants about a suitable day when they would be holding a review meeting to discuss performance so that I could observe the right event. By observing the participants in their normal environment when the research focus can be observed, the observation will

properly reflect the phenomenon that the researcher is exploring (Teecâu, 2018). During the direct observation, I recorded both verbal and nonverbal actions. Teecâu (2018) emphasized that nonverbal communication is very important because a significant part of a message is transmitted through nonverbal means of communication. Direct observation provides the researcher with unique insights as participants might not answer questions correctly or might have opinions about a topic that does not accurately reflect the subject (Heiens et al., 2016). By conducting direct observation in conjunction with the interviews and review of company documents, I was able to achieve reliability and validity of the data as I only used data that was consistent across all the data collection methods. Naumann et al. (2009) noted that direct observation offers valuable insights into behavior. The effectiveness of direct observation as a data collection method is determined by the researcher's depth of knowledge about the research subject, having a well-documented observation plan for what to look out for, and choosing the most appropriate time when to conduct the observation (Slack & Rowley, 2000). I scheduled three hours for direct observation at each participant's business to ensure that I captured sufficient detail to be able to make meaningful conclusions. Direct observation can be limited if the researcher is not able to remain unobtrusive, there is no clear plan of action of what to observe, or because cognitive information such as attitudes, beliefs and motivations cannot be directly observed (Slack & Rowley, 2000).

In addition to the interviews and direct observation, I also collected data by reviewing company records such as business reports, financial data, and press reports. I asked the participants ahead of the interviews and direct observation for the records that I

would review so that the information would be available. Collecting and analyzing data from company records is a technique for gaining deeper insights and also confirms the accuracy or otherwise of data collected using other methods (De Massis & Kotlar, 2014; Owen, 2014). I explained to the participants why I needed the records and that I will keep their records safe and dispose of the information after 5 years. I used the four data collection methods to achieve reliability by comparing the data from the four sources (direct observation, interviews, reflective journal, and company records) for consistency.

Data Organization Technique

The approach to organizing data should be to make it easy to retrieve and to use. Given and Olson (2013) emphasized the importance of appropriate data organization techniques to data gathering and interpretation. Using the proper strategies for categorizing and storing data made it easy for me to retrieve the data when I wanted to use it. Data storage affects ease of retrieval, avoiding errors from applying the wrong data, and analyzing the data correctly (Broman & Woo, 2018). I correctly labelled each data to reflect its content as well as the source of the information. Proper labelling and consistency make it easy to retrieve and use data (Broman & Woo, 2018). Using a standardized naming convention enhances ease of retrieval (Wertheim, 2019). I ensured confidentiality of the participants by assigning pseudonyms to each participant and the companies in which they work. Dimitrios and Antigoni (2018) noted that the researcher should protect the confidentiality of the participants' information by masking the identity of each participant by using fictitious names, codes, or numbers. I created a digital catalogue that shows how and where I stored both physical and electronic information

including the names of each file. I stored documents according to the different sources of information: (a) initial interviews and follow up member checking interviews; (b) reflective journal; (c) direct observation; and (d) company documents and records.

Given and Olson (2013) provided a knowledge organization model for data storage and retrieval which consists of categorizing data into, (a) all relevant information that pertain to addressing the research question, (b) Sorting data by those that need to be recalled, (c) sorting data by coding threads, and (d) breaking down all data that pertain to a concept. I stored data by how they are related, the names of the various files are simple and refer to the file contents so that I could easily retrieve information. By demonstrating that data organization is with the objective to ensure accuracy and ease of retrieval, the researcher can address issues around the trustworthiness of the study (Elo et al., 2014).

Physical data comprised of (a) interview notes, (b) observation notes, (c) data transcripts, (e) a reflective journal, and (e) company information and records, I also recorded the initial interviews and member checking interviews using an audio recorder. I stored all the physical information pertaining to my study in a secure cabinet which I purchased for this purpose, I am the only person with access to this cabinet. In the case of electronic data, I used a password-protected folder in my computer to prevent unauthorized access. A researcher should protect participants information from wrongful access at every stage of the research process (Dimitrios & Antigoni, 2018). At the end of 5 years and in line with Walden requirements, I will destroy all physical and electronic documents by shredding or deleting them.

Data Analysis

Qualitative data analysis is the process for interpreting a phenomenon from the data that was collected to establish the meaning and connectedness between the data, the subject of study and the lenses that were used to explore the subject (Graue, 2015).

Adopting reflectivity and using multiple sources of data allows the researcher to explain the subject from the participants' perspective as the researcher is able to reduce or mitigate personal bias that might interfere with the collection and interpretation of data (Clark & Vealé, 2018; Fusch et al., 2018). I analyzed data from interviews with follow up member checking, direct observation, company documents and records, and my reflective journal. Triangulation helps the researcher to examine a phenomemon from multiple perspectives and thus broaden and deepen the insights that can be gained about a subject (Cope, 2014; Denzin, 2009; Farquhar et al., 2020; Yin, 2018).

There are four categories of triangulation; data, researcher, theoretical, and methodological (Black et al., 2013; Denzin, 2009). Data triangulation entails using data generated from different sources at different times or from different contexts (Farquhar et al., 2020) and may be bounded by time, space, and person (Denzin, 2009). I did not employ different data sources thus data triangulation was not appropriate to my study. In researcher triangulation, different researchers engage in the interpretation of evidence about the same study (Farquhar et al., 2020). The individual biases of the different researchers can result in divergent perspectives making it difficult to achieve a consistency in the study, I was the only researcher in this study. Theoretical triangulation involves viewing the data through divergent theoretical lenses or to develop a theory

based on findings from the data (Fusch et al., 2018). Consequently, the outcomes will be as disparate as the various lenses applied making it difficult to find common ground and address the research question. I used a single theoretical lens, Porter's dynamic theory of strategy to examine the strategies that some retail SME owners employ to improve sales. Methodological triangulation entails collecting data using different data collection methods (Denzin, 2009).

Methodological triangulation yields more in-depth data as the researcher explores divergent perspectives and thus provides deeper insights about the subject being studied (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012; Rooshenas et al., 2019). Denzin (2009) noted two approaches to methodological triangulation, within-method and between-methods. Between- method triangulation combines data from different research methods and is appropriate for mixed methods research (Denzin, 2009; Farquhar et al., 2020). Within-method triangulation uses multiple data collection techniques within a given research method (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012; Denzin, 2009; Farquhar et al., 2020; Fusch et al., 2018). I collected data from interviews with follow up member checking, direct observation, company documents and records, and my reflective journal, employing case study as my research design, thus within-method triangulation was most appropriate to my study. Fusch et al. (2018) emphasized that methodological triangulation is best suited to case study research.

Qualitative researchers focus on data quality and the depth of data (Anyan, 2013).

Data collected using different methods is not always comparable (Bekhet &

Zauszniewski, 2012; Morse, 2015). The benefit of different sources of data lies in the

opportunity to gain multiple perspectives of the same subject (Denzin, 2009; Graue, 2015). I reviewed the data from the interviews, direct observation, company records, and my reflective journal. I critically considered areas of convergence and divergence and sought to establish the recurring ideas across the different data collection methods. Triangulation therefore serves to help the researcher to achieve consistency and dependability, consequently, other users may be able to rely on the study findings and apply the findings to similar situations (Farquhar et al., 2020).

I conducted a thematic analysis of the data from interviews with follow up member checking, direct observation, company documents and records, and my reflective journal. Castleberry and Nolen (2018) described the five-step process in thematic analysis as consisting of: (a) compiling, (b) disassembling, (c) reassembling, (d) interpreting, and (e) concluding. A theme is a descriptor that organizes data based on similar elements identified during data analysis (Vaismoradi et al., 2016). Each theme may have subthemes and is designed to help the researcher to define patterns based on the participants' narratives (Vaismoradi et al., 2016). Theme development is the result of data analysis whereby the researcher seeks to establish and identify the deeper meaning of participants' perspectives regarding a phenomenon (Vaismoradi et al., 2016). Varpio et al. (2017) emphasized that themes do not emerge from the data but rather as a result of the researcher's involvement in seeking deep meanings from what participants shared or revealed during data collection. In order to develop my study themes, I went through the data from the different sources repeatedly and explored the meaning that I got from reviewing and interpreting the data. Thematic analysis involves recording patterns in the

data and grouping similar items together by binding with a code to determine key themes (Nowell et al., 2017; Petty et al., 2012). Thematic analysis enables the researcher to explore and analyze common threads and recurring concepts and ideas within the various data collection methods (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Once I collected the data from interviews and follow up member checking, direct observation, review of company records and documents, and my reflective journal, I sorted the data according to similarities, I used all the data from the different data collection methods. In line with Nowell et al. (2017), I became familiar with the data by going through the sorting process. Clark and Vealé (2018) observed that the data sorting or disassembling process involves the researcher reviewing the coded data to identify patterns and common concepts. In identifying patterns, items can be grouped by, (a) similarity, (b) difference, (c) frequency, (d) sequence, and (e) corresponding events (Clark & Vealé, 2018). I grouped items by similarity, doing this resulted in establishing common threads and making meaning from the data. Nowell et al. (2017) provided a six-step process for thematic analysis: (a) becoming familiar with the data; (b) generating initial codes; (c) searching for threads; (d) reviewing threads; (e) defining and naming concepts, and threads; and (6) producing the report.

I used the classical data analysis method. Despite the existence of computer assisted software that can help to identify and group data based on common threads, the researcher still has the duty to review and analyze the data (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). Transcribed interview texts serve as a good starting point for data analysis in qualitative research (Erlingsson & Brysiewicz, 2017). I assigned initial codes based on grouping the

data according to common threads that I observe from reviewing the various codes. Open coding in qualitative research is the first level of coding and involves the researcher categorizing data based on regularity and common occurrences (Williams & Moser, 2019). In order not to miss out any data, I sorted the data using post it notes which I stuck to cardboard papers in my study area.

By organizing the data into ideas, I was be able to see which ideas fit within each key concept. Once the researcher has identified emergent threads at the open coding stage, the researcher proceeds to axial coding, this involves refining the data to further categorize the data based on where it fits into within the various data codes (Williams & Moser, 2019). The final stage is selective coding, this involves drawing conclusions from having conducted a rigorous review of the data and drawing conclusions based on interpretations and meanings the researcher derives from the entire data analysis process (Williams & Moser, 2019). From the sorting process, I stepped back to reflect on the key themes I saw emerging from the data and from there I wrote my findings. In reviewing the key themes that emerged from my analysis of the data from the various data collection methods, I explored how the key themes either align with or contradict Porter's (1991) dynamic theory of strategy which is the conceptual framework that I employed in this study. In addition, I reflected on the key themes in comparison to the studies that I included in my literature review. Yin (2018) described the approach I used as 'working my data from the ground up' and stated that this inductive strategy offers the researcher the opportunity to explore and to gain deeper insights.

Reliability and Validity

Good quality research must meet the criteria of reliability and validity (Yin, 2018). By providing sufficiently in-depth information about a subject, the researcher provides a basis for other researchers to apply the findings to similar contexts to achieve transferability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Lincoln and Guba further noted that a researcher establishes trustworthiness by achieving confirmability, credibility, and dependability. Kerr et al. (2010) opined that a researcher achieves both validity and reliability at the point of data saturation. Venkatesh et al. (2013) observed that validation is a necessary step to achieving reliability and further described validity as being able to demonstrate that data is credible and trustworthy and can be relied upon to arrive at meaningful conclusions.

Reliability

The objective of qualitative research is to explore the participant's perspectives about a phenomenon, credibility and trustworthiness make it possible for other researchers and users of a study to benefit from its findings (Cope, 2014). Qualitative researchers strive to mitigate bias, consequently, the researcher's subjective perspective should not reflect in the data collection or analysis process. Being aware of the possibility of bias should make it possible for the researcher to avoid it by constantly examining and evaluating the researcher's actions and making corrections where necessary (Darawsheh, 2014). To demonstrate reliability, the researcher should maintain a chain of evidence and record of the entire research process. By providing an audit trail, the researcher provides adequate information for subsequent researchers and others that might be interested in the

study to replicate the process of the study and likely reach the same conclusions (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Conducting member checking helps the researcher to achieve reliability and data saturation.

Lincoln and Guba (1985) noted that member checking can lead to false outcomes if the members conspire to give misleading information or share a false belief. Member checking shifts power from the researcher to the participant as the objective is to confirm that the researcher's interpretation of the interview reflects the perspectives of the participant (Simpson & Quigley, 2016). Beyond using follow up member checking interviews to validate participants' views, the researcher also uses the opportunity to probe further, while participants have the opportunity for self-reflection, this could result into obtaining deeper insights into the phenomenon (Simpson & Quigley, 2016). The member checking process brings about rigor in the data analysis process and engenders trustworthiness of the research findings. Reliability entails the ability to reproduce the same results under similar circumstances (Street & Ward, 2012). The reader gets to explore and conclude that the researcher followed and applied appropriate research methods and procedures during data collection and analysis (Kihn & Ihantola, 2015; Noble & Smith, 2015). Fusch and Ness (2015) concluded that achieving data saturation is a prerequisite for establishing that the research meets the highest data quality standards. Data saturation occurs when the researcher has reached the point where no new information or insights occur from the data (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I addressed reliability concerns in my study by properly documenting the entire research process and demonstrating reflexivity throughout the process. Using multiple sources of data helps

the researcher to achieve data saturation. I showed how I reached the conclusions so that other researchers can replicate my research findings under similar circumstances.

Validity

Validity in qualitative research involves the researcher demonstrating that the research design, data collection methods, and data analysis procedure are integrated and would result in the most appropriate answer to the research question (Leung, 2015). To demonstrate that other researchers can depend on both the process and outcome of my research, I provided very clear information regarding how I collected data using semistructured interviews and follow up member checking, direct observations, review of company records and my reflective journal. Achieving rigour in qualitative research involves establishing that the researcher followed the highest standards in the entire process (Ali & Yusof, 2011). By using the interview and observation protocols, I documented that my data collection was both consistent and thorough and that I adhered to a consistently high standard. Validity refers to the way the methods and systems for arriving at the conclusions were reached, this should result in the findings being reflective of the data from the participants' perspectives (Noble & Smith, 2015). Data analysis should involve both verbal and nonverbal data, including nonverbal data enriches the quality of the findings (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). The researcher should clarify nonverbal communication by asking probing questions. Validity affirms that the data a researcher collects is credible and trustworthy, and can be relied upon by others to arrive at meaningful conclusions (Venkatesh et al., 2013)

Credibility

Credibility entails establishing that others can rely on the research findings because they reflect the participants' views. To establish credibility, a researcher should adopt strategies such as prolonged and varied field experience, time sampling, reflective journal, triangulation, member checking, peer examination, and interview technique (Anney, 2015). Reflexivity involves the researcher engaging in self-awareness and constantly questioning the entire research process to ensure that the personal opinions of the researcher do not result in bias at any stage of the research process (Darawsheh, 2014). Using my reflective journal, I recorded my impressions during the data gathering process and referred to it to address likely bias and to validate my impressions. By methodological triangulation, the researcher can cross reference participant responses from different data sources and reduce bias (Anney, 2015) and achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Conducting member checking interviews gives participants the opportunity to confirm or disconfirm the researcher's initial interpretation; asking probing questions also affords the researcher the opportunity to elicit additional insights (Anney, 2015; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). I critically reviewed the information that I gathered from all my data collection methods including my reflective journal, and highlighted areas that required further probing. I compiled a clarification of questions that I asked during the member checking interviews, I also asked further probing questions based on the participants' comments about my interpretation of the initial interviews.

Transferability

Transferability refers to users outside the study being able to apply the study findings to their own experiences and context (Cope, 2014; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The

researcher should provide exhaustive details of the research process to facilitate application of the findings by other researchers and users of the study. Anney (2015) emphasized that thick descriptions involve the researcher sharing full information about the entire research process so that other researchers can replicate the findings to similar situations and context. Context and reflexivity are vital to the ability of other researchers to apply the results of a study to similar studies in similar contexts (Malterud, 2016). The researcher should demonstrate that the data from the various data collection methods are complementary and or sequential and also record how the chain of evidence would lead to the ability to replicate the findings (Leung, 2015). I provided rich detail about the entire research process from my chosen conceptual framework to my research design as well as data collection and analysis to facilitate replication of my findings by other scholars and readers of my research. When a researcher provides rich and deep detail of the research study, it makes it easy for other researchers to transfer the findings given similar context (Anney, 2015; Cope, 2014). Once the researcher has provided sufficient information about a study, the responsibility to be able to apply the findings to their own experiences and contexts and thus transferability resides with the readers and researchers that seek to adopt the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

Confirmability

Confirmability occurs when dependability, transferability, and credibility have been established (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). By being self-aware and reflective, the researcher ensures that the study findings represent the participants' views rather than those of the researcher (Cope, 2014; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). A researcher can

demonstrate that the results of the research are transparent by establishing an audit trail, keeping a reflective journal, and triangulation (Anney, 2015). The researcher can achieve confirmability by adopting the highest standards in the data collection and analysis process (Wamba et al., 2015). Long (2017) cited the importance of communication in the process of demonstrating confirmability. When the researcher asks probing questions to dig deeper and to clarify meanings during the initial interviews and follow up member checking interviews, the resulting data will represent the participants' perspectives. I employed various data collection instruments to promote confirmability. I documented my data analysis process and shared how I arrived at the findings. Sharing some of what the participants said during the interviews and from my direct observation and reflective journal make it easy for readers to relate my findings to the data. Including comments from the participants that depict each emerging theme affirms confirmability (Cope, 2014). Using multiple sources of data enhances the confirmability of the findings and addresses potential bias that might occur when a researcher uses a single data source (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011; Yin, 2018).

I demonstrated reflexivity by making sure that the participants were comfortable and spoke freely during the interviews so that I captured their views and not mine. I asked participants to clarify meanings and any slangs that they used. I captured my impressions, mood, insights, and likely biases using my reflective journal. By recording the interviews, I revisited what the participants said and corrected any misinterpretation. The follow up member checking interviews further confirmed that I properly interpreted participants' responses. Researchers achieve data saturation when no new data adds to the

insights from the various data collection sources (Lowe et al., 2018; Varpio et al., 2017). As a result of differences in research designs, achieving data saturation is dependent on the chosen design as well as the data quality (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I kept reviewing all the data and cross referencing each data to establish if any new information that related to my research question emerged until I achieved redundancy; this was the point at which I achieved data saturation. Documenting my data collection and analysis process makes it easy for others to follow the process of how I arrived at the conclusions of the study and to establish that I adopted the highest standards in qualitative research.

Transition and Summary

In section 2, I started with a restatement of the purpose of the study so that I could provide context for readers of the study. In addition, I discussed the role of the researcher as well as the process for selecting participants and sampling. I included ethical considerations which ensured that participants did not come to any harm from participating in the study. I concluded section 2 by discussing my data collection instruments and techniques including how I analyzed the data and ensured reliability and validity of the study.

Section 3 will begin with a brief introduction of the purpose of the study and study findings. Additionally, section 3 includes the presentation of the findings, application to professional practice, and implications for social change. I concluded section 3 with recommendations for further research and my reflections regarding what I learned from the entire research process.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that some retail SME owners implemented to improve sales. SMEs play a pivotal role in the socioeconomic development of countries the world over and provide opportunities for jobs and income creation as well as wealth redistribution. However, in a national survey of the state of MSME in Nigeria, 25.8% of SMEs reported that they had to close their businesses as a result of low patronage (NBS, 2017). The right strategies might result in growth in sales for SMEs and more people setting up SMEs. Pavlov (2017) argued that SMEs can remain competitive by bringing new products to the market or improving existing products on a continuous basis. A lack of strategies to maximize resources and an offer of a compelling value proposition limits the ability of some SMEs to grow their businesses.

In this section, I present the findings of my multiple case study, which involved five retail SME owners in Lagos State, Southwest Nigeria. I obtained data from semistructured interviews, member checking follow-up interviews, and direct observation of the five retail SME business owners, as well as reviewing company documents and keeping a reflective journal. The company documents that I reviewed included strategy documents, financial statements, and press mentions. I used methodological triangulation to help enhance the validity and reliability of the data. I compared the data from the various data collection methods to determine consistency and complementarity of the findings from the data collection instruments. I conducted thematic analysis of the data

and interpreted six main themes: (a) enhancing competitive advantage through business structure; (b) distribution channels, product range, and leveraging networks; (c) human capital development; (d) turning challenges into innovation opportunities and enhancing business performance; (e) creating product awareness; and (f) using data analysis for effective decision making. I include quotes by the participants from the actual interview transcripts where relevant. The findings show strategies that retail SME owners implemented to improve sales. I assigned the pseudonyms Amber, Diamond, Ruby, Emerald, and Peridot to the SME owners to protect their privacy and confidentiality and labeled each company document with the first letter of the participant pseudonym for confidentiality and ease of retrieval. For example, company documents for Amber were labelled ACDa, ACDb, etc. while documents for Diamond were labelled DCDa, DCDb, etc. All participant documents were labelled using the same pattern. From the findings, I was able to determine the strategies that some retail SME owners implemented to improve sales. Amber and Diamond operate in fashion, Emerald in beauty, Peridot in beauty and lifestyle, and Ruby in the school and lifestyle retail segments. The six themes that emerged from my data are significant because they addressed the research question while my findings aligned with my conceptual framework and literature review.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question was as follows: What strategies do retail SME owners implement to improve sales? I used Porter's (1991) dynamic theory of strategy as the conceptual lens to conduct my research. From the data, I was able to answer the research question. I interviewed five retail SME owners who had successfully grown

their sales. The participants responded to eight interview questions. Asking open-ended questions allowed the participants to share varied perspectives. I conducted follow-up member checking interviews to ascertain that I had correctly interpreted the data and captured everything about each interview question. In addition to interviews, I observed the participants' holding business meetings with their staff to discuss sales performance. I held three, 1-hour observation sessions over a 3-week period with each participant. I reviewed company documents that included financial reports, press mentions, testimonials, and documentation of industry recognition. I also wrote in my reflective journal about my thoughts and insights during the various data collection exercises.

As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, I conducted both virtual and physical data collection, depending on the choices of the various participants. At all times during the physical sessions, we observed all safety protocols. I conducted all initial and member checking interviews and observations of two out of five participants via the Zoom virtual meeting platform and held physical observations with the remaining three participants. During the observations, I focused my observation of the SME business owners in three areas: (a) physical settings, (b) how the business owner communicated, and (c) the actions of the business owner. I used an observation protocol (see Appendix A) and an interview protocol (see Appendix B) to standardize the data gathering process. I retrieved all required secondary documentation from the participants and through online searches.

In conducting data analysis, I started with completing a manual transcription of the initial interview data. This involved me listening to the interviews repeatedly; as a result, I became very familiar with the data. After doing the transcription, I synthesized and summarized what the participants' shared and held member checking interviews to ascertain that I correctly captured the participants views. The participants affirmed that I accurately captured what they said. I sorted the data from the interviews, observations, company records, and my reflective journal. I then organized the data by similarity from common threads. The participants' interviews were the largest source of data for my research while the direct observations, company records, and reflective journaling formed the fewest sources of data for my research. I identified the study themes from engaging continuously with the data. I achieved data saturation by the third interview but still conducted the two additional interviews to determine if any new themes would emerge. The researcher achieves data saturation at the point of redundancy when no new themes emerge (Braun & Clarke, 2019).

Theme 1: Enhancing Competitive Advantage Through the Business Structure

The first theme that emerged from the methodological triangulation of the study data was enhancing competitive advantage through the business structure. The way each participant decided to compete defined their operating structure and how they deployed resources to support their chosen structure. As a result, they were able to maximize resources to be more effective. Each participant was quite deliberate in coming up with a business model that enabled innovation and growth and recognized their unique value proposition as a driving force to remaining competitive. Amber (pseudonym) shared,

Our business is a one-stop shop, we sell convenience at the best price because we manage our cost. We make sure we have something for everyone and especially for those special occasions when our customers want to buy the same things. We

design most of our fabrics, as a result, we provide unique designs. We have product knowledge of what we are doing.

Diamond (pseudonym) noted that her decision to sell ready to wear African outfits had defined her business success:

We sell convenience and ensure a differentiated value to our customer, we focus on meeting the needs of our chosen customer segment. We always test the market before stocking any outfit, this helps us to reduce our inventory cost and to be more competitive.

Emerald (pseudonym) shared that when she did her MBA, her topic was about how to grow a local beauty brand in Africa. She focused on the beauty space because she identified that there was a gap in products that were made specifically for the African woman. From her research, she developed a beauty brand but did the manufacturing offshore, while focusing on distribution, research, and branding. Emerald emphasized that she had to be creative to ensure a cost advantage. Peridot's (pseudonym) strategy is a niche one: She sells both beauty products and services, and she uses the synergy in her business model to optimize value offering to her customers. She noted that, "we cater to the entire lifestyle needs of the middle-income woman." Ruby (pseudonym) focused on a niche market that she identified from her own personal experience. Ruby said that the concept of providing all the items for schools to parents who could readily buy them under one roof was the driving force of her business. During my observations, I found that the structures in place were consistent with what the participants shared.

Additionally, company messaging on their respective websites and social media

platforms emphasized the business structure and complemented the data from both interviews and observation. I noted in my reflective journal how each participant was clear about how they wanted to compete. They seemed to recognize that having a focus was important to making the best use of their limited resources. I noticed from my observations that the way each set up their business premises, displayed products, and used work tools like point of sale terminals, computers, and work stations reflected a focused and structured work environment that was attractive. In a qualitative study, e Meirelles (2019) concluded that entrepreneurs need to be able to address the question of what value to deliver to customers and how to make it profitable to do so; therefore, the best model is the one that helps the business to answer the question.

Amber, Emerald, and Ruby deployed a combination of cost and niche strategy while Diamond and Peridot employed a combination of differentiation and niche strategy. In a quantitative study on the use of niche marketing in the food and beverage industry that adopted Porter's diamond model, Jamshed and Ahmad (2018) found that a niche strategy is preferable given that it is impossible to meet every consumer's needs, companies that chose this approach were more focused and deployed resources effectively. Hales and Mclarney (2017) conducted an analysis of how firms achieve competitive advantage using Uber as a case study. Their findings revealed that a hybrid strategy is more effective in gaining and sustaining competitive advantage than a single strategy of either cost leadership, product differentiation, or focus strategy. My review of company performance reflected that the chosen strategies have worked for each participant as they have continued to grow sales (ACDa, ECDa, PCDa, & RCDa). In

affirmation of my study findings, conclusions from a longitudinal case study of the evolution of a Colombian business by Rispal and Servantie (2017) showed that a firm's business model helps to gain competitive advantage and to create value for customers. Porter (1991), in the dynamic theory of strategy, opined that firm strategy, structure, and rivalry influence management practices and the targets that businesses set for themselves, which determine their ability to compete, gain competitive advantage, and deliver superior financial performance.

Theme 2: Distribution Channels, Product Range, and Leveraging Networks

Offering diversity and accessibility of products enhances selling opportunities. By offering related and complementary products and also optimizing their networks through partnerships and collaborations, all participants have been able to increase their sales. In seeking to enhance sales, the participants adopted a combination of physical and virtual sales channels, expanded product range, and leveraged opportunities to partner with related and supporting industries. Kim et al. (2020) conducted a quantitative study of 188 small and medium manufacturers (SMM) in Korea and found that cocreation and collaboration have a positive impact on financial performance and a win-win relationship with their network partners.

Physical Channels

The participants shared that their locations affected their ability to reach their target markets. As a result, they constantly sought to ensure that they were accessible to customers. In choosing a physical location, participants shared that they considered visibility, ease of access, and availability of their target population. Harpa (2017)

emphasized that location considerations should include how optimal it is to carrying out an economic activity and availability of required human and material resources. Amber operates five physical outlets in strategic commercial areas to ensure being accessible to customers. She added that customers do not like to travel far as a result of the traffic situation. Diamond is located in the center of where target customers are; this ensures visibility. Emerald operates 30 retail outlets all over the country in key commercial cities that have the infrastructure to support moving her products. Peridot maintains a single location that is strategically located, she noted that her customers appreciate the value that they get, her unique value proposition has earned her customer loyalty as she has been in business for more than three decades. Ruby explained that, "we found that the best locations for our type of business are the residential areas that also have many schools around. I reflected on how their business locations helped to achieve their sales targets. I noted in my reflective journal that they were quite deliberate in choosing locations that enhanced their visibility and accessibility to their target market. When I reviewed their respective websites, I found that they emphasized their accessibility and provided hours of operation and how to locate their respective premises. In affirmation of my study findings about the importance of location, Porter (1991) in the dynamic theory of strategy emphasized the importance of proximity and noted location as one of the factor conditions that determine competitive advantage. In a quantitative study involving 47 large fruit producers that employed Porter's diamond model, Balci and Giray (2020) also found similar conclusion about location influences on the performance of the various companies.

Digital Channels

All five participants use digital channels for engagement, to gain insights about customers and competitors, and to sell. Amber explained that their online sales had grown beyond what they expected and was particularly useful during the Covid period when social distancing measures were in force. Furthermore, as branch expansion is a costly exercise, social media channels enabled her to reach a wider range of customers. She explained that one of the ways that they affirmed the quality of their products and built trust with customers was by using Instagram to display new products and to share its features. She uses responses from customers to measure how well the product would perform and to decide how much stock of it to carry. Diamond is very active on social media. Diamond also posts new products on her Instagram handle and uses customer feedback to shape what she stocks. Emerald, Peridot, and Ruby actively use social media to sell, engage with customers, and gain insights about the latest trends and opportunities. Based on analysis of 230 entrepreneurial SMEs, Cenamor et al. (2019) found that digital platform capability has a positive indirect effect on financial performance. Tarsakoo and Charoensukmongkol (2019) conducted a study involving 364 Thai business owners and found that social media product development and marketing capabilities positively affect both customer and financial performance. During my observations, conversations about selling often revolved around what was happening on their various social media channels and how to ensure that orders were fulfilled. Ruby for example in planning for school resumption mentioned that ensuring that orders were fulfilled would encourage more customers to use digital channels. Amber also said that they planned to expand the

number of people that manage online sales given the increase in traffic. The participants actively managed and tracked online sales.

The participants cited Instagram as their preferred medium for selling because of its visual appeal; WhatsApp and Facebook are also quite popular. I observed that all had very active social media presence. The participants shared that using social media enables them to reach more people, its use is also largely free thereby helping to reduce their cost. In a study conducted by Ebrahimi et al. (2019), they described customer relationship management (CRM) through social media as digital social media and mobile environment (DSMM) and noted that the medium mattered just as much as the message. They noted SMEs' DSMM strategy as media entrepreneurship: this helps to exploit opportunities to create value through social media. Unlike traditional media, when using social media, businesses know where their customers are and when they respond to their promotions and can receive feedback. By adopting social media, SMEs can overcome resource constraints to reach and engage customers and to gather relevant information for decision making. Rienda et al. (2020) noted that SMEs can improve their performance by using social media as a marketing tool. The findings from this study align with literature review on social media usage as a selling and marketing tool. Similarly, Tarsakoo and Charoensukmongkol (2019) found that it was important for companies that rely on social media to develop competencies to integrate it into their marketing activities: as doing this results in better financial performance.

Product Range

Within their respective product segments, the participants emphasized that having varied products increased their appeal as customers were assured of related and complementary products when shopping at their premises. Amber noted that, "there is something for everyone as we cater to the lower, middle, and upper segments of customers." Diamond shared that:

We are always creating new designs as a means to keep ourselves fresh and appealing. We decided to expand our range to have a more varied collection, it encouraged people to buy more. We would introduce a new design every week and show customers products that were complimentary and different ways that they could combine some of our outfits.

Emerald shared the same view with Amber and Diamond about having varied products to encourage customers to buy more. She explained that people get easily bored with their makeup so, "you have to keep introducing new things and follow trends to make your offering enticing." Peridot noted that the key to her success was having a diversified product range and providing services that enhance and support those products. She said, "you know, Nigerians like to be pampered, so we make sure that our products represent the ethos of our business and meet our customers' needs." Ruby expanded upon how they approached product expansion:

When customers shopped at our locations, we gained insights from what they shared with us, this included other goods or services that they needed for school projects, after school activities, inter house sports competition, end of term concerts, and so on. On this basis, we would stock small quantities of their

preference to test the market and then expand the range if there was sufficient demand. This led to us stocking a variety of office stationary for the business offices located around us, arts and crafts materials, ballet, swimwear, sportswear, raincoats, bed linen, and other specifics for boarding schools.

My study findings revealed that employing product diversification into related and supporting product lines provided opportunity to increase financial performance as customers get the convenience from buying related products. The participants all emphasized that convenience is very important to their customers and this drives how they frame their product offerings. Ljubownikow and Ang (2020) found that firms can enjoy economies of scope when they engage in related diversification. Porter (1991) affirmed that related and supporting industries can enhance competitive ability of firms, additionally, they can also encourage move of different factors of production to those industries resulting in innovation and growth. I observed the diversification strategy from the products displayed at the business locations. The various financial reports (ACDa; DCDa; ECDa; PCDa; & RCDa) broke down sales by product, in this way, it was easy to know which products were doing well and to consider if there was a relationship between the performance of related product categories.

Partnerships and Collaborations

One of the emerging opportunities is a shift from ownership of assets to use.

Partnerships and collaborations thus foster achieving more without incurring higher cost especially as resource constraints are one of the challenges that SMEs face. The five participants shared how they have used this tool to gain and increase market share. They

also emphasized the importance of ensuring a fit with potential partners in order to optimize the outcomes. All five participants constantly look to opportunities for partnerships and collaborations. Amber said that they do collaborations with tailors: they supply the fabric and then showcase the final product, they developed a niche market in their men's line as a lot of businesses were not focused on this customer segment. She explained that getting the fabrics made into complete outfits by partners encouraged customers to purchase more products. For Diamond, she shared instances where she had collaborated with several brands in related industries to do pop-up stores, they shared costs and each benefited from the footfall from the other brands in the collaboration. Diamond added that with the inadequacy of data in the country about trends and market research, such partnerships provided access to first hand customer information. Diamond has a partnership with a jewelry brand in-store as their products are complementary. Diamond uses influencers as part of promoting awareness for her brand, she supplies the clothes free of charge and derives benefit when they wear them and give her the credit as the supplier. Audrezet et al. (2020) conducted a qualitative study on social media influencers (SMI) brand collaborations, and found that SMIs can damage their brand authenticity if they do not ensure that the brands they support are a strategic fit. Diamond echoed the need to ensure strategic fit between the brand and the SMI otherwise the outcome of the partnership would be negative. In a study of Portuguese SMEs, Ferreira et al. (2020) found that strategic alliances influence innovation and new product development, to achieve this; however, business owners must manage any potential

tension with partners and use the knowledge gained from the partner to enhance performance. Emerald said,

I cannot overemphasize the importance of the right partnership: we work on a lot of partnerships. We were the beauty brand for a lot of events when we started, this gives us visibility. During such events, I give out a lot of free samples: this creates an opportunity to reach new customers and to promote our brand. No matter how good a product is, if people don't know about it, it will not succeed.

In a quantitative study of 102 top managers of European SMEs, the study findings showed that being affiliated with strategic networks enhanced knowledge sharing for SMEs and provided an opportunity to grow sales (Vătămănescu et al., 2020). Peridot said,

We wanted to partner with the right brand so we got exclusive distributorship to major international beauty brands: this sets us apart. We also get marketing support, as we are the only suppliers, everyone has to come to us to buy the products.

Ruby explained that she partners with schools to promote educational resources and sponsors school events to create awareness. She has also entered into strategic partnerships with some key brands as their local representative. She explained that they came looking for her because they recognized that she has the capacity to support their businesses. Keane and Costin (2019) noted that having a shared purpose underpins being able to form trusting relationships. In this way, by collaborating, mutually beneficial goals lead to enhanced business development. My observation confirmed the various

partnerships in place and some press mentions and company records also referred to some of the partnerships and collaborations (DCDb; DCDc; ECDb; ECDc; PCDb; RCDb). I observed the existence of the various partnerships and some of the collaborations from the products on display in the respective business premises and from content on the participants' websites and social media platforms. Various literature supports my findings about using partnerships to extend product reach, and to leverage shared resources to increase value offering to customers. Ho et al. (in press) found that collaborations encourage innovation and results in better financial performance. From my study findings, the presence of well-developed related and supporting industries provided opportunities to the participants to improve their financial performance as they benefited from partnerships and collaborations to deliver better value to their customers. Similarly, Porter emphasized that firms gain competitive advantage from the presence of related and supporting industries as they benefit from information flows and innovation enhancing opportunities that such interactions offer.

Theme 3: Human Capital Development

Human capital is the knowledge and skills that individuals bring to executing their tasks (Dimov, 2017). The conceptual framework highlighted the role of human resource as a source of competitive advantage as the skills and competencies that members of the organization deploy enhances the firm's performance. The five participants' leadership skills were evident from their business operations and success. Each has successfully grown their business and is recognized in the business community as evidenced by anchoring various SME capacity building events, press mentions, and news articles.

Evidence from company records confirmed the financial performance of the participants (ACDa; DCDa; ECDa; PCDa; & RCDa). The participants inspired and motivated their staff, involved them in decision making, and provided an environment that encourages the staff to rise to their full potential. During the observation sessions, I noted that the relationship between each participant and their staff was one of mutual trust and respect. The participants encouraged open communication and exchange of ideas towards growing the business. Additionally, participants reinforced the importance of effective performance management systems and discussed individual targets including encouraging staff to show initiative in resolving business and customer issues. Human resource practices that encourage employee involvement, creativity, skills, and morale foster strategic sustainability of the firm (Chakraborty & Biswas, 2020). An organization's strategic planning ability hinges on alignment between the decision makers and the members of the organization regarding the direction of the firm (Hughes & Hodgkinson, 2020). My findings regarding human capital development aligned with the conceptual framework regarding how the quality of human resources acts as a pivot to recognizing and taking advantage of opportunities in the market. Porter (1991) emphasized that human resource skills and competencies determine how a firm both senses and takes advantage of opportunities. In a related study that used Porter's diamond model, the findings showed that availability of the labour force as well as their educational and technical skills influenced quality of output, customer satisfaction and financial performance (Erboz, 2020).

Leadership Education and Experience

The participants recognized that their knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs would determine the growth of their companies. All five participants cited the importance of learning and development to how well they could recognize and take advantage of emerging opportunities to grow their business: each had attained educational qualifications up to graduate levels. Educational background, business knowledge, and managerial skills are valued assets and act as a point of differentiation in delivering high performance (Lara & Salas-Vallina, 2017; Mayer-Haug et al., 2013). Amber learned the rudiments of the business from her mother having acted as an apprentice from a young age: she initially took decisions from her experience watching what her mother did in similar situations. She however, attended various entrepreneurship programs when she took over the business to learn management and leadership skills. Diamond, Emerald, and Ruby had prior experience from working in corporate organizations. All three said that their prior experience helped them to know what to do and how to do it: They were able to transfer the knowledge and skills they gained from prior work experience to running their businesses. Peridot said, "when I started the business, I had never worked before so for the first ten years, I attended trainings, trade events, and exhibitions to gain knowledge about the business." Entrepreneurship orientation is consistent with the literature review, the conceptual framework noted the importance of human resource integration to gaining and sustaining competitive advantage. I observed all five participants taking decisions that reflected their level of understanding, knowledge, and passion for the business. I noted in my reflective journal that Diamond, Emerald, and Ruby had more formal structures in place for decision making: this reflected their prior

work experience, while Amber and Ruby had more informal structures reflecting their lack of formal work experience. The data aligned with Dimov's (2017) study that both education and work experience increased the chances of business success. Bhattacharya et al. (2020) cited visionary leadership as a key growth enabler for business performance.

Investing in Human Capital

All five participants understood the important role that human resources play in achieving organizational growth and gaining sustainable competitive advantage. Amber said, "our staff have grown with us, we emphasize training and make sure we equip them with the skills and resources to be effective on the job." Diamond offered, "our educational system does not support creativity and risk taking, so I ensure that I give my staff the mental freedom to make mistakes and I turn their mistakes into learning opportunities." Emerald shared, "SMEs must understand that the multinationals have taken the best so you must be prepared to train the people you get." Peridot noted, "doing training has improved our ability to serve our customers, we trained every quarter until we got staff to the level we wanted, we still continue to train to twice a year to make sure they are current with the industry standards and trends." Ruby said, "getting skilled staff is difficult, we therefore train continuously to ensure they meet our requirements; additionally, we have a library to encourage continuous learning and cover the cost of any self-initiated professional programs that staff embark on." From the conceptual framework and literature review, harnessing internal resources improves organizational performance and is a source of competitive advantage. During my observations, watching the SME owners interact with their staff revealed that the staff demonstrated that they

understood their job function and the critical success factors to remaining competitive.

Training of employees increases their proficiencies and knowledge thus resulting in increased productivity (Nasurdin et al., 2015). Tabiu et al. (2018) noted that training has a positive impact on adaptive performance.

The participants noted that their relationship with their staff as a contributing factor to business growth. Research shows that leaders can improve staff performance by investing in training and building interpersonal relationship with staff. Leadership support positively influences employee performance; additionally, an individual's belief system that they can meet the demands of their job results in better job performance (Lin & Tsai, 2019). Amber noted that she maintained an open communication channel and encouraged staff to give feedback both about business performance and about suggestions to improve the overall quality of work. Diamond explained that staff were involved in new hiring decisions as they would have to work with any new staff, in this way, fit and relationship issues were solved. Emerald said, "I don't hide anything from my staff, I want them to have a sense of ownership and know we are in it together." Peridot noted that listening to staff is important as it is a joint effort, "some of our best business ideas have come from staff." Ruby shared that she constantly engages with her staff and sought their opinions, "they know a lot and have brought many useful suggestions." During my observations, I noted that there was a lot of emphasis on getting the views of the various staff and that decision making was done in a friendly manner with suggestions being debated before conclusions were reached. Management support can motivate employees to be more involved and to proffer solutions towards improving

the areas of the business that require improvement (Ismail et al., 2019). I noted in my reflective journal that the staff seemed to feel that that their opinions mattered, there was no hesitation when discussing how to grow sales and various team members did not hesitate to voice their opinions. Business meetings would start with general discussions about staff welfare with bantering, I reflected that this atmosphere fostered bonding and open communication. The continued growth in the various businesses as evidenced in their financial reports (ACDa; DCDA; ECDa; PCDa; & RCDa) affirms that sales staff feel valued and thus make contributions towards growing the business revenue.

Human Resource Skills and Competencies

All five participants recognize the importance of their sales staff to their business performance, their strategies for optimizing this critical resource plays a key role in attaining their business objectives. From the conceptual framework and literature review, motivated and engaged human resources help to deliver superior performance. While management practices were important, the participants also emphasized that they were deliberate about the type of staff they hired and looked out for certain skills and attributes as they felt these reflect effectiveness on the job. All five participants affirmed that passion, and being self-motivated was important to their staff success. From the participants' descriptions of the best performing sales staff, the common threads revolved around their attitudes towards customers, showing initiative, being internally motivated, and going the extra mile to meet customer needs. Employees who possess s sense of responsibility perform better and also interact better with co-workers and customers (Upreti & Sharma, 2018; Wang et al., 2018). Panagopoulos et al. (2019) noted three firm

levels of ambidexterity that can improve sales force performance, these are; (a) selection and training to ensure that employees have the requisite skills and competencies to be effective, (b) the right level of motivation to encourage employees to perform their jobs well, and (c), equipping the employees with the data and tools to perform their jobs well. The participants' organizational settings from my observation in terms of human resource practices and environment supported the employees to give their best to growing the business and aligns with the conceptual framework. I noted in my reflective journal that when the participants spoke to their staff, there was an impression that they were partners rather than an employer- employee relationship: They seemed to value the opinions and contributions of their staff. My study findings on the role of human capital skills and competencies in shaping organization performance aligns with Porter (1991) dynamic theory of strategy which stated that ideas and highly skilled labour are becoming increasingly important to both home and international competitiveness. The human capital theory also supports my study findings, Galiakberova (2019) noted that human capital consists of educational and behavioural competencies of the individual: these include social, ideological, moral, and ethical qualities of people. Galiakberova however pointed out that some of these qualities cannot be empirically verified. Marginson (2019) also affirmed the limitations of the human capital theory.

Theme 4: Turning Challenges Into Innovation Opportunities and Enhancing Business Performance

Various literature emphasizes the role of innovation in creating and sustaining competitive advantage. Abrell et al. (2016) observed that technology enhances

productivity, this includes using it to drive better relationships with customers and users who all bring insights that can enhance business performance. Businesses use different tools to foster and entrench innovative practices as part of the organizational culture. As SMEs have limited reach, the way they harness resources whether owned or shared improves their ability to compete and gain market share. From the conceptual framework, activity drivers include capacity utilization, scale, and human resource integration. The literature review also supports the role of innovation in delivering a differentiated value offering. SMEs need to have an innovation orientation in response to the competitiveness of their operating environment (O'Dwyer & Gilmore, 2019). Aksoy (2017) noted that SMEs can improve their competitiveness by scaling up on both product and market innovation capabilities. In a qualitative study of SME managers, Haddad et al. (2019) opined that organizational leadership is responsible for entrenching a culture of innovation while ideas identification and customer recognition are useful resources to grow the business.

External Environment

Decision making must factor in the external environment (Cheng, 2019), this aligns with the conceptual framework with the external environment acting to either impede or encourage growth. As businesses do not exist in isolation, understanding the business and operating environment as well as the competition all help in effective decision making. Organizations that respond quickly to the changing environment including competitors by optimizing available resources and managerial capability deliver superior financial performance relative to their peers (Khan et al., 2019). There

was consensus among the five participants regarding how environmental factors shape their decision making: These factors included socio-economic and market conditions. As an import dependent country, all participants mentioned that foreign exchange volatility and availability negatively impacting their business, and affected the price they are able to charge customers after factoring in disposable income. To address foreign exchange volatility, Amber shared that they are considering going into production and engaged in talks with their suppliers to partner in the venture. Diamond said that they sought to create collections around what was available in the local market and on a sustainable basis. Additionally, Diamond shared that she had expanded sales to the United Kingdom and United States to earn foreign exchange, this helps her to meet some of her foreign exchange needs. Emerald shared that with devaluation and foreign exchange issues, they had responded by expanding into other sub- Saharan African countries like Zimbabwe, Kenya, and Cameroun. Her approach is to scale production and sales to compensate for the low disposable income and to earn much needed foreign exchange. Peridot explained that she does her costing in Dollars so that she could address drops in the value of the Naira. Additionally, she focuses on pushing volumes to increase profitability. Ruby explained that they set up a garment manufacturing facility to produce school uniforms, this shift reduced their foreign exchange requirements. Additionally, from producing, they found opportunities in contract manufacturing for other businesses, and also expanded to providing products for humanitarian services as they found that the products were similar to the basic boarding school kits.

Also common to all participants is government regulation and charges which effectively add to the cost of doing business. The participants noted high operating cost as a result of multiple taxation and government policies around foreign exchange availability as well as poor infrastructure in the country. They shared that their responses included exploring opportunities to expand the business and to reduce cost of operations by being lean and efficient. All five participants demonstrated how they practice analysis of the external environment during observations as questions and feedback with their staff included such considerations in decision making. Environmental factors are country and market specific and knowing which ones affect the business and how to mitigate such factors can make a difference between success and failure (Ma & Jin, 2019; Mupani & Chipunza, 2019). What works well in one competitive context may not work in another; as a result, each firm must review environmental impact and take decisions suited to the firm's business operations as environmental factors have a significant effect on business strategy (Cheng, 2019; Ibrahim & Harrison, 2020). As an import dependent country, availability and volatility of foreign exchange is an important environmental factor that affects most businesses: while the impact depends on how much of the cost of the product is derived from imported items. As the participants are retail SME owners, their products are largely driven by the exchange rate. On the other hand, foreign exchange pricing and availability is not within their control and is often determined by political and economic considerations. de Guimarães et al. (2020) conducted a survey of 1,072 companies in the industrial manufacturing, commerce, and service sectors and found that companies that use market information effectively show better financial performance.

Financial performance of the participants reflects their profitable results (ACDa; DCDA; ECDa; PCDa; & RCDa). Porter (1991) noted that the environment works to influence both a firm's initial positioning as well as its subsequent actions and thus affects which strategies a company can carry out and the likely impact on performance. Additionally, Porter noted that government by its role can stimulate or discourage business by either providing an enabling environment in terms of infrastructure and regulations that foster investment, its competition policies, and through its role in related and supporting industries. Porter's findings align with my study findings on how environmental factors can either impede or enhance business performance. In a related study, Government policies, rules, and regulations by policy makers are found to either impede or encourage new business ventures as well as growth of existing business (Hagos et al., 2018)

Technology

Technology use is one of the ways that SMEs can reduce their cost and be more efficient as well as fostering innovation. The right technology systems support business development. Participants one through five confirmed how technology has enhanced their operations and improved business performance. Amber shared how in the beginning, they wrote receipts manually but by computerizing their operations, receipts are now system generated, this helps with reconciliation. Additionally, all branches are linked so stock can be moved from one location to another based on demand. Diamond noted that having the right technology enabled her to do customer analysis and to capture data. Emerald said that technology helped her to view and analyze performance and to monitor inventory. Peridot noted that with digital payments, they had reduced cash handling cost

and stopped theft, she added that the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in more customers switching to digital payments. Ruby said, "a robust technology software enables proper analysis of revenue and inventory as well as to capture customer information, but it comes at a high cost." Ruel et al. (2020) observed that leadership attitude to technology determines the level of adoption. The participants embraced technology adoption and so positively affected its use in their organizations. From my observation, there was organization wide technology adoption as I saw staff using the various technology systems to enhance their job performance. Technology proficiency, intensity, and usage transforms firm performance (Sousa-Zomer et al., 2020). SMEs that not only identify but seize growth enabled technology opportunities profit from them. The literature review supported technology's role in achieving scale, reducing cost, and improving productivity. Porter (1991) noted that technology provides opportunities to shift competitive advantage by constantly innovating. In an exploratory study of SMEs' implementation of information technology, Nair et al. (2019) found that owners' attitude and knowledge towards technology influence its adoption and use within the organization. I noted in my reflective journal that all the participants were quite comfortable and proficient in the use of technology tools. During some of my observations, participants held discussions involving technology usage and how to resolve it. This reflected an understanding of its importance to the business performance. Bouwman et al. (2019) conducted an empirical study of 321 European SMEs that actively use social media, big data, and information technology to innovate their business models, they found that SMEs should be encouraged to use digitalization to improve overall firm

performance and to implement new strategies. My study findings on the role of technology in gaining competitive advantage aligns with Porter's dynamic theory of strategy, Porter noted that successful firms are early movers in product or process generation as long as such moves are in tandem with evolving technology and buyer needs.

Theme 5: Creating Product Awareness

Without an effective strategy to let customers know about a product, it would be difficult to sell it. Emerald explained it by saying, "no matter how good a product is, people will not buy it if they do not know about it." Marketing communications should thus revolve around informing and involving customers about products and why they should buy it. Hussain et al. (2020) conducted a literature review of 192 articles about the buyer-seller relationship and sought to provide a holistic perspective of the need to maintain fluidity given that there are different requirements at various times in the evolution of the relationship; and thus, different strategies are required. Thomas-Francois et al. (2020) conducted a qualitative study of the hospitality industry, the findings revealed that a customer centric approach in the service value chain that involved both the customer and the supplier resulted in better customer engagement. The implication of such findings is that business owners should establish two-way communication where customers can both give and receive feedback to enhance customer engagement and to deliver better financial performance.

Customer Engagement

Customer relationships make a difference to growing sales: building loyalty and trust is important to having repeat customers and attracting new ones. According to de Guimarães et al. (2020) relationship between companies and customers affect long term profitability; understanding what customers want and meeting their needs helps to foster good relationships. Amber explained that they go out of their way to satisfy customers, and build trust by being reliable and letting customers know the truth about the products they buy. Additionally, customers are treated as family and so they get involved in their celebrations. Amber shared a story about a 90-year-old woman that came to buy her birthday fabric and said that she had been a customer since the days the business was run by Amber's mother. Diamond said,

Trust plays a key role in how customers respond; we actively seek feedback from customers and we make sure we act on it. We test new products and scale based on what customers say, we always want to know what is important to our customer.

Peridot shared, "Customers recognize value, I always make sure that I take customer criticism as an opportunity to improve and resolve issues promptly, we also never compromise on product quality so they know they can trust us."

Ruby noted that she actively engaged customers to find out their views and what more they want: feedback is then used to continuously improve product offering and to introduce new products. I observed feedback mechanism in place at the various business locations, social media platforms also revealed active customer engagement and issue resolution.

Hussain et al. (2020) observed that firms need varied strategies to deal with customers at different stages of developing the relationship. In this regard, decision makers should focus on initiating and implementing customer-oriented strategies. Amber said, "we usually post a new design and use customer feedback to decide if we should stock it or not." Diamond, Emerald, and Ruby said they would use small samples of a product and only stock it if there was sufficient customer interest, in this way, the participants managed inventory levels and carried only products that there was sufficient demand for. Amber harnessed opportunities from understanding lifestyle needs such as for weddings and parties which are a constant in the market to stock products that customers found attractive, adequate supply of new fabrics ensured that both old and new customers came to buy her fabrics. Diamond said,

We do product drops, something new every week keeps customers engaged and so they buy more, we also use the feedback from the product drops to know what we should stock so we only stock what we know will sell. Emerald shared:

As a beauty company, we understand that people get bored so we are always stocking new things to encourage more sales, we usually sample our customers opinions especially the younger ones to know what they think before introducing new products.

Peridot explained that they focus on what their customers want based on their lifestyle needs. Ruby focused on constantly asking what else and expanding product range based on understanding the specific customer target market. Ruby explained that when customers express interest in a new product, they would stock a few samples and

would then increase inventory if there was sufficient feedback. All five participants noted that listening to customers helped them to grow their business. They also said constantly looking for gaps and opportunities helped them to grow their businesses in terms of range of products and reaching their target market. When deciding whether a product would sell, participants said they test the market before deciding to stock the product or not. My observations affirmed that the participants discussed customer feedback with their staff including resolving issues that customers had raised. I also saw from their various social media platforms that they actively engaged with their customers, the numbers of followers that each had online further confirmed this as well as the existence of appropriate feedback mechanisms in place. I noted in my reflective journal that perhaps the social media space was the best test of how well a brand is doing as observers can get unbiased views about what customers think about a brand. In confirmation of my study findings, Porter (1991) noted demand as one of the metrics that drive competitive advantage. According to Porter, home demand plays a pivotal role in shaping the buyer needs and the ability of firms to improve products and services over time. When business owners anticipate and address customer needs, they are likely to sell more and show improved financial performance. Effective demand for the participants' products reflects in their success as seen in their financial performance (ACDa; DCDa; ECDa; PCDa; & RCDa).

Branding

The five participants used branding to promote their businesses and to differentiate themselves. They had well defined brand names, logos, as well as

communication and messaging to support and sustain their businesses. Their various brand logos and names are easily recognized as evidenced by their social media following and presence. Amber explained that her focus is as a reliable brand that people can trust, she therefore does not compromise on quality and builds trust by explaining the features of the products to customers so that they can make informed decisions, sales performance affirms this despite operating in a highly competitive and fragmented market segment (ACDa). Diamond noted that her brand thrust is built on functionality and being classic, this resonated in the display of items during my observations and in the social media communications. Emerald noted about branding, "we market ourselves as being local but globally competitive, from our name, logo, you know, the little things, we want to quickly respond to opportunities, that's our brand strategy." Peridot shared that retail products align with the business ethos and the type of customers they serve. Ruby said, "our brand attributes are vibrant, agile, modern, and techie", this reflects in the logo and the structure of the business during my observations. Brand awareness, functionality, authenticity, attentiveness, and resonance significantly affect how consumers interact with a brand and their loyalty to it (Chokpitakkul & Anantachart, 2020). The participants have strong brand recognition and have built customer loyalty as a result, sales growth affirms this as well as from my observations. The participants have been in business for between 10 and 33 years and have continued to grow and are leaders in their respective market segments, press mentions, and news articles confirm their leadership positions (DCBd; ECDd; RCDd). When consumers perceive a brand as being authentic, it increases their perception of, and trust in the brand, resulting in improved business

performance (Hernandez-Fernandez & Lewis, 2019). My study finding on branding align with Porter's dynamic theory of strategy. Factor conditions in terms of technology, business processes, and infrastructure have enabled the participants to develop effective brand strategies to improve their performance.

In choosing which platforms and mediums to use, each participant noted that it depended on what they sought to achieve. For Emerald, she presented an evolution of her strategy:

In the beginning, we used word of mouth but as we expanded, we moved to radio, TV, billboards, and cable Tv, and social media. We are very strategic and analyze how to stretch our limited resources to get the most out of it, so we find out what our customers are involved in and how to reach them.

Peridot has been in operations for over three decades and relies on word of mouth largely, nevertheless, she uses Instagram to create awareness and to engage customers. Ruby shared that in the beginning, she used more traditional media but has now switched to social media channels to create awareness, analyze competitors, and to generate sales. My study finding about branding as a tool for promoting awareness and building customer loyalty is consistent with the literature review. Chokpitakkul and Anantachart (2020) conducted a quantitative study of SMEs in Thailand and developed an SME brand equity scale (SMEBE). They developed five components which included brand awareness, functionality, authenticity, attentiveness, and resonance. From their findings, SMEs can improve their performance by increasing awareness and recognition of their brand. The study participants and their brands are well recognized, they are sought after

for speaking engagements, and various capacity and industry leadership events, company documents confirm this via press mentions, industry awards, announcements (ACDe; DCDe, DCDf; ECDe, ECDf; RCDe, RCDf).

Theme 6: Using Data Analysis to Improve Decision Making

Data has brought both opportunities and challenges, for SMEs, how they deal with data can help to overcome resource limitations (Wang & Wang, 2020). de Medeiros et al. (2020) opined that business models and gaining competitive advantage are dependent on the organization's data strategy. It is not enough to collect data: instead organizations must use the insights they gain from analyzing data to make informed decisions. According to the participants, being able to analyze business performance and customer information helped them to take strategic decisions. Amber noted that she measures improvement in sales broken down into the various product categories and took decisions on what to stock based on patterns, she also mentioned that as a volume driven business, the absolute value of sales is an important consideration. Diamond said, "customer analytics from the product drops help to gather data and take feedback before knowing what customers want. Also, we analyze which product categories sell more so that we know what to stock as we emphasize driving volumes." According to Emerald, "we measure cashflows, everything we do must show up in the figures. We make our budget work, we ask, how do we maximize it?" Peridot said, "we seek to maximize sales per customer by getting customers to buy more, we also analyze our break-even point to know what volumes we must do to be profitable and we go for it. For Ruby, "we analyze product categories, product baskets, and product performance by location, in this way we

better understand customers buying patterns and stock inventory appropriately. We also analyze financial performance and drill down to identify opportunities and review limiting factors." I observed all five participants hold business review meetings with discussions involving available data and insights from the data. Company documents seen also confirmed that the participants indeed perform data analysis. Organizations should deploy an offensive data strategy, this involves agility in data management that sees them optimize data analysis, modeling, and improved competitive strategy all through the organization (de Medeiros et al., 2020). From the interviews and observations, the participants' use of data for effective decision making is a source of competitive advantage resulting in improved financial performance as evidenced by their financial performance (ACDa; DCDa; ECDa; PCDa; & RCDa). My study findings confirm that when used properly, insights from data can be result in better and more strategic decisions. Similarly, and in aligning with the literature review, Ferraris et al. (2019) conducted a quantitative study of 88 Italian SMEs and found that analyzing big data offers opportunities to spot patterns, and to validate or repudiate conclusions which had relied on non-empirical indices: the knowledge gained leads to more effective decision making and improved financial performance. Shabbir and Gardezi (2020) found that big data analytics improves organizations knowledge management practices, this can improve performance and result in gaining sustained competitive advantage. Del Vecchio et al. (2017) opined that leveraging big data can help organizations to bring about innovative solutions and to identify business opportunities. In reflecting on how the participants viewed data, I noted in my reflective journal that it showed a high level of

managerial capability that the participants delved deeper to gain insights from the data they had to improve their business performance. Porter emphasized that specialized knowledge and skills reflect in the ability of a firm to keep growing and to recognize innovation opportunities and how to effectively deploy resources to harness those opportunities. My study findings reflect that the participants have used data analysis to improve their decision making and to improve their financial performance.

Dynamic Theory of Strategy in Relation to the Study Findings

The results from this study align with the conceptual framework of the dynamic theory of strategy. The four attributes that Porter identified as shaping competitive advantage were: (a) firm strategy, structure, and rivalry, (b) factor conditions, (c) demand conditions, and (d) related and supporting industries (Porter, 1991). Porter termed these attributes as the diamond and noted that they work to mutually reinforce one another and further that they operate in a dynamic way; as such, firms must constantly change since none of the parts of the diamond are static. The environment in which a firm operates influences its ability to gain and sustain competitive advantage and to outperform its peers. Rashidirad and Salimian (2020) noted that firms create value when they build their competitive strategy based on their resources and competencies. Competition is based on sellers who all seek to gain market share, increase number of sales, and to make a profit (Kurniati et al., 2019). In seeking to outperform peers therefore, a company explores ways in which it can maximize internal resources given its operating environment since it does not operate in a vacuum. Firms strategy is therefore dependent on outperforming competitors either by adopting a cost, differentiation, focused (niche) strategy or a

combination. In this way, the firm delivers a unique value proposition that customers find compelling. Mahdi Tavalaei and Santalo (2019) observed that firms must have a defined strategy in view of competition, failing to do so results in even worse performance. The participants in this study all had clearly defined strategies that enabled them to position for effective growth. Amber, Peridot, and Ruby adopted a hybrid strategy of cost and niche, while Diamond, Emerald, and Peridot adopted a hybrid strategy of cost and differentiation. Each focused on filling a gap in their respective markets and deployed organizational resources to support their positions.

Khan et al. (2019) posited that in seeking to gain competitive advantage, internal capabilities comprising of people, systems, and structures are critical to sustainable firm performance. In this regard, the way an organization deploys its internal resources matters; additionally, leadership capabilities must include being adaptive and responsive to changes in the operating environment which is dynamic. Mupani and Chipunza (2019) shared that pressures in the environment have resulted in both large and small organizations putting in place effective human resource strategies that fit into their institutional, cultural, and local environment to be able to compete effectively. The employee management process revolves around both leadership and followership practices that provide synergy to the business. An understanding of how environmental influences, human capital strategies, and SME performance work together to create sustained competitive advantage is therefore important to firm performance. In this regard, all participants in this study have a clear understanding of how they and their employees make a difference to how the firm recognizes and takes advantage of

opportunities in the environment. The participants engage in market research to be able to adapt their responses to changes in the market. The act of constantly conducting environmental scanning reflects that they understand that the environment is not static and therefore their responses should not be. In conducting environmental analysis, the participants seek to capture data on factor conditions, competitors, government, and customer insights. Yasmin et al. (2020) concluded that data driven organizations are more profitable and productive than their competitors, additionally, the ability to merge infrastructure, human resources, and management capabilities results in superior financial and operational performance.

Digitalization presents increased opportunities for entrepreneurial SMEs to achieve scale at a lower cost, reach wider markets, engage with customers, analyze competitors, and to enter into strategic partnerships (Cenamor et al., (2019). The right partnership expands the ability to be able to compete effectively. In pursuing opportunities to expand their ability to increase sales, the five participants have entered into various partnerships in complementary sectors in order to offer added value to customers and as a result improve business performance. By looking to related and supporting industries, the participants have been able to deploy their resources more effectively. Amber for example entered into a partnership with tailors, as a result, when customers view the complete outfit, there is a more compelling reason to buy. Diamond has a partnership with a jewelry seller which is also a related industry, she displays her clothes with different jewelry to increase the appeal while also benefiting from the footfall of the customers of the jewelry seller. Emerald provides makeup for various

beauty and fashion events which are complementary industries and enhance her brand appeal. Peridot has partnerships with various beauty brands and sells complementary lifestyle products that support her brand. Ruby has built her business around school supplies and the complementary lifestyle products that support that value chain, she has leveraged opportunities in partnering with some key brands to enhance her value delivery and embarked on backward integration to gain a cost advantage. The participants have demonstrated an understanding of what it takes to be able to gain and sustain competitive advantage, they have successfully operated their businesses by being proactive, optimizing resources, and taking advantage of market opportunities to grow their businesses while remaining flexible in response to the changing operating environment. This research study has in addressing Porter's (1991) dynamic theory of strategy and also addressed the literature review which built upon the key constructs contained in the conceptual framework.

Adopting Porter's dynamic theory of strategy enabled me to gain an indepth understanding of the strategies that retail SME owners employed to improve sales. My research findings revealed that business owners that are deliberate about how they want to compete and offer a unique value to their customers show better financial performance. The participants demonstrated that they are constantly scanning the market for new opportunities and deploying resources in the most effective way to improve their performance.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings from this study may prove relevant to both current and emerging SME business owners that wish to develop strategies to grow their sales. SME owners strive to build their businesses by engaging in entrepreneurial activities, utilizing the knowledge gained from this study, SME owners may be better positioned to understand their business environment, and how to recognize and take advantage of business opportunities as they arise. The results from this study might improve business patronage and thereby grow sales of SME businesses by providing them with proven strategies to grow their sales. The study findings include six key themes: (a) enhancing competitive advantage through the business structure; (b) distribution channels, product range, and leveraging networks; (c) human capital development; (d) turning challenges into innovation opportunities and enhancing business performance; (e) creating product awareness; and (f) using data analysis for effective decision making. Having a wellarticulated vision for the business is the starting point to gaining and sustaining competitive advantage. Block et al. (2017) established a positive relationship between innovation, business performance, and firm growth. By understanding how internal and external conditions, strategy and firm responses to opportunities and threats, as well as the industry drivers work together to enable business success, business owners might develop sound business practices to ensure continuous sales growth.

Implications for Social Change

Implementing the findings of this research as well as recommendations may positively affect the financial performance of SMEs by improving their sales. In addition,

if SMEs improve sales, it might expand job creation leading to overall improvement in the local economy because of the contribution of SMEs to growth and development. Given that SMEs have limited resources, knowledge garnered from this study might help them to optimize their resources and as a result be able to employ more people and thus to improve the economic output of the communities that they live and work in. The findings from this study might contribute to positive social change as a result of the likely improvement in business practices resulting in job creation, increased revenue to Government to improve infrastructure from tax receipts, and increased sales revenue. Additional benefits that may arise from this research include better living standards and quality of life for SME employees as SME owners might create more jobs as they improve sales

Recommendations for Action

Existing and intending SMEs should pay attention to the findings from this study. By understanding and adopting the findings from this study, they can benefit from implementing proven strategies that some retail SME owners used to improve sales and thereby grow their businesses. From analysis of the data and the literature review, I recommend action targeted at growing capacity, business skills training, and enabling operating environment by the various government agencies that focus on growing SMEs: These are specifically the SMEDAN, CBN, and Bank of Industry. I will publish papers about my findings and share with the various government agencies to help them develop and modify training programs as well as intervention actions to foster growth of these businesses. The private sector institutions that promote small business growth can also

benefit from including my findings in training and mentoring as well as capacity building programs to encourage capacity building and growth.

Both existing and potential SMEs should learn that they make a difference to the eventual success or failure of their businesses. They should ensure adequate preparation before starting the business by doing research to understand the market, identify opportunities, and to evaluate how they can strategically take advantage of emerging opportunities. If they do not have adequate business experience, they should invest in getting the relevant training including reading findings such as this study to acquaint themselves with the right knowledge to grow their businesses. In making hiring decisions, they should understand that human resources are a critical asset and that they must also invest in training their staff to be and remain competitive.

Additionally, SMEs should understand their operating environment and keep abreast of current innovations to enhance their performance. Conducting environmental scanning helps to identify opportunities and to take advantage of such opportunities. An understanding that market conditions are dynamic will help the SMEs to seek growth not as an end but on a continuous basis knowing that they must be adept at being innovative and in bringing new products and services to the market. They should learn the relevance of data to effective decision making and seek ways to get relevant data. As SMEs have limited reach, they should explore the right partnerships and collaborations to achieve synergy and enhance growth opportunities. Given their inability to access traditional sources of finance and the attendant cost with the likely impact on business profitability and growth, SMEs should explore more creative sources of funding to grow their

businesses especially those that give them access not only to finance but also business development and product testing such as crowdfunding and incubators. Expanding their network of potential partners helps to expand their likelihood of success, they should however look to partners with proven track record and alignment in values and outlook.

I will provide the study participants with a summary of my findings, I expect that each might benefit from others' insights and apply to their businesses to further enhance sales. I also intend to use some of the research data to possibly publish at least a couple of journal articles as I did not use all the research materials that I gathered in the course of writing this study. As an emerging entrepreneur myself, I have benefitted from this study and will apply the findings to also improve my business performance, I will also be sharing my findings with other emerging entrepreneurs as I intend to anchor capacity building programs.

Recommendations for Further Research

All the research participants are based in Lagos which is the commercial capital of Nigeria, and accounts for the largest number of SMEs. A study in a less economically active geographic area might reveal insights that are more relevant to that location.

Furthermore, the study focused on only retail SME owners, a focus on different industry segments within the SME target market might yield further insights.

Reflections

As a novice researcher, I had and still have a lot to learn about conducting research that is both reliable and valid and meets the highest scholarly standards. I was concerned that I might influence the quality of the findings because I might introduce

unintended bias when gathering data. My reflective journal was very useful in helping me to evaluate my role and how I looked at the data. I ensured that I followed proven research practices to mitigate potential bias in the data gathering and the data analysis process. I have previously managed SMEs while working in a bank, I put aside the existing knowledge I had about them and approached my data gathering with curiosity to gain insights and to ensure that the findings reflected the participants' perspectives and not mine. It was initially difficult to get SME owners to take part in the study especially as the Covid-19 pandemic was still in place but at a much lower rate. Fortunately, with technology, I was able to offer virtual alternatives to gather data. Additionally, not all the participants were willing to share company documents especially relating to financials, I was able to work with what information they were willing to share, I also deployed my research skills to getting additional information online. Overall, it has been a rewarding experience, I have learned to be enquiring and to consider alternative choices before arriving at conclusions as well as to support decisions with empirical evidence rather than emotions. I am a better scholar from the experience I have garnered in the course of this study.

Conclusion

All five participants in this research study are successful retail SME business owners. Despite operating in very competitive markets, these SME owners have continuously grown their businesses and been able to compete effectively. Having a clear strategy is the starting point to growing the business, this involves identifying and leveraging one's source of competitive advantage. Given that the operating environment

is dynamic, business owners must engage in continuous analysis to ensure that they maximize opportunities and delivers consistent value to customers. To be able to maximize opportunities, internal resources must be properly harnessed while using the right collaboration and partnerships to strengthen market position and to achieve scale and breadth of operations.

The research question for this study was: What strategies do retail SME owners implement to improve sales? The participants in this study relied on their knowledge and skill as business owners to take decisions that saw them grow their businesses. They understood the importance of motivated and skilled workers and built team spirit so that their sales staff worked with them to grow the business often coming up with innovative ideas to propel the business forward. The participants employed innovation and creativity to gain market share. To ensure that they optimized resources, they leveraged technology to enhance their business processes and save cost. In today's connected world, the participants effectively used social media to engage with customers, analyze competitors and as a distribution channel as well as to increase brand presence and recognition. The participants made seeking new opportunities a business strategy and were thus able to attain and sustain their competitive positions and to grow their businesses.

References

- Abatecola, G., & Uli, V. (2016). Entrepreneurial competences, liability of newness and infant survival: Evidence from the service industry. *Journal of Management Development*, 35(9), 1082–1097. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-09-2014-0094
- Abdallah, A.B., Dahiyat, S., & Matsui, Y. (2019). Lean management and innovation performance: Evidence from international manufacturing companies. *Management Research Review*, 42, 239–262. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-10-2017-0363
- Abdul Balogun, O., Ansary, N., & Ekolu, S. (2017). Analysis of determinants of revolving credit for small and medium construction enterprises: A case study of Gauteng Province. *Procedia Engineering*, 196, 244–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.07.196
- Abhari, K., Davidson, E. J., & Xiao, B. (2017). Co-innovation platform affordances:

 Developing a conceptual model and measurement instrument. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(5), 873–895. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-05-2016-0156
- Abrell, T., Pihlajamaa, M., Kanto, L., Vom Brocke, J., & Uebernickel, F. (2016). The role of users and customers in digital innovation: Insights from B2B manufacturing firms. *Information & Management*, *53*(3), 324–335. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2015.12.005
- Abumalloh, R. A., Ibrahim, O., & Nilashi, M. (2020). Loyalty of young female Arabic customers towards recommendation agents: A new model for B2C e-commerce.

- Technology in Society, 61, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2020.101253
- Acikgonul, Y. E. (2016). Reflections on the principle of non-cut off: A growing concept in maritime boundary delimitation law. *Ocean Development & International Law*, 47(1), 52–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/00908320.2016.1124485
- Aczel, P. (2015). Case study method. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing*, & *Marketing*, 4(9), 15–22.
- Adams, C., & Van Manen, M. A. (2017). Teaching phenomenological research and writing. Qualitative Health Research, 27(6), 780–791.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317698960
- Ahern, K. (2012). Informed consent: Are researchers accurately representing risks and benefits? *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, *26*(4), 671–678. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.00978.x
- Ailawadi, K. L., & Keller, K. L. (2004). Understanding retail branding: Conceptual insights and research priorities. *Journal of Retailing*, 80(4), 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2004.10.008
- Akhmedova, A., Marimon, F., & Mas-Machuca, M. (2020). Winning strategies for customer loyalty in the sharing economy: A mixed-method study. *Journal of Business Research*, *112*, 33–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.02.046
- Aksoy, H. (2017). How do innovation culture, marketing innovation and product innovation affect the market performance of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). *Technology in Society*, *51*, 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2017.08.

- Albort-Morant, G., & Oghazi, P. (2016). How useful are incubators for new entrepreneurs? Journal of Business Research, 69(6), 2125–2129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.12.019
- Ali, A. M., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 5(1/2), 25–64. https://doi.org/10.22164/isea.v5i1.59
- Alsaad, A., Mohamad, R., & Ismail, N. A. (2017). The moderating role of trust in business to business electronic commerce (B2B EC) adoption. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 68, 157–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.040
- Aluwihare-Samaranayake, D. (2012). Ethics in qualitative research: A view of the participants' and researchers' world from a critical standpoint. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 11(2), 64–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691201100208
- Ambrish. (2014). Entrepreneurship development: An approach to economic empowerment of women. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Approach* and Studies, 1(6), 224–232.
- Anney, V. N. (2015). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research:

 Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 5, 272–281.
- Ansoff, H. I. (1965). Corporate strategy: An analytic approach to business policy for growth and expansion. McGraw Hill.
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A

- focus on qualitative research interview. Qualitative Report, 18(8), 1–9.
- Arend, R. J., Sarooghi, H., & Burkemper, A. (2015). Effectuation as ineffectual?

 Applying the 3e theory-assessment framework to a proposed new theory of entrepreneurship. *Academy of Management Review, 40*(4), 630–651.

 https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2014.0455
- Arsel, Z. (2017). Asking questions with reflexive focus: A tutorial on designing and conducting interviews. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *44*(4), 939–948. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx096
- Atsan, N. (2016). Failure experiences of entrepreneurs: Causes and learning outcomes.

 *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 235, 435–442.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.11.054
- Audrezet, A., de Kerviler, G., & Moulard, J. G. (2020). Authenticity under threat: When social media influencers need to go beyond self-presentation. *Journal of Business Research*, *117*, 557–569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.07.008
- Awasthi, Y., & Mathur, H. P. (2017). Small and medium enterprises: Problems of entrepreneurs. *International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 8(4), 4–7.
- Awunyo-Vitor, D. (2018). Theoretical and conceptual framework of access to financial services by farmers in emerging economies: Implication for empirical analysis.

 Acta Universitatis Sapientiae, Economics & Business, 6(1), 43–59.

 https://doi.org/10.1515/auseb-2018-0003
- Bãcanu, B. (2016). Competitive advantage: The emperor has no clothes. Bulletin of the

- *Transylvania University of Brasov Series V: Economic Sciences*, 9(58), 99–106.
- Balci, D., & Giray, F. H. (2020). Competitive analysis of Isparta fruit sector through diamond model. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture: Food Science and Technology*, 8(3), 784–792. https://doi.org/10.24925/turjaf.v8i3.784-792.3358
- Bansal, P. (2018). New ways of seeing through qualitative research. *Academy of Management Journal*, 61(4), 1189–1195. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2018.4004
- Barlatier, P.-J., & Josserand, E. (2018). Delivering open innovation promises through social media. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *39*(6), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbs-12-2017-0175
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 99–120.
- Barratt, M. J., Ferris, J. A., & Lenton, S. (2015). Hidden population, online purposive sampling, and validity: Taking off the blindfold. *Field Methods*, *27*(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X14526838
- Bature, S. W., Sallehuddin, R. M., & Hin, C. W. (2018). Learning orientation, access to debt finance, organizational capability and performance of small and medium enterprises: A proposed model. *Academy of Accounting & Financial Studies Journal*, 22(3), 1–11.
- Behling, G., & Lenzi, F. C. (2019). Entrepreneurial competencies and strategic behavior: a study of micro entrepreneurs in an emerging country. *Brazilian Business**Review, 16(3), 255–272. https://doi.org/10.15728/bbr.2019.16.3.4
- Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach

- to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40–43. https://doiorg.ipacez.nd.edu.au/10.7748/nr2012.11.20.2.40.c9442
- Bellner, B., & MacLean, D. (2015). Dynamic managerial capabilities and competitive advantage. *Strategic Management*, *3*(3), 1–23. http://dx.doi.org/10.15640/smq.v3n3a1
- Bernard, M. (2016). The impact of social media on the B2B CMO. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 31(8), 955–960. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-10-2016-268
- Bhattacharya, K., & Datta, B. (2010). Tata Steelium-A success story in B2B marketing.

 Vikalpa: The Journal for Decision Makers, 35(2), 127–139.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0256090920100208
- Bhattacharya, S., Kirankumar, S., Momaya, K. S., & Iyer, K. C. (2020). Benchmarking enablers to achieve growth performance: a conceptual framework. *Benchmarking:*An International Journal, 27(4), 1475–1501. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-08-2019-0376
- Bhuiyan, M. F., & Ivlevs, A. (2019). Micro-entrepreneurship and subjective well-being: Evidence from rural Bangladesh. Journal of Business Venturing, 34(4), 625–645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2018.09.005
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking: A tool to enhance trustworthiness of merely a not to validation? *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802–1811. https://doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Black, J. D., Palombaro, K. M., & Dole, R. L. (2013). Student experiences in creating and launching a student-led physical therapy pro bono clinic: A qualitative

- investigation. *Physical Therapy*, *93*(5), 637–648. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20110430
- Blakely, H., & Moles, K. (2017). Interviewing in the 'interview society.' Making visible the biographical work of producing accounts for interviews. *Qualitative Research*. *17*(2), 159–172. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116686825
- Bleske-Rechek, A., Morrison, K. M., & Heidtke, L. D. (2015). Causal inference from descriptions of experimental and non-experimental research: Public understanding of correlation-versus-causation. *Journal of General Psychology, 142*(1), 48–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.2014.977216
- Block, J. H., Fisch, C. O., & Van Praag, M. (2017). The Schumpeterian entrepreneur: A review of the empirical evidence on the antecedents, behaviour, and consequences of innovation entrepreneurship. Industry and Innovation, 24(1), 61–95.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2016.1216397
- Bocconcelli, R., Cioppi, M., & Pagano, A. (2017). Social media as a resource in SMEs' sales process. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, *32*(5), 693–709. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-11-2014-0244
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426–432. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Bolat, E., Kooli, K., & Wright, L. T. (2016). Businesses and mobile social media capability. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing, 31*(8), 971-981. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-10-2016-270

- Bouwman, H., Nikou, S., & de Reuver, M. (2019). Digitalization, business model, and SMEs: How do business model innovation practices improve performance of digitalizing SMEs. *Telecommunications Policy*, *43*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2019.101828
- Bowen, G. A. (2008). Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: A research note. *Qualitative Research*, 8(1), 137–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794107085301
- Boyle, E. (2007). A process model for brand cocreation: Brand management and research implications. *Journal of Product and Brand management*, *16*(2), 122–131. https://doi.org/10.1108/10610420710739991
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationale.

 *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 1–16.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676X.2019.1704846
- Brink, T. (2017a). B2B SME management of antecedents to the application of social media. Industrial Marketing Management, 64, 57–65.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.02.007
- Brink, T. (2017b). SME routes for innovation collaboration with larger enterprises. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *64*, 122–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.01.010
- Brito, R. P., & Miguel, P. L. S. (2017). Power, governance, and value in collaboration:

 Differences between buyer and supplier perspectives. *Journal of Supply Chain*

- Management, 53(2), 61-87. https://doi.org/10.1111/jscm.12134
- Broman, K. W., & Woo, K. H. (2018). Data organization in spreadsheets. The American Statistician, 72(1), 2–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2017.1375989
- Brown, B., & Anthony, S. D. (2011). How P & G tripled its innovation success rate.

 Harvard Business Publishing, 89, 64–72. https://hbsp.harvard.edu/tu/5ff87fd4
- Brown, R., Mawson, S., Rowe, A., & Mason, C. (2018). Working the crowd:

 Improvisational entrepreneurship and equity crowdfunding in nascent entrepreneurial ventures. *International Small Business Journal*, *36*(2), 169–193. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242617729743
- Busby, J. S. (2019). The co-evolution of competition and parasitism in the resource-based view: A risk model of product counterfeiting. *European Journal of Operational Research*, *276*(1), 300–313.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2018.12.039
- Cabrer-Borrás, B., & Rico Belda, P. (2018). Survival of entrepreneurship in Spain. *Small Business Economics*, 51(1), 265–278. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9923-1
- Carlson, J. A. (2010). Avoiding traps in member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, *15*(5), 1102–1113.
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811–831. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/qr/index.html
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Methodology matters, thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy*

- Teaching and Learning, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Cawsey, T., & Rowley, J. (2016). Social media brand building strategies in B2B companies. *Marketing Intelligence & Planning, 34*(6), 754–776. https://doi.org/10.1108/MIP-04-2015-0079
- Cenamor, J., Parida, V., & Wincent, J. (2019). How entrepreneurial SMEs compete through digital platforms: The roles of digital platform capability, network capability and ambidexterity. *Journal of Business Research*, *100*, 196–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.03.035.
- Centeno, E., Cambra-Fierro, J., Vazquez-Carrasco, R., Hart, S. J., & Dinnie, K. (2019).

 The interplay between SME owner-managers and the brand-as-a-person. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 28(4), 555–572. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-10-2017-1645
- Central Bank of Nigeria. (n.d.). The history of Nigerian currency. Retrieved from https://www.cbn.gov.ng/
- Chakraborty, D., & Biswas, W. (2020). Articulating the value of human resource planning (HRP) activities in augmenting organizational performance toward a sustained competitive firm. *Journal of Asia Business Studies, 14*(1), 62–90. https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-01-2019-0025
- Chang, T.-T., & Ha-Brookshire, J. (2011). Business activities, competitive resources and ownership types of Chinese textile and apparel manufacturing firms. *International Journal of Fashion Design, Technology & Education*, 4(2), 115–125.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17543266.2011.560578

- Chang, Y., Wang, X., & Arnett, D. B. (2018). Enhancing firm performance: The role of brand orientation in business-to-business marketing. Industrial Marketing
 Management, 72, 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.01.031
- Chemmanur, T. J., & Tian, X. (2018). Do antitakeover provisions spur corporate innovation? A regression discontinuity analysis. *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, *53*(3), 1163–1194. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022109018000029
- Cheng, J.-H., & Liu, S.-F. (2017). A study of innovative product marketing strategies for technological SMEs. Journal of Interdisciplinary Mathematics, 20(1), 319–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/09720502.2016.1258837
- Cheng, T.-S. (2019). The study of relationship for personality traits, perception risk, motivation, business strategies environment factors and business performance to entrepreneurs. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, *12*(2), 360–371.
- Chokpitakkul, N., & Anantachart, S. (2020). Developing and validating a scale of consumer-based brand equity for SMEs: evidence from Thailand. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 27(3), 383–404. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-04-2019-0138
- Choo, H. J., Moon, H., Kim, H., & Yoon, N. (2012). Luxury customer value. *Journal of Fashion Marketing and Management*, 16(1), 81–101.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/13612021211203041

- Christensen, C. M., Hall, T., Dillon, K., & Duncan, D. S. (2016). Know your customers' "jobs to be done." *Harvard Business Review*, *94*(9), 54–62. Retrieved from https://hbsp.harvard.edu/tu/9fd2a485
- Christie, C. D., Bemister, T. B., & Dobson, K. S. (2014). Record-informing and note-taking: A continuation of the debate about their impact on client perceptions.

 *Canadian Psychology Association, 56(1), 118–122.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037860
- Chu, H., & Ke, Q. (2017). Research methods: What's in the name? *Library and Information Science Research*, *39*(4), 284–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2017.11.001
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89(5), 482 –485.
- Clegg, S. R., Jarvis, W. P., & Pitsis, T. S. (2013). Making strategy matter: Social theory, knowledge interests and business education. *Business History*, *55*(7), 1247–1264. https://doi.org/10.1080/0076791.2013.838033
- Cohen, M. L. B. (2017). *Crowd funding as a financing resource for small businesses*(Publication No. 10286772) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Walden-Minneapolis]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Coogan, L. L. (2015). Teaching across courses: Using the concept of related markets from economics to explain statistics' causation and correlations. *B>Quest*, 1–10. http://www.westga.edu/~bquest/
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative

- research. *Oncology Nursing Forum, 41*(1), 89–91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Cortez, R. M., & Johnston, W. J. (2019). Marketing role in B2B setting: Evidence from advanced, emerging and developing markets. *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, 34(3), 605–617. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-04-2017-0089
- Crane, A., Henriques, I., & Husted, B. W. (2018). Quants and poets: Advancing methods and methodologies in business and society research. *Business & Society*, *57*(1), 3–25. https://doi.org/10.1177/0007650317718129
- Cruz, A. M., & Haugan, G. L. (2019). Determinants of maintenance performance: A resource-based view and agency theory approach. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, *51*, 33–47.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2019.03.001
- Cunliffe, A. L., & Alcadipani, R. (2016). The politics of access in fieldwork: Immersion, backstage dramas and deception. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19(4), 535–561. https://doi:10.1177/1094428116639134
- Currie, G., & Spyridonidis, D. (2018). Sharing leadership for diffusion of innovation in professionalized settings. Human Relations, 72(7), 1209–1233. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726718796175
- Darawsheh, W. (2014). Reflexivity in research: Promoting rigour, reliability and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 21(12), 560–568. https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2014.21.12.560
- Day, G. (2014). An outside-in approach to resource-based theories. Journal of the

- Academy of Marketing Science, 42, 27–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-013-0348-3
- de Guimarães, J. C. F., Severo, E. A., Campos, D. F., El-Aouar, W. A., & de Azevedo, F.
 L. B. (2020). Strategic drivers for product and process innovation: A survey in industrial manufacturing, commerce and services. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 27(3). 1159–1187. https://doi.org/10.1108/BIJ-12-2018-0403
- Del Giudice, M., Scuotto, V., Garcia-Perez, A., & Messeni Petruzzelli, A. (2019).

 Shifting wealth II in Chinese economy. The effect of the horizontal technology spillover for SMEs for international growth. *Technological Forecasting & Social Change*, 145, 307–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.03.013
- Del Vecchio, P., Di Minin, A., Petruzzelli, A. M., Panniello, U., & Pirri, S. (2017). Big data for open innovation in SMEs and large corporations: Trends, opportunities, and challenges. *Creativity & Innovation Management*, *27*(1), 6–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12224
- De Massis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research:

 Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *5*(1),

 15–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- de Medeiros, M. M., Maçada, A. C. G., & Freitas, J. C. D. (2020). The effect of data strategy on competitive advantage. *The Bottom Line*, *33*(2), 201–216. https://doi.org/10.1108/BL-12-2019-0131
- De Melo, F. L. N. B., da Silva, R. R., & de Almeida, T. N. V. (2019). Gender and

- entrepreneurship: A comparative study between the Causation and Effectuation approaches. *Brazilian Business Review*, *16*(3), 273–296. https://doi.org/10.15728/bbr.2019.16.3.5
- Dempsey, L., Dowling, M., Larkin, P., & Murphy, K. (2016). Sensitive interviewing in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *39*(6), 480–490. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21743
- Dennis, B. K. (2014). Understanding participant experiences: Reflections of a novice research participant. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*(1), 395–410. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300121
- Denzin, N. K. (2009). The research act: A theoretical introduction to sociological methods (3rd ed.). Prentice Hall.
- Dimitrios, T., & Antigoni, F. (2018). Ethics and deontology in nursing research: A discussion paper. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 11, 1982–1989.
- Dimov, D. (2017). Towards a qualitative understanding of human capital in entrepreneurship research. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship Behavior & Research*, 23(2), 210–227. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-01-2016-0016
- Djelassi, S., & Decoopman, I. (2016). Innovation through interactive crowdsourcing: The role of boundary objects. *Recherche et Applications en Marketing, 31*(3), 131–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/2051570716650160
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data.

 Nurse researcher, 20(5), 28–32. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Drover, W., Busenitz, L., Matusik, S., Townsend, D., Anglin, A., & Dushnitsky, G.

- (2017). A review and road map of entrepreneurial equity financing research: venture capital, corporate venture capital, angel investment, crowdfunding, and accelerators. *Journal of Management*, *43*(6), 1820–1853. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206317690584
- Du Plessis, L., & Krüger, J. J. (2018). Methods, measures and indicators for evaluating benefits of transportation research. *International Journal of Pavement*Engineering, 19(2), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/10298436.2016.1172713
- Ebrahimi, P., Ahmadi, M., Gholampour, A., & Alipour, H. (2019). CRM performance and development of media entrepreneurship in digital, social media and mobile commerce. *International Journal of Emerging Markets*, (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOEM-11-2018-0588
- Eggers, J. P., & Kaul, A. (2016, October 19). When big firms are most likely to innovate.

 Harvard Business Review. https://hbr.org/2016/10/when-big-firms-are-most-likely-to-innovate
- El-Akruti, K., Kiridena, S., & Dwight, R. (2018). Contextualist-retroductive case study design for strategic asset management research. *Production Planning & Control*, 29(16), 1332–1342. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2018.1535145
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).

 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *Sage Open*, 4(1), 1–10.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633
- e Meirelles, D. S. (2019). Business model and strategy: In search of dialog through value perspective. *RAC Revista de Administração Contemporânea*, *23*(6), 786–806.

https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-7849rac2019180314

- Erboz, G. (2020). A qualitative study on industry 4.0 competitiveness in Turkey using Porter diamond model. *Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management*, 13(2), 266–282. https://doi.org/10.3926/jiem.2915
- Erlingsson, C., & Brysiewicz, P. (2017). A hands-on guide to doing content analysis.

 *African Journal of Emergency Medicine, 7(3), 93–99.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.afjem.2017.08.001
- Farquhar, J., Michels, N., & Robson, J. (2020). Triangulation in industrial qualitative case study research: Widening the scope. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 87, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.001
- Ferraris, A., Mazzoleni, A., Devalle, A., & Couturier, J. (2019). Big data analytics capabilities and knowledge management: Impact on firm performance. *Management Decision*, *57*(8), 1923–1936. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-07-2018-0825
- Ferreira, J., Coelho, A., & Moutinho, L. (2020). The influence of strategic alliances on innovation and new product development through the effects of exploration and exploitation. *Management Decision*, (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-09-2019-1239
- Field, L., Pruchno, R. A., Bewley, J., Lemay, E. P., & Levinsky, N. G. (2006). Using probability versus nonprobability sampling to identify hard-to-access participants for health-related research: Cost and contrasts. *Journal of Aging and Health,* 18(4), 565–583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264306291420

- Filho, E. E., Albuquerque, A. F., Nagano, M. S., Junior, L. A. P., & de Oliveira, J. (2017). Identifying SME mortality factors in the life cycle stages: An empirical approach of relevant factors for small business owner-managers in Brazil. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 7(5), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40497-017-0064-4
- Fina, Y., Arifin, Z., & Mawardi, M. K. (2017). The influence of social capital and entrepreneurship orientation on business strategy and performance of micro, small and medium enterprises: A study in Timor Tengah Utara. Russian Journal of Agricultural and Socio-Economic Sciences, 72, 93–99.

 https://doi.org/10.18551/rjoas.2017-12.11
- Fisher, G., Kotha, S., & Lahiri, A. (2016). Changing with the times: An integrated view of identity, legitimacy, and new venture lifecycles. *Academy of Management Review*, 41(3), 383–409. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2013.0496
- Fixson, S., & Marion, T. (2016, December 15). A case study of crowdsourcing gone wrong. *Harvard Business Review Digital Articles*, 2–5.

 https://hbsp.harvard.edu/tu/6489367d
- Fletcher, M., Zhao, Y., Plakoyiannaki, E., & Buck, T. (2018). Three pathways to case selection in international business: A twenty-year review, analysis and synthesis. *International Business Review*, *27*(4), 755–766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2017.12.004
- Foroudi, P., Gupta, S., Nazarian, A., & Duda, M. (2017). Digital technology and marketing management capability: Achieving growth in SMEs. *Qualitative*

- Market Research: An International Journal, 20(2), 230–246. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-01-2017-0014
- Fréchet, M., & Goy, H. (2017). Does strategy formalization foster innovation? Evidence from a French sample of small to medium-sized enterprises. *M@n@gement*, *AIMS (Association internationale de management stratégique)*, 20, 266–286
- Frynas, J. G., Mol, M. J., & Mellahi, K. (2018). Management innovation made in China: Haier's Rendanheyi. *California Management Review*, 61(1), 71–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/0008125618790244
- Fusch, G. E., Fusch, C. J., Booker, J. M., & Fusch, P. I. (2016). Why culture matters in business research. *Journal of Social Change*, 8(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2016.08.1.04
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923–941.
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408–1416.
- Galiakberova, A. A. (2019). Conceptual analysis of education role in economics: the human capital theory. *Journal of History, Culture & Art Research / Tarih Kültür ve Sanat Arastirmalari Dergisi*, 8(3), 410–421.

https://doi.org/10.7596/taksad.v8i3.2256

- Galindo, M.-A., & Mendez-Picazo, M.-T. (2013). Innovation, entrepreneurship and economic growth. *Management Decision*, *51*(3), 501–514. https://doi.org/10.1108/0025174131130962
- Gáti, M., Mitev, A., & Bauer, A. (2018). Investigating the impact of salespersons' use of technology and social media on their customer relationship performance in b2b settings. *Trziste / Market*, *30*(2), 165–176.

 https://doi.org/10.22598/mt/2018.30.2.165
- Gentles, S., Charles, C., Nicholas, D. B., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. A. (2016).

 Reviewing the research methods literature: Principles and strategies illustrated by a systematic overview of sampling in qualitative research. *Systematic Reviews*, 5(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0343-0
- Gerring, J. (2017). Qualitative methods. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 20, 15–36. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-092415-024158
- Gielnik, M. M., Spitzmuller, M., Schmitt, A., Klemann, D. K., & Frese, M. (2015). I put in effort, therefore I am passionate: Investigating the path from effort to passion in entrepreneurship. *Academy of Management Journal*, *58*(4), 1012–1031. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2011.0727
- Given, L., & Olson, H. (2013). Organizing knowledge = organizing data: Applying principles of information organization to the research process. *Proceedings of the Annual Conference of CAIS* / Actes du Congrès Annuel de L'ACSI. 192–199. https://doi.org/10.29173/cais486

- Goldberg, M. E. (2003). Correlation, causation, and smoking initiation among youths. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *43*(4), 431–440. https://doi.org/10.2501/JAR-43-4-431-440
- Gorovaia, N., & Windsperger, J. (2018). The choice of contract duration in franchising networks: A transaction cost and resource-based view. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 75, 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2018.03.002
- Gould, A. M., & Desjardins, G. (2015). A spring clean of Michael Porter's attic. The Canadian telecommunications sector as an exemplar of refurbished generic strategy. *Competitiveness Review*, 25(3), 310–323. https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-04-2014-0008
- Graue, C. (2015). Qualitative data analysis. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing and Marketing*, 4(9), 5–14.
- Greco, M., Grimaldi, M., & Cricelli, L. (2016). An analysis of the open innovation effect on firm performance. *European Management Journal*, *34*(5), 501–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.02.008
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Gummesson, E. (2014). The theory/practice gap in B2B marketing: Reflections and search for solutions. *Journal of Business and Industrial Marketing*, 29(7/8), 619–625. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-10-2013-0222
- Guo, H., Tang, J., Su, Z., & Katz, J. A. (2017). Opportunity recognition and SME

- performance: the mediating effect of business model innovation. *R&D Management*, 47(3), 431–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/radm.12219
- Haddad, M. I., Williams, I. A., Hammoud, M. S., & Dwyer, R. J. (2019). Strategies for implementing innovation in small and medium-sized enterprises. *Journal of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development*, 16(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1108/WJEMSD-05-2019-0032
- Haddadi, A., Hosseini, A., Johansen, A., & Olsson, N. (2017). Pursuing value creation in construction by research- A study of applied research methodologies. *Procedia Computer Science*, 121, 1080–1087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2017.11.138
- Hagos, F., Singh, A. P., & Singh, R. (2018). Determinants of competitiveness of garment industry in Ethiopia- An empirical study. *Vision (09722629)*, 22(2), 121–134. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972262918767042
- Hailemariam, M., Fekadu, A., Prince, M., & Hanlon, C. (2017). Engaging and staying engaged: A phenomenological study of barriers to equitable access to mental healthcare for people with severe mental disorders in a rural African setting. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 16(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-017-0657-0
- Haines, D. (2017). Ethical considerations in qualitative case study research recruiting participants with profound intellectual disabilities. *Research Ethics*, *13*(3-4), 219–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/1747016117711971
- Hales, G., & Mclarney, C. (2017). Uber's competitive advantage vis-à-vis Porter's generic strategies. *The IUP Journal of management Research*, 16(4), 7–22.

- Hall, B. F. (2002). A new model for measuring advertising effectiveness. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 42(2), 23–31.
- Harden, G., Boakye, K. G., & Ryan, S. (2018). Turnover intention of technology professionals: A social exchange theory perspective. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *58*(4), 291–300. https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2016.1236356
- Hardwick, J., & Anderson, A. R. (2019). Supplier-customer engagement for collaborative innovation using video conferencing: A study of SMEs. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 80, 43–57. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.02.013
- Harpa, E. (2017). Macroeconomic analysis of the competitive factors which influence innovation in rural entrepreneurship. *Procedia Engineering*, 181, 965–968.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2017.02.494
- Haselip, J., Dsgain, D., & Mackenzie, G. (2015). Non-financial constraints to scaling-up small and medium-sized energy enterprises: Findings from field research in Ghana, Senegal, Tanzania and Zambia. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 5, 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2014.12.016
- Hean, S., Anderson, L., Green, C., John, C., Pitt, R., & O'Halloran, C. (2016). Reviews of theoretical frameworks: Challenges and judging the quality of theory application. *Medical Teacher*, *38*(6), 613–620. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2015.1075648
- Heiens, R., Pleshko, L. P., & Aldousari, A. A. (2016). Using direct observation to examine the relationship between religiosity, demographics, and consumption in a

- middle eastern retail services setting. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 28(4), 274–282. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08961530.2016.1171741
- Helfat, C. E., & Martin, J. A. (2015). Dynamic managerial capabilities: Review and assessment of managerial impact on strategic change. *Journal of Management*, 41(5), 1281–1312. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206314561301
- Hernandez-Fernandez, A., & Lewis, M. C. (2019). Brand authenticity leads to perceived value and brand trust. *European Journal of Management & Business Economics*, 28(3), 222–238. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJMBE-10-2017-0027
- Hewlett, D., & Brown, L. (2018). Planning for tranquil spaces in rural destinations through mixed methods research. *Tourism Management*, *67*, 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.01.011
- Ho, M. H.-W., Chung, H. F. L., Kingshott, R., & Chiu, C.-C. (in press). Customer engagement, consumption and firm performance in a multi-actor service ecosystem: The moderating role of resource integration. *Journal of Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.02.008
- Holguín-Veras, J., Amaya Leal, J., & Seruya, B. B. (2017). Urban freight policymaking:

 The role of qualitative and quantitative research. *Transport Policy*, *56*, 75–85.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2017.02.011
- Holloway, I., & Wheeler, S. (2010). *Qualitative research in Nursing and Healthcare* (3rd ed.). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Honan, E. (2014). Disrupting the habit of interviewing. *Reconceptualizing Educational Research Methodology*, *5*(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.7577/rerm.929

- Hsieh, Y.-J., & Wu, Y. J. (2019). Entrepreneurship through the platform strategy in the digital era: Insights and research opportunities. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 95, 315–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.03.033
- Hsiung, H.-H., & Bolino, M. C. (2018). The implications of perceived leader favoritism in the context of leader-member exchange relationships. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, *27*(1), 88–99.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432X.2017.1395414
- Hsu, D. K., Wiklund, J., & Cotton, R. G. H. (2017). Success, failure, and entrepreneurial reentry: An experimental assessment of the veracity of self-efficacy and prospect theory. *Entrepreneurship: Theory and Practice*, 41(1), 19–47.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/etap.12166
- Huang, L., & Knight, A. P. (2017). Resources and relationships in entrepreneurship: An exchange theory of the development and effects of the entrepreneur-investor relationship. *Academy of Management Review*, 42(1), 80–102.
 https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2014.0397
- Huggins, R., Prokop, D., & Thompson, P. (2017). Entrepreneurship and the determinants of firm survival within regions: Human capital, growth motivation and locational conditions. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, *29*(3-4), 357–389.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2016.1271830
- Hughes, P., & Hodgkinson, I. (2020). Knowledge management activities and strategic planning capability development. *European Business Review*, (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-03-2019-0034

- Hussain, K., Jing, F., Junaid, M., Shi, H., & Baig, U. (2020). The buyer-seller
 relationship: A literature synthesis on dynamic perspectives. *Journal of Business* & *Industrial Marketing*, 35/4, 669–684. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.1050
- Ibrahim, E. B., & Harrison, T. (2020). The impact of internal, external, and competitor factors on marketing strategy performance. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, *28*(7), 639–658. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2019.1609571
- Ipinnaiye, O., Dineen, D., & Lenihan, H. (2017). Drivers of SME performance: A holistic and multivariate approach. *Small Business Economics*, 48, 883–911. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-016-9819-5
- Iršič, M. (2017). The effect of adaptation and trust on positional advantage of companies in B2B relationships: The moderating role of relationship value. *Economic Research* 30(1), 76–90. http://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2017.1305781
- Ismail, A. I., Abdul Majid, A. H., Jibrin-Bida, M., & Joarder, M. H. R. (2019).

 Moderating effect of management support on the relationship between HR practices and employee performance in Nigeria. *Global Business Review*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150918811487
- Itani, O. S., Agnihotri, R., & Dingus, R. (2017). Social media use in B2b sales and its impact on competitive intelligence collection and adaptive selling: Examining the role of learning orientation as an enabler. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 66, 64–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.06.012
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative*

- Report, 17(42),1–10.
- Jamshed, M., & Ahmad, S. (2018). Niche marketing of date palm-based food and beverages as health products. *Journal of Economic Cooperation & Development*, 39(2), 49–68.
- Jenkins, S., & Delbridge, R. (2013). Context matters: Examining 'soft' and 'hard' approaches to employee engagement in two work places. *The international journal of human resources*, 24(14), 2670–2691. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2013.770780
- Jenner, B. M., & Myers, K. C. (2018). Intimacy, rapport, and exceptional disclosure: A comparison of in-person and mediated interview contexts. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 22(2), 165–177.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1512694
- Johnson, M., Redlbacher, F., & Schalteggar, S. (2018). Stakeholder engagement for corporate sustainability: A comparative analysis of B2C and B2B companies. *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, 25(4), 659—673. https://doi.org/10.1002/csr.1484
- Kaptein, M. (2019). The moral entrepreneur: a new component of ethical leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*, 1135–1150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3641-0
- Kawulich, B. B. (2005). Participant observation as a data collection method. *Forum Qualitative Social Research*, 6(2), 1–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.17169/fqs-6.2.466

 Keane, C., & Costin, Y. (2019). Collaboration in an entrepreneurial cluster: a study of an

- urban coop. Journal of Enterprising Communities: *People and Places in the Global Economy*, 13(5), 605–624. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-02-2019-0012
- Kerr, C., Nixon, A., & Wild, D. (2010). Assessing and demonstrating data saturation in qualitative inquiry supporting patient-reported outcomes research. *Expert Review* of Pharmacoeconomics & Outcomes Research, 10(3), 269–281.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1586/erp.10.30
- Khan, K. U., Xuehe, Z., Atlas, F., & Khan, F. (2019). The impact of dominant logic and competitive intensity on SMEs performance: A case from China. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge, 1*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2018.10.001
- Kihn, L., & Ihantola, E. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 12(3), 230–255. https://doi.org/10.1108/qram-03-2013-0012
- Kim, C., & Mauborgne, R. (2005). Value innovation: A leap into blue ocean. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 26(4), 22–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02756660510608521
- Kim, D. W., Trimi, S., Hong, S. G., & Lim, S. (2020). Effects of co-creation on organizational performance of small and medium manufacturer. *Journal of Business Research*, 109, 574–584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.03.055
- Klimczak, K. M., Machowiak, W., Staniec, I., & Shachmurove, Y. (2017). Collaboration and collaboration risk in small and middle-size technological enterprises. *LogForum*, 13(2), 221–235. https://doi.org/10.17270/J.LOG.2017.2.9
- Ko, W. W., & Liu, G. (2017). Environmental strategy and competitive advantage: The role of small- and medium-sized enterprises' dynamic capabilities. *Business*

- strategy & the environment, 26(5), 584–596. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1938
- Koehn, R. (2018). The digitalization of marketing and sales in the chemical B2B sector. *Journal of Business chemistry*, 15, 63–70. https://doi.org/10.17879/38129710162
- Kohtamäki, M., & Rajala, R. (2016). Theory and practice of value co-creation in B2B systems. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *56*, 4–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.05.027
- Koryak, O., Mole, K. F., Lockett, A., Hayton, J. C., Ucbasaran, D., & Hodgkinson, G. P.
 (2015). Entrepreneurial leadership, capabilities and firm growth. International Small Business Journal, 33(1), 89–105.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242614558315
- Koudal, P., & Coleman, G. C. (2005). Coordinating operations to enhance innovation in the global corporation. *Strategy and Leadership*, 33(4), 20–32.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/10878570510608013
- Kristensen, G. K., & Ravn, M. N. (2015). The voices heard and the voices silenced:

 Recruitment processes in qualitative interview studies. Qualitative Research,

 15(6), 722–737. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794114567496
- Kurniati, E. D., Susilowati, I., & Suharno. (2019). Sustainable competitive advantage of SMEs through resource and institutional-based management: An empirical study of batik SMEs in central java, Indonesia. *Trziste / Market*, *31*(1), 61–82. https://doi.org/10.22598/mt/2019.31.1.61
- Kwak, G., & Lee, J. (2017). How an economic recession affects qualitative entrepreneurship: Focusing on the entrepreneur's exit decision. *Managerial* &

- Decision Economics, 38(7), 909–922. https://doi.org/10.1002/mde.2824
- Lamb, D. (2013). Research in the first person: Reflection on the research experience using a research journal. *Market and Social Research*, 21(2), 32–39.
- Langley, A., & Klag, M. (2019). Being where? Navigating the involvement paradox in qualitative research accounts. *Organizational Research Methods*, 22(2), 515–538. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428117741967
- Langley, P., & Leyshon, A. (2017). Capitalizing on the crowd: The monetary and financial ecologies of crowdfunding. *Environment & Planning*, 49(5) 1019–1039. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308518X16687556
- Lara, F. J., & Salas-Vallina, A. (2017). Managerial competencies, innovation and engagement in SMEs. The mediating role of organizational learning. *Journal of Business Research*, 79, 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.06.002
- Lashgari, M., Sutton-Brady, C., Søilen, K. S., & Ulfvengren, P. (2018). Adoption strategies of social media in B2B firms: A multiple case study approach. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 33(5), 730–743.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-10-2016-0242

https://doi.org/10.1080/13691066.2015.1037132

- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4*(3), 324–327. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Li, Z., Jarvenpaa, S., & Pattan, N. (2016). Cinetics: Fueling entrepreneurial innovations through crowdfunding. *Journal of Information Technology Teaching Cases*, 6,

75–83. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41266-016-0005-z

- Lichtenthaler, U. (2016). Toward an innovation-based perspective on company performance. (2016). *Management Decision*, *54*(1), 66–87. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-05-2015-0161
- Lin, C.-P., & Tsai, M.-K. (2019). Strengthening long-term job performance: The moderating roles of sense of responsibility and leader's support. *Australian Journal of Management*, *45*(1), 134–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896219842629
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications.
- Ljubownikow, G., & Ang, S. H. (2020). Competition, diversification, and performance.

 Journal of Business Research, 112, 81–94.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.03.002
- Long, H. (2017). Validity in mixed methods research in education: The application of Habermas' critical theory. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 40(2), 201–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2015.1088518
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Field Methods*, *30*(3), 191–2-7. https://doi.org/10.1177/525822x/7749386
- Lumpkin, G. T., Bacq, S., & Pidduck, R. J. (2018). Where change happens: Community-level phenomenon in social entrepreneurship research. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *56*(1), 24–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12379
- Ma, Z., & Jin, Q. (2019). Success factors for product innovation in China's

- manufacturing sector: Strategic choice and environmental constraint. *International Studies of Management & Organization*, 49, 213–231.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00208825.2019.1608397
- Mahdi Tavalaei, M., & Santalo, J. (2019). Pure versus hybrid competitive strategies in the airport industry. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 124*, 444-455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2019.04.015
- Malagueño, R., Lopez-Valeiras, E., & Gomez-Conde, J. (2018). Balanced scorecard in SMEs: Effects on innovation and financial performance. *Small Business Economics*, *51*, 221–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9921-3
- Malterud, K. (2016). Theory and interpretation in qualitative studies from general practice: Why and how? *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *44*(2), 120–129. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494815621181
- Marginson, S. (2019). Limitations of human capital theory. Studies *in Higher Education*, *44*(2), 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1359823
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications
- Mayer-Haug, K., Read, S., Brinckmann, J., Dew, N., & Grichnik, D. (2013).
 Entrepreneurial talent and venture performance: A meta-analytical investigation of SMEs. *Research Policy*, 42(6-7), 1251–1273.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2013.03.001
- McCleskey, J. A. (2014). Situational, transformational and transactional leadership and leadership development. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, *5*(4), 117–130.

- McDowell, W. C., Peake, W. O., Coder, L., & Harris, M. L. (2018). Building small firm performance through intellectual capital development: Exploring innovation as the "black box." *Journal of Business Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.01.025
- McQuarrie, E. F., & McIntyre, S. H. (2014). What can you project from small sample qualitative research? *Marketing Insights*, 26(2), 34–39.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Jossey-Bass.
- Meyer, N., Molefe, K., & De Jong, J. J. (2018). Managerial challenges within SMEs: The case of a developing region. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, *18*(2), 185–196. https://doi.org/10.17512/pjms.2018.18.2.15
- Mikecz, R. (2012). Interviewing elites: Addressing methodological issues. *Qualitative Enquiry*, 18(6), 482–493. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800412442818
- Millar, C. C. J. M., Groth, O., & Mahon, J. F. (2018). Management Innovation in a VUCA World: Challenges and recommendations. *California Management Review*, 61(1), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/0008125618805111
- Millspaugh, J., & Kent, A. (2016). Co-creation and the development of SME designer fashion enterprises. *Journal of Fashion Marketing & Management*, 20(3), 322–338. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFMM-10-2015-0085
- Mohammad, A. A. S. (2012). The effect of brand trust and perceived value in building brand loyalty. *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, 85, 111–126.
- Mohsin, A. M. B. A., Halim, H. A., Ahmad, N. H., & Farhana, N. (2017). Assessing the

- role of entrepreneurial competencies on innovation performance: A partial least squares (PLS) approach. *Journal of Business Inquiry: Research, Education & Application, 16(1),* 88–101.
- Moosmayer, D. C., Niemand, T., & Siems, F. U. (2016). Ethical reasoning in business-to-business negotiations: Evidence from relationships in the chemical industry in Germany. *Business Ethics: A European Review, 25*(2), 128–143.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/beer.12111
- Moreno, S. E. C. (2016). Female entrepreneurship in a forced displacement situation: The case of Usme in Bogota. *Suma De Negocios*, 7(15), 61–72. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sumneg.2016.02.004
- Morgan, M. S. (2018). Exemplification and the use-values of cases and case studies. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science*, 78, 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shpsa.2018.12.008
- Morgan, S. J., Pullon, S. R. H., Macdonald, L. M., McKinlay, E. M., & Gray, B. V. (2017). Case study observational research: A framework for conducting case study research where observation data are the focus. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(7), 1060–1068. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316649160
- Morse, A. L., & McEvoy, C. D. (2014). Qualitative research in sport management: Case study as a methodological approach. *The Qualitative Report*, *19*(31),1–13.
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*(9), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315588501

- Morse, J. M. (2016). Underlying ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(7), 875–876. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316645320
- Moustakas, C. (2011). Phenomenological research methods. Sage.
- Mupani, H., & Chipunza, C. (2019). Environmental influences, employee resourcing strategies and small and medium-sized enterprises performance: Case of South African small restaurants. *South African Journal of Human Resource Management, 17*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajhrm.v17i0.1104
- Murthy, J. J. (2017). Managing innovation and developing intellectual property strategies for firms. *Journal of Management*, *13*, 82–88.
- Mutoko, W. R., & Kapunda, S. M. (2017). Factors influencing small, medium and microsized enterprises' borrowing from banks: The case of the Botswana manufacturing sector. *Acta Commercii*, 17(1), 1–9.
 https://doi.org/10.4102/ac.v17i1.426
- Nair, J., Chellasamy, A., & Singh, B. N. B. (2019). Readiness factors for information technology adoption in SMEs: Testing an exploratory model in an Indian context.

 **Journal of Asia Business Studies, 13(4), 694–718. https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-09-2018-0254
- Narcizo, R. B., Canen, A. G., & Tammela, I. (2017). A conceptual framework to represent the theoretical domain of "innovation capability" in organizations. *Journal of entrepreneurship, management and innovation, 13*(1), 147–166. https://doi.org/10.7341/20171316

- Nasurdin, A. M., Ahmad, N. H., & Tan, C. L. (2015). Cultivating service-oriented citizenship behaviour among hotel employees: The instrumental role of training and compensation. *Service Business*, *9*(2), 343–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11628-014-0230-5
- National Bureau of Statistics. (2017). NBS-SMEDAN national survey of micro, small and medium enterprises in Nigeria (MSMEs). https://nigerianstat.gov.ng/
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects in Biomedical and

 Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. National Institute of health. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/
- Naumann, L. P., Vazire, S., Rentfrow, P. J., & Gosling, S. D. (2009). Personality judgments based on physical appearance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *35*(12), 1661–1671. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167209346309
- Ncube, T. R., & Zondo, R. W. D. (2018). Influence of self-motivation and intrinsic motivational factors for small and medium business growth: A South African case study. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, 21(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajems.v21i1.1994
- Ndiaye, N., Abdul Razak, L., Nagayev, R., & Ng, A. (2018). Demystifying small and medium enterprises' (SMEs) performance in emerging and developing economies. *Borsa Istanbul Review*, *18*(4), 269–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bir.2018.04.003
- Neuvonen, H. (2016). Toward a model of brand strategy adoption. Journal of Brand

- Management, 23(2), 197–215. https://doi.org/10.1057/bm.2016.6
- Ngozwana, N. (2018). Ethical dilemmas in qualitative research methodology: researcher's reflections. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, *4*(1), 19–28. https://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.4.1.19
- Niazi, A. (2017). The role of entrepreneurship, innovation and marketing capability in small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs). *International Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 11, 1748–1759.
- Nkwake, A. M., & Morrow, N. (2016). Clarifying concepts and categories of assumptions for use in evaluation. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *59*, 97–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.05.014
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, *18*(2), 34–35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- North, K., Aramburu, N., & Lorenzo, O. J. (2020). Promoting digitally enabled growth in SMEs: A framework proposal. *Journal of Enterprise Information*Management, 33(1), 238–262. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-04-2019-0103
- Northouse, P. G. (2016). Leadership: Theory and Practice (7th ed.). Sage.
- Nouicer, H., Zaim, I., & Abdallah, L. B. (2017). Explaining the impact of a customeroriented strategy on the small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) global performance: Lessons from the balanced scorecard and the CUSTOR scale model.

 *International Journal of Technology Management & Sustainable Development, 16(3), 266–286. https://doi.org/10.1386/tmsd.16.3.249_1

- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis:

 Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative*Methods, 16(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Nuvolari, A., Toninelli, P. A., & Vasta, M. (2018). What makes a successful (and famous) entrepreneur? Historical evidence from Italy (XIX-XX centuries). *Industrial & Corporate Change*, *27*(3), 425–447. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/dtx033
- Odoom, R., Narteh, B., & Boateng, R. (2017). Branding in small-and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs): Current issues and research avenues. Qualitative Market Research: *An International Journal*, 20(1), 68–89. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-12-2015-0091
- O'Dwyer, M., & Gilmore, A. (2019). Competitor orientation in successful SMEs: An exploration of the impact on innovation. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, *27*(1), 21–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254X.2017.1384040
- Okundaye, K., Fan, S. K., & Dwyer, R. J. (2019). Impact of information and communication technology in Nigerian small-to medium-sized enterprises. *Journal of Economics, Finance and Administrative Science, 24*(47), 29–46. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEFAS-08-2018-0086
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretation of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.

 International Journal of Education, 6(1), 183–246.

 https://doi.org/10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399

- Osakwe, C. N., Chovancova, M., & Ogbonna, B. U. (2016). Linking SMEs profitability to brand orientation and market-sensing capability: A service sector evidence. *Periodica Polytechnica: Social & Management Sciences*, *24*(1), 34–40. https://doi.org/10.3311/PPso.8069
- Owen, G. T. (2014). Qualitative methods in higher education policy analysis: Using interviews and document analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 19(26), 1–19.
- Pacho, T. O. (2015). Exploring participants' experiences using case study. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *5*(4), 44–53.
- Panagopoulos, N. G., Rapp, A., & Pimentel, M. A. (2019). Firm actions to develop an ambidextrous sales force. *Journal of Service Research*, *23*(1), 87–104. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094670519883348
- Pappu, R., & Quester, P. G. (2008). Does brand equity vary between department stores and clothing stores? Results of an empirical investigation. *Journal of Product and Brand management*, 17(7), 425–435. https://doi.org/10.1108/10610420810916335
- Paulus, T. M., Jackson, K., & Davidson, J. (2017). Digital tools for qualitative research:

 Disruptions and entanglements. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(10), 751–756.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1077800417731080
- Pavlov, P. M. (2017). Innovation strategies in the industrial enterprises of the Varna region. *Economic Archive / Narodnostopanski Arhiv, 4*, 42–55.
- Penrose, E. T. (1959). The theory of the growth of the firm. John Wiley.
- Pertusa-Ortega, E. M., Molina-Azorin, J. F., & Claver-Cortes, E. (2009). Competitive strategies and firm performance: A comparative analysis of pure, hybrid and

- "stuck-in-the-middle" strategies in Spanish firms. *British Journal of Management*, 20(4), 508–523. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8551.2008.00597.x.
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, 17(5), 378–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Phillipson, J., Tiwasing, P., Gorton, M., Maioli, S., Newbery, R., & Turner, R. (2019).

 Shining a spotlight on small rural businesses: How does their performance compare with urban? *Journal of Rural Studies*, *68*, 230–239.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.09.017
- Picken, J. C. (2017). From startup to scalable enterprise: Laying the foundation. *Business Horizons*, 60(5), 587–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017.05.002
- Piva, E., Rentochinni, F., & Rossi-Lamastra, C. (2012). Is open source software about innovation? Collaborations with the open source community and innovation performance of software entrepreneurial ventures. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *50*(2), 340–364.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-627X.2012.00356.x
- Porter, M. (1980). Industry structure and competitive strategy: Keys to profitability. *Financial Analysts Journal*, *36*(4), 30–41.
- Porter, M. E. (1979). How competitive forces shape strategy. *Harvard Business Review*, 57(2), 137–145.
- Porter, M. E. (1985). *Competitive advantage: Creating and sustaining superior*performance. The Free Press

- Porter, M. E. (1991). Towards a dynamic theory of strategy. *Strategic Management Journal*, 12(S2), 95–117. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250121008
- Porter, M. E. (2008). The five competitive forces that shape strategy. *Harvard Business Review, 1*(1), 27–41.
- Predic, B., & Stosic, D. (2014). Strategic analysis of competitive environment: The case of Philip Morris operation Ad Nis, Serbia. *Actual Problems in Economics*, *151*, 214–224.
- Rahayu, R., & Day, J. (2015). Determinant factors of e-commerce adoption by SMEs in developing country: Evidence from Indonesia. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, Vol. 195*, 142–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.423
- Rahimi, R., Rahmani, A., Pakpour, V., Moradi, N., Mohammadpoorasl, A., & Pashaie, Z. (2015). Nurses' opinion about euthanasia in east Azerbaijan Province, Iran.

 **Jentashapir Journal of Health Research, 6(4), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.17795/jjhr-22836
- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424
- Rashidirad, M., & Salimian, H. (2020). SMEs dynamic capabilities and value creation:

 The mediating role of competitive strategy. *European Business Review*, *32*(4),

 591–613. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-06-2019-0113
- Razali, R., Anwar, F., Abdul Rahman, M., & Ismail, F. F. (2016). Mixed methods research: Insights from requirement engineering. *Electronic Journal of Business*

- *Research Methods, 14*(2), 125–134.
- Reybold, L. E., Lammert, J. D., & Stribling, S. M. (2012). Participant selection as a conscious research method: Thinking forward and the deliberation of 'emergent' findings. *Qualitative Research*, *13*(6), 699–716.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112465634
- Rienda, L., Ruiz-Fernández, L., & Carey, L. (2020). Analyzing trademark and social media in the fashion industry: Tools that impact performance and internationalization for SMEs. *Journal of Fashion Marketing & Management*, (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1108/JFMM-03-2020-0035
- Rispal, M. H., & Servantie, V. (2017). Business models impacting social change in violent and poverty-stricken neighborhoods: A case study in Colombia. *International Small Business Journal*, *35*(4), 427–448. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242615622674
- Roberts, D. L., & Piller, F. T. (2016). Finding the right role for social media in innovation. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *57*(3), 41–47. https://hbsp.harvard.edu/tu/9729d74c
- Roberts, J. J. (2019, June 18). Facebook announces project Libra, its wildly ambitious plan to bring cryptocurrency to the masses.

 http://fortune.com/2019/06/18/facebook-project-libra-cryptocurrency-fb-coin/
- Roblek, V., Mesko, M., Dimovski, V., & Peterlin, J. (2019). Smart technologies as social innovation and complex social issues of the Z generation. *Kybernetes, 48*(1), 91–107. https://doi.org/10.1108/K-09-2017-0356

- Rooshenas, L., Paramasivan, S., Jepson, M., & Donovan, J. L. (2019). Intensive triangulation of qualitative research and quantitative data to improve recruitment to randomized trials: The quintet approach. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(5), 672–679. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732319828693
- Rose, J., Jones, M., & Furneaux, B. (2016). An integrated model of innovation drivers for smaller software firm. *Information and Management*, *53*(3), 307–323. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2015.10.005
- Rosenthal, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: Why, when, and how to conduct interviews and focus groups in pharmacy research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 8(4), 509–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2016.03.021
- Ruel, H., Rowlands, H., & Njoku, E. (2020). Digital business strategizing: the role of leadership and organizational learning. *Competitiveness Review*, (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1108/CR-11-2019-0109
- Runyan, R. C., & Covin, J. G. (2019). Small business orientation: A construct proposal. *Entrepreneurship: Theory & Practice, 43*, 529–552. https://doi.org/10.1177/1042258718807171
- Rus, D., van Knippenberg, D., & Wisse, B. (2012). Leader power and self-serving behavior: The moderating role of accountability. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 23(1), 13-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.11.002
- Saeed, S., Yousafzai, S., Paladino, A., & De Luca, L. M. (2015). Inside-out and outsidein orientations: A meta-analysis of orientation's effects on innovation and firm performance. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 47, 121–133.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.02.037

- Sahoo, M., & Dash, B. B. (2017). Leadership styles across organizational types: A comparative study in administrative and financial organizations. *International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 8(9), 75–82.
- Sakici, C., & Ayan, E. (2012). The steps of logo design at Kastamonu University, forestry faculty. *Procedia-Social and Behavioural Sciences*, *51*, 641–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.08.216
- Salavou, H. E. (2015). Competitive strategies and their shift to the future. *European Business Review*, 27(1), 80–99. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-04-2013-0073
- Sanchini, V., Reni, M., Calori, G., Riva, E., & Reichlin, M. (2014). Informed consent as an ethical requirement in clinical trials: An old, but still unresolved issue. An observational study to evaluate patient's informed consent comprehension.

 **Journal of Medical Ethics, 40, 269–275. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2012-101115
- Sarmah, B., Kamboj, S., & Kandampully, J. (2018). Social media and co-creative service innovation: an empirical study. *Online Information Review, 42*(7), 1146–1179. https://doi.org/10.1108/oir-03-2017-0079
- Saunders, M. N. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of Management*, 27(4), 836–852. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182
- Schriesheim, C. A., Hinkin, T. R., & Podsakoff, P. M. (1991). Can ipsative and singleitem measures produce erroneous results in field studies of French and Raven's

- (1959) five bases of power? An empirical investigation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 76(1), 106-114. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.76.1.106
- Scott, S. (2015). The moral economy of crowdfunding and the transformative capacity of fan-ancing. *New Media & Society*, *17*(2),167–182. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444814558908
- Shabbir, M. Q., & Gardezi, S. B. W. (2020). Application of big data analytics and organizational performance: the mediating role of knowledge management practices. *Journal of Big Data*, 7(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40537-020-00317-6
- Sheehan, N. T., & Foss, N. J. (2017). Using Porterian activity analysis to understand organizational capabilities. *Journal of General Management*, 42(3), 41–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306307017690518
- Shieh, M.-D., Nguyen, T.-H., & Yang, C.-H. (2016). Exploring brand development in Taiwanese SMEs: The case study of 1300 only porcelain. *International Journal of Business & Information*, 11(2), 147–174.
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *21*(5), 619–634. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Simpson, A., & Quigley, C. F. (2016). Member checking process with adolescent students: Not just reading a transcript. *The Qualitative Report*, 21(2), 376–392.
- Singh, K. (2016). A small study on impact of crime against women news stories on

- Indian urban women. *Imperial Journal of Interdisciplinary Research*, 2(3), 60–68.
- Slack, F., & Rowley, F. (2000). Observation: Perspectives on research methodologies for leisure managers. *Management Research News*, 23(12), 10 –16. https://doi.org/10.1108/01409170010781984
- Small and Medium Enterprises Development Agency of Nigeria (SMEDAN). (2015).

 SMEDAN and National bureau of statistics collaborative survey: Selected findings. https://smedan.gov.ng
- Soto-Acosta, P., Popa, S., & Martinez-Conesa, I. (2018). Information technology, knowledge management and environmental dynamism as drivers of innovation ambidexterity: A study in SMEs. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 22(4), 824–849. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-10-2017-0448
- Sousa-Zomer, T. T., Neely, A., & Martinez, V. (2020). Digital transforming capability and performance: a microfoundational perspective. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-06-2019-0444
- Srivastava, P., Iyer, K. N. S., & Rawwas, M. Y. A. (2017). Performance impact of supply chain partnership strategy-environment co-alignment. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, *37*(7), 927–949.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-09-2015-0586
- Strachan, H. (2019). Strategy in theory; Strategy in practice. *Journal of Strategic Studies*, 42(2), 171–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/01402390.2018.1559153
 Street, C. T., & Ward, K. W. (2012). Improving validity and reliability in longitudinal

- case study timelines. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 21(2), 160–175. https://doi.org/10.1057/ejis.2011.53
- Suryanto, A., & Nasution, F. Z. (2015). An analytical network process on financial access of the small and medium enterprise in sharia banking in Tasikmalaya city. *International Journal of Nusantara Islam, 3*(2), 19–26.

 https://doi.org/10.15575/ijni.v3i2.1381
- Swani, K., Milne, G. R., Brown, B. P., Assaf, A. G., & Donthu, N. (2017). What messages to post? Evaluating the popularity of social media communications in business versus consumer markets. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 62, 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.07.006
- Tabiu, A., Pangil, F., & Othman, S. Z. (2018). Does training, job autonomy and career planning predict employees' adaptive performance. *Global Business Review*, 21(3), 713–724. https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150918779159
- Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research. *System*, 75, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010
- Tan, P. S., Lee, S. S. G., & Goh, A. E. S. (2012). Multi-criteria decision techniques for context –aware B2B collaboration in supply chains. *Decision Support Systems*, 52(4), 779–789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2011.11.013
- Tarsakoo, P., & Charoensukmongkol, P. (2019). Dimensions of social media marketing capabilities and their contribution to business performance of firms in Thailand. *Journal of Asia Business Studies*, 14(4), 441–461. https://doi.org/10.1108/JABS-

07-2018-0204

- Tchuta, L., & Xie, F. (2007). Towards a Synergic Innovation Management Model: The interplay of market, technology, and management innovation. *International Journal of Business and Economic Development*. *5*(1) 60–70.
- Teecâu, A. S. (2018). Evaluation of an event to promote education and values of social inclusion in rural areas through the direct observation method. *Bulletin of the Transylvania University of Brasov. Series V: Economic Sciences, 11*(2), 35–40.
- Teece, D., & Pisano, G. (1994). The dynamic capabilities of firms: An introduction. *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 3(3), 537–

 556. https://doi.org/10.1093/icc/3.3.537-a
- Teece, D. J. (2009). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. Organizing for innovation and growth. Oxford University Press.
- Teixeira, T. S., & Brown, M. (2016). Airbnb, Etsy, Uber: Acquiring the first thousand customers. *Harvard Business Review Case* 516-094.
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, 16(2), 151–155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Thomas-Francois, K., Joppe, M., & von Massow, M. (2020). The impact of customer engagement and service leadership on the local food value chain of hotels.

 Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Insights, (Advance online publication). https://doi.org/10.1108/JHTI-03-2020-0031
- Tiwari, S. K., Sen, S., & Shaik, R. (2016). Internationalization: A study of small firms

- from emerging markets. *Journal of Developing Areas*, *50*, 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2016.0135
- Törmälä, M., & Saraniemi, S. (2018). The roles of business partners in corporate brand image co-creation. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 27(1), 29–40. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-01-2016-1089
- Tuinstra, T., Mekkes, J., & Koldijk, H. (2012). Experience of growth and continuity in SMEs: A study on the growth aspects of the tourism industry in the Netherlands. *Business & Law*, 7, 351–364. https://doi.org/10.5200/1822-9530.2012.22
- Tuomos, H. J., Vaajakallio, K., & Sproedt, H. (2016). Service design games as innovation tools, knowledge creators, and simulation/games. *Simulation and Gaming*, 47(5), 559–565. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046878116662953
- Turner, S., & Endres, A. (2017). Strategies for enhancing small-business owners' success rates. *International Journal of Applied Management & Technology*, *16(1)*, 34–49. https://doi.org/10.5590/ijamt.2017.16.1.03
- Uhlaner, L., Stel, A., Duplat, V., & Zhou, H. (2013). Disentangling the effects of organizational capabilities, innovation and firm size on SME sales growth. *Small Business Economics*, *41*, 581–607. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-012-9455-7
- Upreti, R., & Sharma, S. (2018). A study on social maturity of adolescents across their family type. *Indian Journal of Health & Wellbeing*, 9(3), 401–403.
- Urde, M., & Koch, C. (2014). Market and brand-oriented schools of positioning. *Journal of Product & Brand Management*, 23(7), 478–490. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPBM-

11-2013-0445

- Uyar, M. (2019). The management accounting and the business strategy development at SMEs. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, 17(1), 1–10 https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.17(1).2019.01
- Vaismoradi, M., Jones, J., Turunen, H., & Snelgrove, S. (2016). Theme development in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. *Journal of Nursing Education* and *Practice*, 6(5), 100–110. https://doi.org/10.5430/jnep.v6n5p100
- Van Alstyne, M. W., Parker, G. G., & Choudary, S. P. (2016). Pipelines, platforms, and the new rules of strategy: Scale now trumps differentiation. *Harvard Business Review*, *94*(4), 54–62.
- Van Manen, M. (2017). But is it phenomenology? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(6), 775–779. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317699570
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematizing thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, 51(1), 40–50.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13124
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *18*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Vătămănescu, E.-M., Cegarra-Navarro, J.-G., Andrei, A. G., Dincă, V.-M., & Alexandru, V.-A. (2020). SMEs strategic networks and innovative performance: A relational

- design and methodology for knowledge sharing. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 24(6). https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-01-2020-0010
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*(1), 21–54.
- Verbano, C., Crema, M., & Venturini, K. (2015). The identification and characterization of open innovation profiles in Italian small and medium-sized enterprises. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 53(4), 1052–1075.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12091
- Verdolini, E., Bak, C., Ruet, J., & Venkatachalam, A. (2018). Innovative greentechnology SMEs as an opportunity to promote financial de-risking. *Economics:*The Open-Access Open-Assessment E-Journal, 12(14), 1–12.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.5018/economics-ejournal.ja.2018-14
- Vojak, B., Price, R. L., & Griffin, A. (2012). Serial Innovators. *Research Technology Management*, 55(6) 42–48. https://doi.org/10.5437/08956308X5506899
- Von Hoffen, M., Hagge, M., Betzing, J. H., & Chasin, F. (2018). Leveraging social media to gain insights into service delivery: A study on Airbnb. *Information Systems & E-Business Management*, 16, 247–269.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10257-017-0358-7
- Vroom, V. H., & Jago, A. G. (2007). The role of the situation in leadership. *American Psychologist*, 62(1), 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.62.1.17
- Wahyono, W. (2018). Business model innovation: A review and research agenda.

- *Journal of Indian Business Research, 11*(4) 348-369. https://doi.org/10.1108/jibr-12-2017-0251
- Wamba, S. F., Akter, S., Edwards, A., Chopin, G., & Gnanzou, D. (2015). How 'big data' can make big impact: Findings from a systematic review and a longitudinal case study. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 165, 234–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.12.031
- Wang, C. X., & Benaroch, M. (2004). Supply chain coordination in buyer centric B2B electronic markets. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 92(2), 113–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2003.09.016
- Wang, S., & Wang, H. (2020). Big data for small and medium-sized enterprises (SME):

 A knowledge management model. Journal of Knowledge Management, 24(4),

 881–897. https://doi.org/10.1108/JKM-02-2020-0081
- Wang, Z. J., Kuang, Y., Tang, H. Y., Gao, C., Chen, A., & Chan, K. Q. (2018). Are decisions made by group representatives more risk averse? The effect of sense of responsibility. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 31(3), 311–323. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdm.2057
- Wasowska, A., Obloj, K., & Ciszewska-Mlinaric, M. (2018). When does formalization contribute to entrepreneurial orientation? The moderating role of industry life cycle. *Journal for East European Management Studies*, *23*, 377–403. https://doi.org/10.5771/0949-6181-2018-3-377
- Wertheim, S. (2019). How to know where critical data reside. CPA Journal, 89(7), 74.

- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45–55.
- Williamson, O. E. (1999). Strategy research: Governance and competence perspectives. *Strategic Management Journal*, 20, 1087–1108.
- Wilson, V. (2016). Research methods: Interviews. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, 11(1), 47–49. https://doi.org/10.18438/B8404H
- Withers, M. C., Ireland, R. D., Miller, D., Harrison, J. S., & Boss, D. S. (2018).
 Competitive landscape shifts: The influence of strategic entrepreneurship on shifts in market commonality. *Academy of Management Review*, 43(3), 349–370.
 https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2016.0157
- Wójcik, P. (2015). Exploring links between dynamic capabilities perspective and resource-based view: A literature overview. *International Journal of Management and Economics*, 45(1), 83–107. https://doi.org/10.1515/ijme-2015-0017
- Wright, P. M., McMahan, G. C., & McWilliams, A. (1994). Human resources and sustained competitive advantage: a resource-based perspective. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 5(2), 301–326.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585199400000020
- Xiang, D., & Worthington, A. (2015). Finance-seeking behaviour and outcomes for small- and medium-sized enterprises. *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, 11(4), 513–530. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMF-01-2013-0005
- Xiong, F., Nelson, J., & Bodie, K. (2018). The adoption of new technology by listed companies: The case of Twitter. *Technology Analysis & Strategic*

- Management, 30(7), 852–865. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2017.1385759
- Yasmin, M., Tatoglu, E., Kilic, H. S., Zaim, S., & Delen, D. (2020). Big data analytics capabilities and firm performance: An integrated MCDM approach. *Journal of Business Research*, 114, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.03.028
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

 Sage.
- Žaliūnienė, R., Aleksejūnienė, J., Bruienė, V., & Pečiulienė, V. (2015). Do hemophiliacs have a higher risk for dental caries that the general population? *Medicina*, 5 (1), 46–56. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.medici.2015.01.003
- Zolkiewski, J., Story, V., Burton, J., Chan, P., Gomes, A., Hunter-Jones, P., O'Malley,
 L., Peters, L. D., Raddats, C., & Robinson, W. (2017). Strategic B2B customer
 experience management: The importance of outcomes-based measures. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 31(2), 172–184. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSM-10-2016-0350

Appendix A: Observation Protocol

Participant Pseudonym:	Observer:
Date of Observation:	Time of Observation:
Observation Procedures:	
The observation will consist of the	researcher observing a performance review or
business strategy meeting between	the SME owner and members of the organization for a
period of 3 hours (1 hour for each of	observation). The researcher will only note the actions
of the participants that have signed	the informed consent form (the SME owner) will not
participate in the meeting, and will	try to be as unobtrusive as possible during the
meeting.	
Prior to any observation, each pote	ntial research participant will be presented with the
Consent Form. The researcher will	obtain signed copies from each participant.
After collecting the signed Consen	t Forms, a number will be assigned to each research
participant to safeguard the identity	of each participant.
The researcher will communicate v	with the participants regarding the scheduled date and
time for the management meeting t	hat will be observed.
The researcher will not participate	in the meeting and only act as a passive observer as
the researcher seeks to gain accurat	e information and obtain a full understanding of the
experiences of each participant.	
The participant has read this docur	nent and understands that the observation process that
will occur with the researcher as pa	rt of the study.

Script

Good day Mr/Mrs. XXX. Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to use your organization to conduct this aspect of the data collection exercise for my study. I am grateful also for the time you have allotted to participate in this activity. Today, my focus is to observe the interaction between you and your employees, the processes of your operations, and environment of your organization. The duration of this activity will be three hours, commencing from today and ending XXX. I will not use any recording device or camera during the process; however, I will be taking notes in a journal, of interpersonal relationships, processes, and the organizational environment. I reiterate that all data I obtain will be treated with the strictest level of confidentiality and will be stored in a place that is only accessible by me. You have the right, if you wish, to discontinue the activity at any time during the process without any form of penalty or bias. I am willing to address any concerns you may have about the process before I commence the observation.

With permission from the participant, I will begin the observation process, following the format outlined in Table A1.

Table A1: Observation Interview Process

Tentative Schedule	(i.e., M, W, F, 8:00am-9:00am) for 3 weeks
Date:	

(a) The Background:	
Physical setting (Describe in	
thick rich detail what it looks like, sounds like, and any	
other details. Record what	
you know about the participants and their roles, if	
known).	
Who is there?	
What are they doing?	
(b) The People:	
How do they interact?	
What are they wearing?	
What are they saying?	
What does their body	
language tell you?	
The Action:	
What happens?	
What is the sequence?	
Is there a cause and effect? If	
so, provide details.	

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Participant Pseudonym:	
Interview Date:	Total Time:

What to do

- 1. Welcome participant and introduce the interview session with greetings and introduce self.
- 2. Give participant a copy of the consent form to go over the contents and ask participant if there are questions and or concerns. If participant raises questions or questions, address them before proceeding.

- 3. Turn on the recorder
- 4. Introduce participant(s) with the coded identification and note date and time in the journal.
- 5. Begin interview with question #1 and follow through to the last question.
- 6. During interview, observe non-verbal cues and paraphrase as appropriate.
- 7. Follow up with additional questions probe questions for more depth
- 8. End interview. Discuss member checking with participant(s).
- 9. Thank the participant(s) for taking part in the interview. Give contact numbers to participants for follow up questions and concerns if need be.

What to say - Script

A. Good day Mr. / Mrs. xxxx, My name is Adeola Ogunyemi, a Doctoral Student in the Department of Management at Walden University, conducting a research on competitive strategies to improve small and medium enterprises sales'.

- B. Thank you for your time to honor the invitation to participate in this study. Before we proceed, here is the copy of your signed consent form for your record.
- C. I believe you have read and understood the contents of the agreement in the informed consent form. If you have questions or concerns, I will be glad to attend to them before the start of the interview.
- 1. What strategies did you implement to improve sales?
- 2. What strategies for improving sales worked best for you?
- 3. What did your top performing sales staff do differently from other staff?
- 4. How have you responded to opportunities in your market segment to improve sales?
- 5. What process did you employ to analyze opportunities to improve sales?
- 6. What were the challenges you faced when implementing your strategies to improve sales?
- 7. How did you measure improvement in sales?
- 8. What other strategies not covered by this interview have you deployed to improve sales?

Wrap up interview and thank the participant for sharing his experience and time.

Schedule follow-up member checking interview

Thank you for sparing time to share your experiences with me. I will transcribe the interview data and return to you within the next 2 days for a review of the process to ensure the correctness of the interview data.

I would appreciate we agree on a time to meet and review my interpretations of the interview for approximately 30 minutes or less.